1455 Market Stroet, 22nd Floor
San Franclsco, Calltamia 94103

415.522.4800 FAX 415.522.4820

A G EN DA ntobaleikiy wocskanon

Geary Bus Rapid Transit (BRT)
CITIZENS ADVISORY COMMITTEE (GCAC) — Meeting 33

Date: Wednesday, January 4, 2017; 6:00 p.m.
Location: SFCTA Offices, 1455 Market Street, 227d Floor

Members: Cyndi Bakir, Asher Butnik, Paul Chan, Joanna Fong, Peter Gallotta, Richard
Hashimoto, Benjamin Horne, Jolsna John, Angela Paige Miller, William Newsom,
Alexander Post, Kevin Stull

Page
6:00 1 Committee Meeting Call to Order
6:05 2 Adoption of Minutes of the November 17 Meeting — ACTION* 3
6:10 3. Updates and Announcements — INFORMATION
6:15 4 Adopt a Motion of Support to Certify the Final Environmental Impact Report

for the Geary Corridor Bus Rapid Transit Project; Adopt the CEQA Findings
including a Statement of Overriding Considerations; Adopt the Mitigation,
Monitoring, and Reporting Program; Approve the Hybrid Alternative as the
Geary Corridor Bus Rapid Transit Project; and Select the Hybrid Alternative as
the Locally Preferred Alternative — ACTION* 7

The purpose of the Geary Corridor Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) Project is to improve the speed,
reliability, and quality of public transportation service along the Geary corridor while also increasing
pedestrian safety, enhancing the streetscape, and maintaining multimodal circulation. In partnership
with the San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency, and as lead agency under the California
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), the Transportation Authority has prepared a Final Environmental
Impact Report (EIR) for the Geary Corridor BRT Project. The Geary Corridor BRT Draft
Environmental Impact Statement/Environmental Impact Report (EIS/EIR) published on October 2,
2015 evaluated four build alternatives encompassing side- and center- bus lane designs, and a no-build
alternative. The Draft EIS/EIR identified the Hybrid Alternative, which includes segments of side-
running and center-running dedicated bus lanes, as the Staff-Recommended Alternative. The Final EIR
includes tesponses to comments received duting the Draft EIS/EIR public comment petiod and
incorporates minor design modifications to the Hybrid Alternative in response to the comments
received. The Final EIR was published on December 9, 2016 via notifications in multiple formats and
languages including a radius mailing along the corridor. The Geary Corridor BRT Citizens Advisory
Committee has overseen the project from its inception and will meet on January 4, 2017 to consider a
recommendation regarding certification of the Geary Corridor BRT EIR, Project approval, and
selection of the Locally Preferred Alternative.

7:30 5. Next Steps and SFMTA CAC Formation - INFORMATION+

The Geary BRT project lead will transition from the Transportation Authority to SEMTA together with
completion of the environmental review phase. To facilitate ongoing and in-depth community input
through the design and construction phases, SEFMTA will form a new Citizens Advisory Committee
(CAC) and a separate Business Advisory Committee (BAC). The project team will provide an overview
of outreach to be conducted during future project phases, including the formation of the new CAC
and BAC. We are seeking comments and input from the Committee.

Page 1 of 2



GCAC Meeting Agenda — 01.04.2017
Page 2

7:45 7. Public Comment
8:00 8. Adjournment

* Materials attached.
+ Materials distributed at meeting

This meeting location is wheelchair accessible. In order to allow individuals with environmental illness or multiple-chemical

sensitivity to attend the meeting, individuals are requested to refrain from wearing perfume or other scented products. All
times shown are for information only. Items will be called at the discretion of the Moderator.

Page 2 of 2



1455 Market Stroet, 22nd floo
San Franclsco

Callfamia

Draft Minutes

Geary Bus Rapid Transit (BRT)
CITIZENS ADVISORY COMMITTEE (GCAC)
Meeting 32 - Thursday November 17, 2016

Present were the following members:

Asher Butnik, Joanna Fong, Peter Gallotta, Richard Hashimoto, Benjamin Horne, William Newsom,
Winston Parsons, Alexander Post, Kevin Stull

Transportation Authority staff: Colin Dentel-Post
SFMTA Staff: Wahid Amiri, Liz Brisson, Kate Elliott, Monica Munowitch

1. Committee Meeting Call to Order

The meeting was called to order by Meeting 32 moderator William Newsom at 6:07 PM.

2. Adoption of Minutes of the September 29 Meeting — ACTION

Joanna Fong moved to approve the September 29, 2016 minutes. Mr. Newsom seconded the motion.
The motion passed unanimously.

3. Updates and Announcements — INFORMATION

Colin Dentel-Post welcomed Liz Brisson to the project team in the role of SFMTA Phase I lead.
He announced that there would be a SPUR panel forum on November 22" and there was an open
spot for a GCAC member. Kevin Stull volunteered to join the panel.

Peter Gallotta asked how the previous week’s election results would impact federal funding for Geary
BRT. Mr. Dentel-Post indicated the project is planning for $100M in Small Starts funding from the
Federal Transit Administration, but it was too eatly to tell what the election’s implications would be.

4. Update on Stakeholder Outreach and Next Steps— INFORMATION

Liz Brisson gave an update on outreach since the last GCAC meeting, She explained the outreach
process leading up to the milestone of the Final Environmental Impact Report (EIR). Ms. Brisson
explained that Cathedral Hill stakeholders requested conversion of the Gough stop to a Rapid stop;
staff explained it is not a good candidate for a Rapid stop but that local service would get faster and
more reliable. Japantown requested to retain Laguna as a Rapid stop; staff recommends it be retained
as a local-only stop primarily to save time for more transit riders, bus it committed to including better
wayfinding, streetscaping, an education campaign (including ambassadors), and improved vehicle
branding (including sign heads, new bus flags).

Wahid Amiri gave an update on outreach with representatives of the Holy Virgin Cathedral, who had
three main concerns: parking, the center-to-side bus lane transition location, and the Collins stop.

Page 1 of 4



GCAC Meeting Minutes - 11.17.16
Page 2

There are a total of 20 parking spaces lost near the Cathedral, so staff evaluated alternatives like
shared parking or street reconfiguration. A potential design at 29" Avenue shows parking
reconfiguration could result in 19 new parking spaces. Mr. Amiri explained that the transition location
west of 25" Avenue is to avoid the busiest retail area but staff is committed to continuing review of
tradeoffs at other locations, including further outreach. The Collins local stop is proposed for
removal, but the project team understands that seniors use it frequently and is committed to re-
evaluating the proposal. Mr. Amiri explained that upcoming milestones were the publication of the
Final Environmental Document and Board approvals.

Richard Hashimoto raised concerns about converting the Laguna stop to a local-only stop, noting
that people currently use the Rapid service and are concerned about wait times for local buses, but
also noted the communications strategies staff has proposed could help with some concerns. Ms.
Brisson said she was committed to further discussions with the community.

William Newsom asked how reversible a decision on the stop would be, like making it local-only and
later converting it back to Rapid. Ms. Brisson indicated that staff had done technical studies to
develop their recommendation but the Transportation Authority and SEFMTA Boards would need to
give final approval. Kate Elliot indicated that the stop changes would happen first, followed but the
expensive construction to build bus bulbs later in the process. Mr. Dentel-Post added that the
environmental document analyzed alternatives and that Board approval represents overall project
approval; additional outreach will occur to inform design details in the next phase.

Benjamin Horne asked about possible streetscape design refinements in Japantown. Ms. Brisson
indicated staff would meet with community members to discuss the improvements they desire.

Peter Gallota asked what the travel time difference would be if the Laguna were Rapid. Ms. Brisson
said the analysis found that about 5-8% of the project’s travel time benefit for through riders would
be lost.

Winston Parsons asked about the stop removal at Collins. Mr. Amiri indicated that the team was still
evaluating options, but if the analysis found that that keeping the stop would not affect the
environmental analysis then the design could be changed to keep the stop as-is.

Joanna Fong asked why the stop elimination was proposed in the first place. Mr. Dentel-Post said it
was part of the consolidated service design and that the project team had met with area stakeholders
previously and the issue had not come up.

Kevin Stull asked if the idea was to have these issues resolved by a Board hearing in December. Mr.
Amiri stated that these analyses were on a parallel track and the team did not want to hold up the
environmental analysis.

Joanna Fong stated that this approval of conceptis at a high level and the process would then forward
to the next phase of work and refinement, and that this is typical.

During public comment, Maureen Duffey said she lived at the corner of Laguna and Geary and
petitioned for a Limited bus stop many years ago. She noted that there are hills on either side of
Laguna so it would be difficult for seniors to go to Fillmore or Van Ness.

David Hyry said that Laguna has the highest density of senior housing and is an economic and tourist
center. He asked if the California Pacific Medical Center (CPMC) expansion was accounted for in
the project analysis, and said how this would affect travel time at Laguna was unknown. He questioned
whether the Board of Supervisors would approve the plan and said a lot remained unaddressed.

Suzanne Smith said she was the president of Residents Association at the Sequoias, and that it was

Page 2 of 4



GCAC Meeting Minutes - 11.17.16
Page 3

important talk in terms of the environment people live in, specifically that the Laguna stop is on a
hill and many seniors live there.

Lois Scott said she lived at the intersection of Laguna and Geary in a cooperative, and wished that
the project team had done more outreach to the disabled community since it looked like there would
be unanticipated consequences. She said that many people need to use walkers if they go very far,
but can walk to destinations close by, and if the stop change resulted in more people using walkers it
could slow down bus loading times. She said she was glad the team was working to better identify
Rapid and Local buses.

Bob Starzel said he was disappointed that a request to move the CAC meeting to the Richmond was
turned down, and thought the CAC should get out to see things their way from Masonic west and
the fragile businesses there. He said he was concerned about changes to the Boulevard. He asked if
copies of the EIR had been made available, and also whether the California Traffic Control Devices
Committee had anything to do with the Federal Transit Administration delay.

Euliky Sisca said she lived near Laguna and did not care if it was a Local or Rapid stop but she could
not fit on a bus in the morning because it so busy. She expressed concern that if the Rapid stop were
eliminated and there were fewer buses stopping at Laguna it would be even harder for commuters to
get on a bus.

Cindy Jo said she was at the meeting to oppose elimination of the Laguna stop, and she is also part
of Chinatown groups, which have many members who use the Laguna stop.

In response to public comments, Mr. Dentel-Post explained that the Laguna stop is a challenging
trade-off and explained the technical analysis of travel time and ridership, which found that many
more riders would benefit from a Local-only stop at Laguna, and also noted that the project would
include more service overall on the corridor to address crowding and bus bunching. He also clarified
that both the Local and Rapid are getting the new low-floor buses, and said the CPMC project was
included in the project analysis assumptions.

Peter Gallotta asked what the ratio of local to rapid service would be. Ms. Brisson responded that
SFMTA consistently monitors ridership on both and it is challenging for the agency to balance service
to minimize crowding. She noted that the service plan assumptions for the project include 6-minute
headways for the Local and 2-3 minute headways for the Rapid at peak times.

5. Update on Final Environmental Document and Preview of Notifications and Outreach —
INFORMATION

Colin Dentel-Post gave a presentation and update on the environmental process, next steps on
approvals, and upcoming notification activities.

Kate Elliot talk about the SPUR panel on November 22™ at 12:30pm, which was featured in the
SFGate blog and an article. She said a mailer is planned to be published after Thanksgiving, that
flyers/postcards would be passed out at bus stops to announce when the environmental document
is released, that web updates and new content would be added, and social media notifications were
planned.

Richard Hashimoto asked if there would be opportunity for public comment at the TA Board. Mr.
Dentel-Post said yes, there would be.

Kevin Stull asked how Scott Weiner’s election to the State Senate would affect the TA Board. Mr.
Dentel-Post mentioned that the Mayor would assign a person to the seat, but the timing was
unknown.

Page 3 of 4



GCAC Meeting Minutes - 11.17.16
Page 4

Joanna Fong thanked Kate for her presentation and said the transparency is good. She said it was a
good idea to emphasise that the environmental document was not the end of the public process.

Alexander Post asked if the GCAC could learn about outreach efforts ahead of time so they could
get involved. Ms. Elliot said yes.

Richard Hashimoto asked about letters submitted from the public and whether the GCAC could see
them. Mr. Dentel-Post said he would share them with the GCAC.

Winston Parsons said he wanted to share thoughts about the Laguna stop since it’s a hard thing to
balance. He noted that people in the outer Richmond buy cars or move because the bus is slow. He
said he was hopeful there was a way to make it work so it is not detrimental to seniors and can benefit
the project. He said his inclination is to keep the stop at Laguna local.

Kevin Stull asked if the team could send links to articles and the blog. Mr. Dentel-Post said he would
send them again.

Peter Gallotta asked if the GCAC would receive the final environmental document and wanted to
know the timeline of who decides first. He said he hope that the approvals would be in January due
to the December holidays. Mr. Dentel-Post said the project team would let the GCAC know when
the document is available and that the GCAC recommendation would be first, followed by the TA
Board, then the SEFMTA Board.

During public comment, Bob Starzel asked if it takes 10 days after the FT'A publishes the notice in
the Federal Register before the TA Board could act. Mr. Dentel Post said the ten-day requirement is
for CEQA purposes so it would be ten days from release of the document. Mr. Starzel also asked if
the final document would include a more precise categorization of Phase I and Phase II and the
Federal funding amount. Mr. Dentel Post clarified that the final document is mostly responses to
comments, including changes in response to feedback, but there would be no changes to the assumed
Federal funding amount.

6. Public Comment

Nick Carnero said he lived in the Richmond and that people really want the project, and it should be
built now.

7. Adjournment

Winston Parsons moved to adjourn the meeting. Kevin Stull seconded the motion. The motion was
approved unanimously and the meeting adjourned at 7:48 p.m.

Page 4 of 4



WACISCo
L o
1455 Market Stroet, 22nd Floor
San Francisco, Calltamia 94103 - -
415.522.4800 FAX 415.522.4820 % fy
info@sfeta.org  wwesfcla.org 0,
Ation *©

Memorandum

Date: 12.22.16 RE: Geary BRT CAC
January 4, 2017

To: Geary Bus Rapid Transit Citizens Advisory Committee

il

From: Eric Cordoba — Deputy Director for Capital Projects e

Subject: ACTION — Adopt a Motion of Suppott to Certify the Final Environmental Impact Report for
the Geary Corridor Bus Rapid Transit Project; Adopt the CEQA Findings including a
Statement of Overriding Considerations; Adopt the Mitigation, Monitoring, and Reporting
Program; Approve the Hybrid Alternative as the Geary Corridor Bus Rapid Transit Project;
and Select the Hybrid Alternative as the Locally Preferred Alternative

Summary

The purpose of the Geary Corridor Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) Project is to improve the speed,
reliability, and quality of public transportation service along the Geary corridor while also increasing
pedestrian safety, enhancing the streetscape, and maintaining multimodal circulation. In partnership
with the San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency, and as lead agency under the California
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), the Transportation Authority has prepared a Final
Environmental Impact Report (EIR) for the Geary Corridor BRT Project. The Geary Corridor BRT
Draft Environmental Impact Statement/Environmental Impact Report (EIS/EIR) published on
October 2, 2015 evaluated four build alternatives encompassing side- and center- bus lane designs, and
a no-build alternative. The Draft EIS/EIR identified the Hybrid Alternative, which includes segments
of side-running and center-running dedicated bus lanes, as the Staff-Recommended Alternative. The
Final EIR includes responses to comments received during the Draft EIS/EIR public comment
period and incorporates minor design modifications to the Hybrid Alternative in response to the
comments received. The Final EIR was published on December 9, 2016 via notifications in multiple
formats and languages including a radius mailing along the corridor. The Geary Corridor BRT
Citizens Advisory Committee has overseen the project from its inception and will meet on January 4,
2017 to consider a recommendation regarding certification of the Geary Corridor BRT EIR, Project
approval, and selection of the Locally Preferred Alternative.

BACKGROUND

The purpose of the Geary Corridor Bus Rapid Transit Project (Geary BRT or Project) is to improve
the speed, reliability, and quality of public transportation service along the Geary corridor while also
increasing pedestrian safety, enhancing the streetscape, and maintaining multimodal circulation. It is a
signature project in the voter-approved Prop K Expenditure Plan.

The 6.5-mile Geary corridor is served by the Muni 38 Geary Local, Rapid, and Express bus routes and
includes Geary Boulevard, Geary Street, O’Farrell Street as well as portions of other streets the routes
traverse. Physical improvements are proposed along the corridor generally between Market Street and
34™ Avenue.

0:\Active Studies\GearyBRT Environmental\CAC\Meetings\Meeting 33\GearyBRT Approval Memo.docx Pa ge 10f10



The corridor is an exceptionally busy transit link; each day it sees more than 52,000 boardings via public
transit and serves automobile volumes that vary between 12,000 in the outlying neighborhoods west of
Park Presidio to 45,000 at the highest-demand locations. In addition, the corridor hosts tens of
thousands people walking daily.

The BRT Project would include:

e Dedicated bus lanes separated from regular (mixed-flow) traffic to reduce delays and improve
reliability.
e Stop spacing adjustments to improve efficiency, including relocating and removing bus stops.

e High-quality stations, with more room for passengers to wait, canopies for weather protection,
seating, vehicle arrival time information, pedestrian-scale lighting, landscaping, and Americans
with Disabilities Act (ADA) accessibility.

e Traffic signal optimization to improve traffic flow.

e Improved Transit Signal Priority to provide additional green light time for buses approaching
intersections.

e DPedestrian safety enhancements to reduce crossing distances at intersections, increase the
visibility of people walking, calm traffic, and improve crossing signals.

In 2007, the Transportation Authority Board adopted the Geary Corridor BRT Feasibility Study, which
evaluated the feasibility of five conceptual design alternatives for the Geary corridor. BRT was identified
as an efficient and cost-effective way to deliver high-quality transit service to the Geary corridor. The
Feasibility Study found that BRT would be feasible in the Geary corridor and recommended
environmental review and further design work to identify a preferred alternative.

DISCUSSION

The Transportation Authority has prepared a Final Environmental Impact Report (EIR) for the Geary
Corridor Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) Project. The Transportation Authority is the lead agency under the
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). The San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency
(SEMTA) will design, implement, and operate the Project. The Federal Transit Administration (FTA) is
the lead agency under the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) and is expected to separately
publish a Final Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) and Record of Decision (ROD).

In November 2008, the Transportation Authority, in cooperation with FTA, issued a federal Notice of
Intent (NOI) to prepare an EIS and a state Notice of Preparation (NOP) to prepare an EIR. The
Project team undertook a comprehensive outreach effort to inform the environmental scope and
alternatives development for the Project, including three public scoping meetings and meetings with the
Geary BRT’ Citizens Advisory Committee (GCAC), Technical Advisory Committee (TAC), and
numerous stakeholder groups. This analysis and outreach is documented in the 2009 Geary Alternatives
Screening Report and the 2014 Geary Bus Rapid Transit Design Options Screening Report.

The Geaty Corridor BRT Draft Environmental Impact Statement/Environmental Impact Report
(EIS/EIR) was completed, published in the Federal Register, and circulated for public comment from
October 2, 2015 to November 30, 2015. The Draft EIS/EIR evaluated five project alternatives as
described below.

Alternative 1, No-Build: Under the No Build Alternative, physical infrastructure and transit service in the
Geary corridor would remain unaltered except for changes associated with other City projects that are
cither planned or programmed to be implemented in the Geary corridor by the year 2020. These
changes, many of which have recently been implemented or are currently underway, include planned

0:\Active Studies\GearyBRT Environmental\CAC\Meetings\Meeting 33\GearyBRT Approval Memo.docx Pa ge 20f10



service increases, wireless Transit Signal Priority (TSP) at signalized intersections, new or replaced traffic
signals at several locations, 14 new pedestrian crossing bulbs and curb ramps at various locations,
pedestrian countdown signals at signalized intersections where they do not already exist, and
replacement of all corridor rolling stock with new low-floor buses.

Build Alternatives: Each of the four build alternatives would implement BRT along the Geary corridor,
including dedicated bus-only lanes from Market Street to 34™ Avenue. West of 34™ Avenue and from
Market Street to the Transbay Terminal, the Project would not include new bus-only lanes and buses
would continue to operate using existing infrastructure. In addition, each build alternatives would
include upgraded fiber-based TSP at most signalized intersections; high-amenity stations at BRT stops;
two mixed-flow traffic lanes in each direction between Gough Street and 34" Avenue; pedestrian
improvements, including pedestrian crossing bulbs, high-visibility crosswalk striping, new surface
crosswalks at several locations; and construction of a new bicycle lane on Geary in the block between
Masonic Avenue and Presidio Avenue to close an existing gap in the City’s bicycle network.

Alternative 2, Side-Lane BRT: Alternative 2 would implement BRT service to replace the existing 38R service
while retaining Local and Express service in the corridor. From Market Street to 34th Avenue, buses
would operate in dedicated side-running bus-only lanes, replacing the existing outside travel lanes of the
Geary corridor, next to the existing curbside parking lane that would remain at most locations. Existing
38 Local service would also operate in the dedicated bus lanes but would pull out of the lanes to service
curbside local bus stops, enabling BRT buses to pass.

Alternative 3, Center-Lane BRT with Dual Medians and Passing Lanes: Alternative 3 would also include operation of
BRT, local, and express buses. This alternative would be different from Alternative 2 from Gough Street
to 27th Avenue. There, BRT and local service would operate in dedicated bus-only lanes in the center of
the Geary corridor. BRT stations and local bus stops would be provided at center boarding islands. A
bus passing lane at local bus stops would enable BRT buses to pass local buses stopped to load and
unload passengers. In all other locations, this alternative would be similar to Alternative 2.

Alternative 3-Consolidated, Center-Lane BRT with Consolidated Bus Stops, Dual Medians, and No Passing Lanes: The
configuration of Alternative 3-Consolidated would be similar to Alternative 3, with center bus-only
lanes from Gough Street to 27" Avenue. However, BRT service would replace both 38R and 38 Local
service as a new consolidated service, eliminating the need for bus passing lanes. BRT stations would be
closer together than existing Rapid stops, but farther apart than existing local stops.

Hybrid Altemative: The Hybrid Alternative incorporates various physical features of Alternatives 2 and 3-
Consolidated in different segments, combined to provide a mix that intends to maximize benefits and
minimize impacts. BRT, local, and express buses would operate in the corridor. From Market Street to
Palm Avenue, local and BRT buses would operate in side-running bus-only lanes. Between Palm Avenue
and 27th Avenue, local and BRT buses would operate in dedicated bus-only lanes in the center of the
Geary corridor, with no bus passing lanes. Every stop would serve both local and BRT buses; these
stops would be closer together than existing Rapid stops, but farther apart than existing local stops.
Between 27th Avenue and 34th Avenue, all buses would operate in new side-running bus-only lanes.
Between 34th Avenue and 48th Avenue, no bus-only lanes would be constructed; all buses would
operate in mixed-flow lanes. In side-running portions of the corridor, BRT buses would be able to pass
local buses at local stops.

|dentification of the Staff-Recommended Alternative: Project staff from both the Transportation Authority and
SFMTA identified the Hybrid Alternative as the Staff-Recommended Alternative (SRA), as reflected in
the Draft EIS/EIR. Chapter 10 of the Draft EIS/EIR presents a full analysis of the relative benefits
and impacts of the Geary Corridor BRT alternatives. The BRT alternatives are evaluated based on their
performance in meeting the Project purpose and need, as well as based on considerations of

0:\Active Studies\GearyBRT Environmental\CAC\Meetings\Meeting 33\GearyBRT Approval Memo.docx Pa ge 3 0f10



10

importance to multiple agencies and numerous community stakeholder groups, including the GCAC.
This process included an extensive public outreach process to collect input on the alternatives, with
three public open houses in 2013 and 2014 and meetings with more than 25 community stakeholder
groups.

Transportation Authority and SFMTA staffs recommend approval of the Hybrid Alternative and
selection of the Hybrid Alternative as the Locally Preferred Alternative (LPA). Selection of an LPA is
required under NEPA. Both Alternative 3 and Alternative 3-Consolidated have significant and costly
constraints due to the existing underpasses of Geary Boulevard at Fillmore Street and Masonic Avenue.
The No Build Alternative would not meet the Project purpose and need, because it would include
relatively minimal improvements to transit performance and pedestrian safety. Of the remaining
alternatives, the analysis found that the Hybrid Alternative would outperform Alternative 2 in terms of
transit performance and pedestrian safety. The Hybrid Alternative would also preserve most curbside
parking between Arguello Boulevard and 25th Avenue, addressing a key concern of stakeholders in the
Richmond District, while Alternative 2 would result in more parking loss in this area. Based on its
superior performance in meeting the need and purpose of the Project by improving transportation
conditions in the corridor and its similar or reduced impacts in key areas of community concern
compared to other alternatives, Transportation Authority and SEMTA staffs recommend approval of
the Hybrid Alternative and selection of the Hybrid Alternative as the Project LPA.

Draft EIS/EIR Publication and Notification: The Transportation Authority published a Notice of
Availability/Notice of Completion NOA/NOC) and disttibuted copies of the Draft EIS/EIR to the
State Clearinghouse on October 2, 2015. An NOA also appeared in the Federal Register concurrently.
The public comment period was initially scheduled to last 45 days from the release date, but was
subsequently extended from October 2, 2015 through November 30, 2015. The Transportation
Authotity made the Draft EIS/EIR document available for public teview and comment by placing
electronic copies on the Transportation Authority website, and by making hard copies available at
SFMTA, Planning Department, four branches of the San Francisco Public Library located near the
corridot, and Transportation Authority offices. Additionally, CDs were available upon request, and hard
copies available for purchase from the Transportation Authority. Comments from the public could be
sent by mail or email throughout the circulation period, and verbal or written comments could be
submitted at the public comment meeting. Access to the technical reports and supporting documents
were made available upon request.

The Transportation Authority noticed the availability of the Draft EIS/EIR for public review and
comment, the date and time of the public comment meeting on the Draft EIS/EIR, and the dates of
the comment period through a variety of communications channels. Multilingual communications
included Spanish, Chinese, and Filipino, and in some cases also Russian, Japanese, Vietnamese, and
Korean. A multilingual mailer was sent to over 20,000 residential and commercial addresses along the
Geary corridor. The project team also provided announcements via a multilingual project website; a
multilingual email to over 1,000 recipients; multilingual ads posted in bus shelters and buses along the
corridor; newspaper ads in the San Francisco Examiner, Richmond Review, The New Fillmore, Western
Edition, Central City Extra, Kstati, and Nichi Bei Weekly; Facebook ads; Facebook and Twitter posts; and a
press release.

Public Comment Meeting on the Draft EIS/EIR: As patt of the public review process for the Draft EIS/EIR, the
Transportation Authority hosted a noticed public comment meeting on November 5, 2015 at St. Mary’s
Cathedral. The meeting was designed to share project information, discuss the Project with staff, and
submit public comments in writing on comment cards or orally via court reporters. Approximately 160
people attended the meeting.

0:\Active Studies\GearyBRT Environmental\CAC\Meetings\Meeting 33\GearyBRT Approval Memo.docx Pa ge 4 0f 10



Public and Agency Comments: During and immediately after the formal comment period on the Draft
EIS/EIR, the Transportation Authority received a total of 299 comment communications (e.g. letters,
emails, oral comment transcripts). These included 6 communications from agencies, 13 communications
from organizations, and 280 separate communications from 244 individuals. All comments received
during the public comment period, as well as those received before December 10, 2015, are included in
Appendix B of the Final EIR along with written responses to each of the comments.

The most commonly received comments included the following topic areas:
e Pedestrian safety and access, including retention of the Webster Street pedestrian bridge
e Type and range of alternatives
e Traffic/auto travel on Geary and diversion to surrounding roadways
e Local business impacts (including construction-period effects, parking, and access)
e Parking and loading supply
e Project cost
e Tree removal/replanting
e Stop locations/removal
e Nature of outreach conducted and length of public comment period
e Bicycle safety/access

The other common comment areas were the Project’s overall merits and preferences for a LPA. About
50 commenters indicated opposition to the Project, while more than 90 commenters stated support for
one or more of the build alternatives or the Project in general. Of the approximately 50 commenters
who expressed a preference between the alternatives studied, nearly half supported Alternative 3 or
Alternative 3C, the fully center-running alternatives, and about a third preferred Alternative 2, the fully
side-running alternative. Smaller numbers of commenters indicated support for the Hybrid Alternative
or only a portion of a build alternative.

Additional Comments and Outreach: Throughout the environmental phase of the Project, the project team has
conducted significant outreach, meeting more than 60 times with more than 30 stakeholder groups to
incorporate feedback. Some of these meetings have been conducted in languages other than English.
The team has also attended neighborhood events such as farmer’s markets, Sunday Streets, and the
Richmond Community Health Fair to provide information to the public about the Project. A survey of
corridor merchants and a survey of business customers in the Richmond provided additional input that
informed the Project design. Virtual reality kiosks, known as OWLs, were installed at two corridor
intersections (at Webster Street and 17" Avenue) from October 2015 through December 2015 to
provide passers-by with visualizations of the BRT Project and collect responses to several survey
questions. Finally, the GCAC convened regularly to provide ongoing input on the environmental analysis
and community engagement.

Since the close of the public comment period of the Draft EIS/EIR on November 30, 2015, the
project team has continued to receive public input. Individual comments received after December 10,
2015 are not included in the Final EIR but are included as an Enclosure. The Transportation Authority
has reviewed the comments received after the close of the public comment period on the Draft
EIS/EIR. Key issues raised in these comments, as well as during community engagement that occurred
after the close of the comment period, include:

e Richmond stakeholder concerns: project benefits and impacts

e Red transit-only lanes

0:\Active Studies\GearyBRT Environmental\CAC\Meetings\Meeting 33\GearyBRT Approval Memo.docx Pa ge 50f10

11



12

e Laguna Street bus stop

e Webster and Steiner Street Pedestrian Overcrossings

e Spruce Street bus stop

e Holy Virgin Cathedral concerns: parking and bus lane transition

e Project alternatives: preference for rail, other BRT alternatives, or No Project Alternative
e Collins Street bus stop

e TFinal EIR approval schedule

Comments on several of these topics are similar to comments previously received on the Draft
EIS/EIR and responded to in the Final EIR, which included several project changes in response to the
input received. In addition, most of these topics are discussed in the Final EIR Chapter 5: Public
Participation. Comments regarding two of these topics were received recently and not addressed in the
Final EIR:

e Collins Street bus stop: The SRA includes removal of the local bus stop at Collins Street.
However, representatives of Russian-American Community Services (RACS), located on Collins
Street at Anza Street, raised concerns about seniors who rely on RACS services and use the stop
at Collins Street. The project team continues to meet with RACS representatives and is working
to resolve this issue.

e Final EIR approval schedule: After the Transportation Authority published the Final EIR on
December 9, 2016 and distributed notifications of the Board certification hearing scheduled on
January 5, 2017, several requests were received to delay the Board hearing to provide additional
time for review of the Final EIR. However, the 27 days between publication of the Final EIR
(including the Response to Comments) and the Board certification hearing significantly exceeds
CEQA requirements and provides sufficient time for review. The project team has conducted
extensive outreach throughout the environmental phase of the project to address issues raised
by community stakeholders.

None of the communications received after the close of the comment period contain new information
revealing new or more severe significant environmental impacts that would result from the Project,
identify feasible Project alternatives or mitigation measures substantially different from those identified
in the Draft EIS/EIR, or point to substantial flaws in the Draft EIS/EIR.

Final EIR Publication and Notification: On December 9, 2016 the Transportation Authority published the Final
EIR. The Final EIR includes all comments received during the Draft EIS/EIR comment petiod and
responses to those comments. The Final EIR was posted on the Transportation Authority’s website and
also made available for public review at the Transportation Authority office, SEMTA’s office, the
Planning Department’s Planning Information Counter, and at four branches of the San Francisco
Library near the corridor. Electronic or paper copies of the Final EIR were sent to all parties that
commented on the Draft EIS/EIR and provided either a physical mailing address or an email address.

Concurrent with publication of the Final EIR on December 9, 2016, an NOC was published in the
State Clearinghouse and the NOA was posted on the Transportation Authority’s website announcing
the document’s availability and the upcoming Transportation Authority Board approval hearing on
January 5, 2017. Notice included an email to the project email list with over 900 addresses and a
multilingual mailer sent to over 37,500 commercial and residential addresses near the corridor. In
addition, the Transportation Authority provided notice of the Final EIR release and approval hearing
via a press release; newspaper ads; posts on Facebook, Twitter, and Nextdoor; over 280 multilingual

0:\Active Studies\GearyBRT Environmental\CAC\Meetings\Meeting 33\GearyBRT Approval Memo.docx Pa ge 60f10



posters at bus stops and on utility poles along the corridor; and project representatives distributing
approximately 10,000 handouts at bus stops.

The Draft EIS/EIR was prepared as a joint document to meet all pertinent requirements of both
NEPA and CEQA. However, following publication of the Draft EIS/EIR, the federal and local
agencies agreed to prepare the Final EIR separate from a Final EIS in order to provide for local
approvals that were ready to proceed, while allowing staff to respond to Federal direction on EIS
administrative comments. Following approval of the EIR, the Transportation Authority and SFMTA
will collaborate with FTA in the subsequent preparation of a Final EIS and ROD for the Project in
compliance with NEPA. The Final EIS and ROD are expected to be published in early 2017.

Modifications to the Staff-Recommended Alternative in the Final EIR: In response to public comments on the Draft
EIS/EIR, the project team made minor changes to the Hybrid Alternative/SRA in the Final EIR. These
modifications address key local concerns within the context of the established need and purpose for the
Project and, as documented in the Final EIR, do not worsen or introduce any new environmental
impacts.

e Retention of Local and Express bus stops at Spruce/Cook (No new BRT stops): In
response to merchant concerns about the loss of parking and loading spaces, the Hybrid
Alternative/SRA no longer adds a BRT stop to the Spruce-Cook block of Geary Boulevard. The
existing eastbound and westbound bus stops on this block would remain and serve Local buses
only rather than Local and Rapid buses under the existing service plan. This change would retain
parking and loading on this block while eliminating the corridot’s lowest-ridership Rapid stop.

e Retention of the Webster Street pedestrian bridge: The existing pedestrian bridge at Webster
Street would remain standing and open for use, in response to many comments from Japantown
and Western Addition stakeholders asking that it remain. In addition, the Hybrid
Alternative/SRA would add two new, ADA-compliant pedestrian surface crossings on either
side of the Webster Street intersection with multiple median refuges and other safety features.

e Additional pedestrian crossing improvements at various intersections within the Geary
corridor: The No Project Alternative assumes construction of 14 pedestrian crossing bulbs at
various locations along the Geary corridor. The Hybrid Alternative had proposed to construct
an additional 51 pedestrian crossing bulbs at high-priority locations, for a total of 65. In
response to many comments citing the importance of pedestrian safety, the project team
modified the Hybrid Alternative to add an additional 26 pedestrian bulbs (for a grand total of
91) and several additional pedestrian safety features at strategic locations.

FUNDING PLAN

The cost estimate for the Hybrid Alternative/SRA is $300 million. The funding plan (shown in
Attachment 1) reflects the $300 million funding needed for the Project. It includes $50.7 million in Prop
K funds, of which $17.1 million has been allocated to date for planning and preliminary design
engineering and $33.6 million is programmed for engineering design and construction.

While the Draft EIS/EIR did not contemplate any specific construction scenario, due to uncertainty as
to which alternative might ultimately be selected, the Draft EIS/EIR acknowledged that any of the build
alternatives would comprise a large-scale project that would likely be constructed in phases over time.

Following publication of the Draft EIS/EIR, the Transportation Authority and SFMTA identified a
potential set of near-term improvements that would allow more rapid implementation of an initial set of
project elements for which funding is readily available. At the same time, the agencies are seeking to
secure funding for the remainder of the Project.

0:\Active Studies\GearyBRT Environmental\CAC\Meetings\Meeting 33\GearyBRT Approval Memo.docx Pa ge 7 of 10

13



14

The cost of the near-term BRT improvements and concurrent paving and utility improvements is
estimated at $65 million. This cost includes some elements that would be funded by other agencies,
including San Francisco Public Works (SFPW), which anticipates contributing Highway User Tax
Account funds to fund the paving, and the San Francisco Public Utilities Commission, which would
fund the work to be done on its utilities systems. Funding for near term improvements includes Prop K,
Prop A (the City’s General Obligation Bond), Prop AA Vehicle Registration Fees, SFMTA’s Revenue
Bond, and SFPW’s Follow the Paving funds, as well as Metropolitan Transportation Commission
(MTC) Transit Performance Initiative (federal funds).

SFMTA plans to continue refining the cost estimate and funding plan for the remainder of the Project
as it proceeds with planning and conceptual engineering work.

The funding plan for the remainder of the Project includes $100 million in potential FT'A Small Starts
funds, which are disbursed on a competitive basis. Given the corridor’s high existing ridership, Geary
BRT is expected to be very competitive for the Small Starts funding. The SFMTA has indicated that it
would apply for entry into the Small Starts program in 2017.

The remainder of the costs could be filled with other local, regional, state, and federal sources expected
to be available in the next few years, with the most promising described in Attachment 1. MTC recently
evaluated Geary BRT for the underway Plan Bay Area 2040 update and determined it to be a ‘high
performing’ project. This ranking positions the Project well to receive regional, state, and federal
discretionary funds.

PROPOSED ACTIONS AND NEXT STEPS

The actions before the GCAC are to adopt a motion of support for: certification of the Final EIR;
adoption of findings required by CEQA, including a Statement of Overriding Considerations; adoption
of the Mitigation Monitoring, and Reporting Program (MMRP); approval of the Hybrid Alternative as
the Geary BRT Project; and selection of the Hybrid Alternative as the LPA. The Transportation
Authority Board will take action on the aforementioned at its special meeting on January 5, 2017.

CEQA Certification: Before approving a proposed preferred alternative for the Geary Corridor BRT Project,
the Transportation Authority must certify that (1) the Final EIR has been prepared in compliance with
CEQA; (2) the Final EIR has been reviewed and considered by the agency; and (3) the Final EIR
reflects its independent judgment and analysis as the lead agency. (Public Resources Code § 21100;
CEQA Guidelines § 15090).

Adoption of CEQA Findings: If an EIR identifies one or more significant effects on the environment that
would occur as a result of the proposed Project, the Transportation Authority Board must make one of
three findings with respect to each significant effect (Public Resources Code § 21081(a); CEQA
Guidelines § 15091):

e Changes have been made to the Project, or incorporated into the Project, that mitigate or avoid
the identified significant effects on the environment.

e Those changes or alterations (i.e., mitigation measures) are within the responsibility and
jurisdiction of another public agency, and have been or can and should be adopted by that
other agency.

e The agency finds that the mitigation measures or alternatives identified in the EIR are infeasible
for specific “economic, legal, social, technological, or other considerations.”

The CEQA Findings (Attachment 2) identifies one area, traffic, where the Transportation Authority
finds that because some aspects of the Project would cause potentially significant impacts for which

0:\Active Studies\GearyBRT Environmental\CAC\Meetings\Meeting 33\GearyBRT Approval Memo.docx Pa ge 80of10



feasible mitigation measures are not available to reduce the impact to a less-than-significant level, the
impacts are significant and unavoidable.

Statement of Overriding Considerations: If significant effects cannot be mitigated to a less-than-significant level,
the Transportation Authority must also adopt findings indicating the specific overriding economic, legal,
social, technological, or other benefits of the Project that are viewed as outweighing each of the
significant adverse effects. (Public Resources Code § 21081(b)). This statement is included in
Attachment 2.

Adoption of a Mitigation, Monitoring, and Reporting Program: Section 21081.6 of CEQA requites public agencies to
adopt a reporting or monitoring program whenever a project or program is approved that includes
mitigation measures identified in an environmental document. The MMRP is included as Exhibit 1 to
the CEQA Findings (Attachment 3).

Approval of The Project: The Transportation Authority is considering approval of the Geary BRT Project,
and selection of the Hybrid Alternative as the Locally Preferred Alternative under NEPA.

Completion of NEPA Process: The Transportation Authority and SEMTA will separately coordinate with FTA
to complete the EIS and ROD, which constitutes the final approval step under the federal NEPA
process. Completion of the NEPA process is required before the Project can receive federal funding.

Current Schedule: Completion of the NEPA process is anticipated in eatrly 2017. SEMTA plans to
implement the Project in phases, with the first phase to include project improvements east of Stanyan
Street and the second phase to include the portion of the corridor west of Stanyan Street. The SFMTA
Board is anticipated to legislate Phase 1 design elements in mid-2017. Engineering design of Phase 2,
the full project, will also begin in early 2017. Construction of Phase 1 is proposed to begin in mid-2017
and be complete by 2019. Construction of Phase 2 is anticipated to occur from 2019 to 2020.

ALTERNATIVES

1. Adopt a motion of support to certify the Final Environmental Impact Report for the Geary
Corridor Bus Rapid Transit Project; adopt the CEQA Findings including a Statement of
Overriding Considerations; adopt the Mitigation, Monitoring, and Reporting Program; approve
the Hybrid Alternative as the Geary Corridor Bus Rapid Transit Project; and select the Hybrid
Alternative as the Locally Preferred Alternative, as requested.

2. Adopt a motion of support to certify the Final Environmental Impact Report for the Geary
Corridor Bus Rapid Transit Project; adopt the CEQA Findings including a Statement of
Overriding Considerations; adopt the Mitigation, Monitoring, and Reporting Program; approve
the Hybrid Alternative as the Geary Corridor Bus Rapid Transit Project; and select the Hybrid
Alternative as the Locally Preferred Alternative, with modifications.

3. Defer action, pending additional information or further staff analysis.

FINANCIAL IMPACTS

None. Thetre are no impacts on the Transportation Authority’s adopted Fiscal Year 2016/17 budget
from the proposed action.

RECOMMENDATION

Adopt a motion of support to certify the Final Environmental Impact Report for the Geary Corridor
Bus Rapid Transit Project; adopt the CEQA Findings including a Statement of Overriding
Considerations; adopt the Mitigation, Monitoring, and Reporting Program; approve the Hybrid

0:\Active Studies\GearyBRT Environmental\CAC\Meetings\Meeting 33\GearyBRT Approval Memo.docx Pa ge 9 0of 10

15



16

Alternative as the Geary Corridor Bus Rapid Transit Project; and select the Hybrid Alternative as the
Locally Preferred Alternative.

Attachments (3):
1. Funding Information Table
2. CEQA Findings: Findings of Fact, Evaluation of Mitigation Measures and Alternatives,
and Statement of Overriding Considerations for the Geary Corridor BRT Project
3. Final EIR Appendix C: Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

Enclosure:
1. Public Communications Since the Comment Period

0:\Active Studies\GearyBRT Environmental\CAC\Meetings\Meeting 33\GearyBRT Approval Memo.docx Pa ge 10 of 10



N
i

740 1 93ed

910Z AON Sulpuny Aleanowaly uoledly1la) pieog 910z 12qwadaq ueld Suipung 13g Aiean\8ulpuny g $150J\150) pue Sulaauidu3 |enidasuo) G z\S)SeL\|eIUaWUOIIAUT 1 YGAIBD\SBIPNIS BADY\:0

0009599$ $S56SLE'BSS 910082°9$
I87°L6Y LES I8b°L68vES 000°009°C$ pauue|g| [ aseyq
000°959v9$ SLY'8LLTTS €LY'SLL'TTS pawwesdorg| relof,
910°08E‘v$ 000°00L$ 90°089°c$ paresory|
pauuelg (pun, [erouon)) SuraeJ o
00976 powwersorJ| (eoor MO[[O,] - WEIFOIJ FMIONIISLIJUT
009°'76$ 00976$ Pparedoy 1997 put uonelsodsuer],
000°000°9Z$ 000°00t°¢T$ 000°009°C$ pouue[]
000°000°9$ powwersorJ| (eoor UOISSTIWWO?) SANIN() dMqNJ IS
PAwd0NY
pauue[q|
000°00L$ powwersorJ| (eoo| oSS PUO HON
< S UIAD
000700L$ 000°00L8 ooy Hes prod A V.LNAS
Toﬂﬁwﬁﬁw
000°000°0T$ ¥50T20°8$ ¥50°120°8$ powweiSord| (evo , X, s9res 3 dorg
9Y68L6°TS 9%6'8L6°T$ pa1ed0[Ty
000°000°C$ 000°000°¢$ pauue[q
616490°s$ 616790°C$ 616%90C$ powwesSord| oot |99, vonensiBoy sprp v doig
P30Ty
pauue[q|
00066218 005269°TTS 005269118 pewweBorg| w0 swwowr0sduw aﬁm@
005°909°T$ 005909°T$ RETAYIY UTHISOpad puod 0€02.L v ¢od
000°000°T$ 000°000°T$ pauue[]
000°000C$ 000°000°T$ 000°000°T$ powweidor| [eso Junodoy XeJ, 398 AeAySiEy
payedo[y
I8V L6V L$ 18Y°L6VL$ pauueg ]
18V L6VLS powrmeagorg| eropas JUDWISOAUT
SOy - 9APRBDIUT DUBWIOFISJ HSUBL],
TV.ILOL smeig £q [e10, NOD qA22Sd/4AD ANA NV'Id smelg adAy, 2010
S

£

4

sasey 10901

910C Pqu3q
ue[ Surpuny 1sues], pidey sng Arean i1 uduryoeny

. syuswdAoxdwuy Wrd I -1edN




18

zJoz wmmm 910Z AON Sulpuny Aleanowaly uoledly1la) pieog 910z 12qwadaq ueld Suipung 13g Aiean\8ulpuny g $150J\150) pue Sulaauidu3 |enidasuo) G z\S)SeL\|eIUaWUOIIAUT 1 YGAIBD\SBIPNIS BADY\:0

“ued JUSWISIAUT $IT UT JANENIUT 9OULWIOFIdJ JSUELT, 9} JOJ PIRRUIPI VoI 864 9y o uonzod e 303 9[qiSId 9q 03

TN 1220y pawaap OS[e 9230, YSET, 9Y I, JUSWISIAUT UOI[[IW /z¢ € P ‘ued 1uawnsaaur sif ur s199(oxd paweu maj a3 Jo 2uo st (syuswasordw] yFomiaN pidey Lreany se pajs)
TN 3290y pagnuapr 9070, sk, oY ], *(S99F 95U S[IIY2A ‘XE) SI[LS [EUONIPPE 3-9) aSesped 2030,] ysy,], vonelsodsuri], )¢z S FOABIA 91 JO ‘SpUNJ ATLUONIIISIP [LIOPIJ FO AeIs
FIYIO XE} SES [PUOISIT MIU ‘S[[0} 9PLIq MU ‘Spuny opexn pue ded Juein) varyAegou() QARENIU] DUBWIOJIdJ NSULLT, DTN 2pnRur a8exded 1Y [[M,] 24 JOF SI0IN0S [ERUIO] 0
“UON[TW () [$ ULYI SI0W OU UTYaas aq 3snw s309(o1d s1reag [[ews £ 1(0g UT spuny siresg [ewg 103 A[dde o3 sueld wea 309ford 1y 4reany ayf,

-a8exed 1yg ] oy 01 pawrwerdord Apuarmd spung
S doiq Surupewa o [[e $9419593 pue $1UaWRA0IW] WD [N 24 JO BORINASUOD /uSisop 10§ Sutpuny 1y¢ 43229 3 dOi JU2KIND WO VO (1§ $94I8F GZ-G] VOBN[OSDY

"SI0\
STqN 09SPUEL] UES - A\JIS pue ‘£ouady voneizodsues], [edprunjy 0dspues] UeS - V.LALLS ‘TONENSIUTUPY ISULLT, [EIOP9,] - V.I,] :9PN[OUT $90IN0S SUIPuny J0J SWATOIY ¢

*192(0xd o3 303 soPIYPA T Jg MU Surmnd0rd 303 1S0 [BIUIWIIIUL A} SIPN[IUT aseyd TONINISUOD 9Y], "TWONINASUOY) - NOD) ‘USISI(J [BUL] JO SaeWns 29 suoneoynadg
‘sue /3r0doy Supeouisuy [emidoduoy) - RS /YHD ‘VOREIUAWNIO(J [BIUWUOIAUY - ANH ‘Suruueld [pruswuonaus-a1d - Ny I :opnpur saseyd 109(oid 103 swduoroy .

“IDMISIP puOWYIry 9yl YSnory) saue] A[uo-snq 121020 pasodord oy Surpnpur
‘syuowao 329f0xd Ty ¢ £3eo0) Suturewas [[e sopnpur oexded T [N YT, 'SOpeiddn 1omas PUE 1M PUE ‘SIUSWDULYUD SUrssord uernsopad “yrom Surdins pue [euss d1jyen
‘Buraedor ‘sopesddn dois ‘soue] A[uo-snq Suruunz-oprs SurpnUT ‘UeAuLIg PUL 1ILJ U2IMI] SITIWI(D 399(03d JO 195 [enrur [enuatod v opNRUT SITIWRAOIdW] WiId T -FEIN] U], .

000vPE‘SETS PL6'6S8°681$  |PEI€19°9€$ 268°060°8$ 00008L$
£€8°shSv61$ 026°L8E'8LI$  |ET6°LSTOT$ pauuel]|  dseyd
0007+ SETS §08°209°5T$ YSOTLY TI$ TSLSEIPI$ pawweiorg| [elof,
T9€°061°ST$ 0LV 61€°9$ 768°060°8$ 00008L$ Pa3e0[IV
£€8°5hSv6$ 0T6°L8€°8LS CI6°LST9T$ pauuy|(
£€8'sYSv6$ powwesgorg] ddL o 4L
payesoqy
TUGGNMQ
LIT‘86L 0V$ S08°L09°ST$ YSOTLY T1$ 16L°SCTp1$ powwessoiq| esory , e, sopeg y doig
29¢°061°ST$ 0LF'61€98 268°060°8$ 000088 Payed0[ Y
000°000°00T$ 000°000°0018 pauue[]
000°000°00T$ powwessoid| [¢+pod ¢ SHBIS [[EWS 60€S VLA
payesopy
TV.LOL smelg £q [e0, NOD A®Sd/4AD ANA NVId smelg adAy,  90anog
. saserq 109fo1g , (39303 jo 3opurEwdy) LY MM
910T Fdquda(Q

ue[ Surpuny 1sues], pidey sng Arean i1 uduryoeny




GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

Attachment 2
Geary Boulevard Bus Rapid Transit Project

California Environmental Quality Act Findings: Findings of Fact, Evaluation of
Mitigation Measures and Alternatives, and Statement of Overriding Considerations

San Francisco Transportation Authority

In determining to approve the proposed Geary Boulevard Bus Rapid Transit Project (Geary
BRT/Project) and related approval actions, the San Francisco County Transportation Authority
(SFCTA/Authority) makes and adopts the following findings of fact and statement of overriding
considerations, and adopts the following recommendations regarding mitigation measures and
alternatives based on substantial evidence in the whole record of this proceeding and under the California
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), California Public Resources Code Sections 21000 ef seq., particularly
Sections 21081, 21081.5, and 21081.6, the Guidelines for Implementation of CEQA, 14 California Code
of Regulations Section 15000 e# seq., particularly Sections 15091 through 15093, and Chapter 31 of the
San Francisco Administration Code (Chapter 31).

l. Introduction

This document is organized as follows:

Section I Introduction, provides a description of the proposed Project, the environmental review process
for the Project, the SFCTA, and other Agency actions to be taken to implement Geary BRT, as well as
the extent and location of records.

Section II identifies the impacts found not to be significant, and identifies impacts found not to be
significant but that can be further reduced through improvement measures.

Section III identifies potentially significant impacts that can be avoided or reduced through mitigation
measures and describes the applicable mitigation measures.

Section IV identifies the significant impacts that cannot be avoided or reduced to less-than-significant
levels and describes any applicable mitigation measures and the disposition of the mitigation measures.
This section also sets forth the economic, legal, social, technological, and other considerations that
support the rejection of certain mitigation measures as infeasible that were not incorporated into the
Project.

Section V evaluates the different project alternatives and the economic, legal, social, technological, and
other considerations that support the rejection of the alternatives as infeasible.

Section VI presents a statement of overriding considerations setting forth specific economic, legal, social,
technological, and other reasons in support of SFCTA’s approval of the Project despite the significant
unavoidable impacts discussed in Section V.

The Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program (MMRP) for the mitigation measures that have been
proposed for adoption is attached to these findings as Exhibit 1 and is incorporated by reference. The
MMRP is required by CEQA Section 21081.6 and CEQA Guidelines Section 15091. The MMRP sets
forth each mitigation measure listed in the Final Environmental Impact Report (Final EIR)! that is

1 Under CEQA Guidelines section 15362(b), the Final EIR consists of the Draft EIR, comments and
recommendations received on the Draft EIR, a list of persons commenting, the response of the lead

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 1

19



20

GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

required to reduce or avoid a significant adverse impact. Exhibit 1 also specifies the agency responsible
for the implementation of each measure and establishes monitoring actions and a monitoring schedule.
In addition, the findings include Exhibit 1’s list of Improvement Measures that the SFCTA recommends
for implementation by the San Francisco Municipal Transportation Authority (SFMTA) and other
implementing agencies, to further reduce the effects of those environmental impacts found to be less
than significant.

These findings are based on substantial evidence in the entire record before the SFCTA.
The references set forth in these findings to certain pages or sections of the Draft
EIS/EIR or the Final EIR are for ease of reference and are not intended to provide an
exhaustive list of the evidence relied upon for these findings.

A. Project Description

The Project proposes to implement bus rapid transit improvements along San Francisco’s Geary corridor.
The Geary corridor encompasses the entirety of Geary Boulevard and Geary Street as well as portions of
other auxiliary streets, including O’Farrell Street between Market and Gough Street. Figure 1 below
depicts the Geary corridor.

The Draft EIS/EIR, published in October 2015, considered four build alternatives and one no-build
alternative.

* No Build Alternative
e Alternative 2 (Side-lane bus rapid transit (BRT))
e Alternative 3 (Center-lane BRT with dual medians and passing lanes)

o Alternative 3-Consolidated (Center-lane BRT with dual medians and consolidated bus
service)

» Hybrid Alternative (Incorporates elements of Alternatives 2, 3, and 3-Consolidated)

Each of the four build alternatives proposes some form of BRT service and associated physical
infrastructure improvements along the Geary corridor. Figure 2 below provides a schematic diagram of
the four build alternatives.

The Geary BRT Project approved in this action by SFCTA, after extensive agency and public feedback,
is the Hybrid Alternative, which was desctibed in the Draft EIS/EIR as the Staff Recommend Alternative
(SRA), and includes the minor modifications to the Hybrid Alternative discussed fully in in Sections 2.2.3
and 2.2.7 of the Draft EIS/EIR and Chapter 2 of the Final EIR. The Project would operate BRT, local,
and express buses along the Geary corridor, for approximately 6.5 miles, from the Transbay Transit
Center to 48th Avenue. The Project would be constructed entirely within existing street right-of-way.

agency to the comments received, and any other information added by the lead agency. For purposes of
these findings, references to the Final EIR herein incorporates the Draft EIS/EIR.

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 2



GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

Figure 1-1 Geary Corridor

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 3

21



22

GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

The Hybrid Alternative/SRA would construct and use new side-running bus-only lanes from Gough
Street West to Palm Avenue. At Palm Avenue, bus lanes would transition to center-running and continue
west to 27t Avenue. At 27% Avenue, bus lanes would transition to side-running, continuing west to 34th
Avenue. The Hybrid Alternative/SRA includes both BRT and local setvices, and BRT buses would make
all stops in the designated consolidated-stop portion of the corridor. East of Gough Street, the Hybrid
Alternative/SRA would retain the existing right-side-running bus-only lanes on Geary Street and
O’Farrell Street and add new bus-only lanes on several additional blocks in this segment. To reduce bus
conflicts with turning traffic at key locations, specific “spot improvements” in this corridor segment
include lane reconfigurations and queue jump signals. Due to lighter traffic conditions west of 34th
Avenue, BRT vehicles would continue to travel in the existing mixed-flow lanes, and no changes would
be made to existing stops.

Figure 1-2 Schematic Diagram of the Build Alternatives

Masonic Fillmore

Alternative 2: Side-Lane BRT

Alternative 3: Center-Lane BRT with

Dual Medians and Passing Lanes
and

Alternative 3-Consolidated:

Center-Lane BRT with Dual Medians

and Consolidated Bus Service

Hybrid Alternative

09
15

17 | 09 03| o5 04 10 | o4
28 | 13 3| s 4 13

ole
ES

Transbay

27th Avenue ——
Plerce Street
Laguna Street
Market Street -
Transit Center

48th Avenue
34th Avenue

Broderick Street
Scott Street
Van Ness Avenue -

LEGEND:

— Center-running, bus-only lane
*BRT service would operate in a dedicated bus-only lane in the center of Geary Corridor (in between dual medians)

Side-running, bus-only lane
*BRT service would operate in a dedicated bus-only lane in the outermost land of Geary Corridor

Mixed-flow traffic
*Standard lane for general traffic purposes

Masonic Area No Scale
Fillmore Area
The Geary BRT would also include features designed to minimize safety risks to drivers, pedestrians, and
other corridor users, as well as features to improve the comfort and efficiency of public transit along
Geary. These features include, but are not limited to:
* Protected left turn signals and curb bulbs at key crosswalks to improve pedestrian safety
 Additional signalized pedestrian crossings and median refuges
e Enhanced bicycle facilities between Presidio Avenue and Masonic Avenue
* Additional on-street parking would be added where feasible

e Increased signal cycle lengths would be implemented at certain intersections

* Sidewalk widening in certain locations throughout the corridor

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 4



GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

e Upgraded curb ramps, increased pedestrian-scale lighting, and other urban design features

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 5

23



24

GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

B. Project Purpose/Objectives

The Geary corridor is an exceptionally busy transit link; each day the corridor sees more than 50,000
person-trips via public transit and serves automobile volumes that vary between 12,000 in the outlying
neighborhoods west of Park Presidio to 45,000 at the highest-demand locations. In addition, the corridor
hosts tens of thousands of daily pedestrian trips.

While the Geary corridor serves thousands of multimodal trips per day, current transit performance and
pedestrian conditions in the Geary corridor are in need of improvement in several key ways. SFCTA
identified the following transportation needs in the Geary corridor, which serve as the basis for the
project purpose:

» Existing transit service in the Geary corridor is unreliable, slow, and crowded, and is in
need of improvement in order to promote high ridership and competitiveness with other
travel modes.

e Geary Boulevard’s wide travelway and high vehicle travel speeds create unfavorable
pedestrian conditions — especially west of Gough Street and throughout the Richmond
District.

* The Geary corridot’s existing street and streetscape environment do not provide a high-
quality transit passenger experience, despite the corridor’s high transit ridership.

C. Environmental Review

The SFCTA, in cooperation with the Federal Transit Administration (FT'A), initiated a joint EIS under
the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) and EIR under the California Environmental Quality
Act (CEQA). Federal agencies that approve the Project will consider the effects of the Project under
NEPA in the Final EIS, while State and local agencies that approve the Project will consider the effects
of the Projects as identified under CEQA in the Final EIR. On November 20, 2008, the SFCTA sent a
Notice of Preparation (NOP) to the State Clearinghouse and to local, regional, and State agencies. The
FTA published a Notice of Intent (NOI) in the Federal Register on November 24, 2008. The NOP
indicated the environmental topics anticipated to be addressed as well as the alternatives to be considered
in the Draft EIS/EIR. The SFCTA noticed a 30-day comment period. The SFCTA also took the
following actions to provide notification of the Project and its scoping period:

 Advertisements in local newspapers

* A mailing to more than 23,000 residential and commercial occupants of buildings along
the Geary corridor, as well as to the outreach database of interested parties developed
during the Feasibility Study

e Online announcements on SFCTA and SEMTA web sites
* Announcement poster at bus stops along the Geary corridor

e Issued press releases as a means of partnering with the local media to raise awareness of
the project and to communicate opportunities to provide input.

The SFCTA held scoping meetings in December 2008 in the Outer Richmond at the Jackie Chan Activity
Center, and in the Tenderloin at the Tenderloin Community School. In July 2009, the project team hosted
another community meeting in the Richmond neighborhood as part of the scoping process.

In response to the NOI and NOP, the SFCTA and FTA received over 266 comments, comprising both
oral and written submissions. The comments included recommendations for one or more alternatives to
be analyzed in the EIS/EIR, comments on the potential environmental impacts to the study area, and

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 6


http://www.sfcta.org/sites/default/files/content/Planning/GearyCorridorBusRapidTransit/gearybrt_final-nop.pdf
http://www.sfcta.org/sites/default/files/content/Planning/GearyCorridorBusRapidTransit/gearybrt_published-noi.pdf

GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

miscellaneous suggestions to add to/alter the Project. The information collected from the scoping petiod
can be found in the Geary Boulevard Bus Rapid Transit Draft Summary Report, SEFECTA, February 2009.

The comments on alternatives recommended that:

e Incremental changes to service take place instead of the BRT Project

e Transportation Systems Management (TSM) improvements (such as extending diamond
lanes) take place instead of the BRT Project

* Additional build alternatives be analyzed
e Rail alternatives be considered over the BRT Project

The comments on environmental impacts expressed concerns over the following conditions:

e Accessibility of the BRT to the elderly and disabled

e Traffic operations and concerns regarding congestion (during construction and
operation), traffic/pedestrian signals, emergency access

¢ Division of neighborhoods and a need for community incentives
e Accuracy of the Project’s impact analysis, and efficiency of public consultation
e Pedestrian safety

After multiple rounds of alternatives development and screening, documented in the 2009 Geary
Alternatives Screening Report and the 2014 Geary Bus Rapid Transit Design Options Screening Report, FTA
and SFCTA prepared a Draft EIS/EIR that analyzed 5 alternatives:

No Build Alternative

Alternative 2 (Side-lane bus rapid transit (BRT))

Alternative 3 (Center-lane BRT with dual medians and passing lanes)

Alternative 3-Consolidated (Center-lane BRT with dual medians and consolidated bus service)
Hybrid Alternative (Incorporates elements of Alternatives 2, 3, and 3-Consolidated)

SAREIR Sl e

The Draft EIS/EIR analyzed each of the alternatives at an equal level of detail, which included:

e A description of the alternative’s setting
e The identification of the impacts of each alternative

e The compilation of mitigation measures for each significant or potentially significant
impact within each alternative

The Draft EIS/EIR included discussions of operational, construction, and cumulative effects of the
alternatives on transportation, land use, community impacts, growth, aesthetics and visual resources,
cultural resources, utilities, geology, soils, seismicity and topography, hazardous waste and materials,
hydrology and water quality, air quality, noise and vibration, energy, biological resources, and
environmental justice.

In addition to the above-mentioned alternatives considered and analyzed in detail, the Draft EIS/EIR
explained why several previously-considered alternatives were rejected from further consideration;
reasons for the rejection of these alternatives were related to:

e Traffic conditions, including congestion, diversions, circulation, access, and parking and
loading conditions

e Transit travel time, reliability, and passenger experience and access

e Pedestrian access, safety, and streetscape design

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 7

25


http://www.sfcta.org/sites/default/files/content/Planning/gearybrtenvironmental/documents/GBRT_DraftScopingReport_20090223.pdf
http://www.sfcta.org/sites/default/files/content/Planning/GearyCorridorBusRapidTransit/GearyAltsScreeningReport_Final.pdf
http://www.sfcta.org/sites/default/files/content/Planning/GearyCorridorBusRapidTransit/GearyAltsScreeningReport_Final.pdf
http://www.sfcta.org/sites/default/files/content/Planning/GearyCorridorBusRapidTransit/GearyAltsScreeningReport_Final.pdf

26

GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

e Bicycle safety and connectivity
e Rail readiness

e Capital and operating costs

e Impacts to Muni operations

e Construction impacts

Based on an extensive technical analysis of the alternatives under consideration, as well as input from
stakeholders and members of the public, the Draft EIS/EIR identified an alternative, the Hybrid
Alternative, as the staff recommendation for ultimate selection (“Hybrid Alternative/SRA”).

The SFCTA published a Notice of Availability/Notice of Completion (NOA/NOC) and distributed
copies of the Draft EIS/EIR to the State Clearinghouse on October 2, 2015. An NOA also appeared
in the Federal Registry concutrently. The SFCTA noticed the availability of the Draft EIS/EIR for public
review and comment with the dates of the initial, and later extended, comment period (the extended
period was from October 2, 2015 through November 30, 2015). The SFCTA advertised the NOA and
the public comment meetings through posted notifications and through the project webpage.

The SFCTA made the Draft EIS/EIR document available for public review and comment by placing
electronic copies on the SFCTA website, and by making hard copies available at SEFMTA, Planning
Department, the San Francisco Public Library, and SFCTA offices. Additionally, CDs were available
upon request, and hard copies available for purchase from the SFCTA. Comments from the public could
be sent by mail or email throughout the circulation period, and verbal comments could be submitted at
the public hearing. Access to the technical reports and supporting documents were made available upon
request.

As part of the public review process for the Draft EIS/EIR, the SFCTA hosted a public comment
meeting on November 5, 2015 in the St. Mary’s Cathedral. The meeting was designed to encourage the
general public to view project information, discuss the project with staff, and submit public comments
in writing on comment cards or orally via court reporters.

The Final EIR contains the SFCTA’s responses to the public’s comments submitted on the Draft
EIS/EIR duting the 59-day public review petiod for the Draft EIS/EIR, clarification of information
presented within the Draft EIS/EIR, corrections to informational/editorial errors in the Draft EIS/EIR,
and descriptions of several changes to the Hybrid Alternative in response to public comments. The FTA
is anticipated to separately adopt a Final EIS and Record of Decision (ROD) subsequent to local
certification of the EIR and local project approval. While the Draft EIS/EIR was prepared as a joint
document to meet the requirements of both NEPA and CEQA, the Federal and local agencies mutually
agreed to prepare separate final environmental documents.

Subsequent to the close of the public comment period on the Draft EIS/EIR, the SFCTA received some
additional comments on the Project, primarily concerning the merits of the project and the alternatives
analysis. These late comments are addressed in the Final EIR at section 5.4. None of these later-received
comments, nor any of the comments received during the public comment period introduce any new
information such that recirculation of the EIR would be triggered under CEQA.

On December 9, 2016 the SFCTA published the Final EIR by posting the document on its public website.
At that time, the document was also made available for public review at the SFCTA office, SEFMTA’s
office, the Planning Department’s Planning Information Counter, and at the San Francisco Library.
Between December 8 and 9, CDs, paper copies of the Final EIR, or notices of availability with links to
on-line versions of the Final EIR were sent to parties included on the Distribution List and to those
parties that commented on the Draft EIS/EIR and provided a physical mailing address. Email notices

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 8


http://www.sfcta.org/geary-corridor-bus-rapid-transit-draft-eis-eir

GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

with a link to the online digital files of the Final EIR were sent to commenters on the Draft EIS/EIR
who had previously provided an email address but no physical mailing address. The NOA was submitted
to local newspapers. The SFCTA sent email notifications to those individuals, groups, and agencies on
the project list.

The SFCTA is certifying the Final EIR, adopting CEQA Findings, including a statement of overriding
considerations and MMRP, and approving the Hybrid Alternative/SRA. In certifying the Final EIR, the
Authority finds that the Final EIR adds no significant new information to the Draft EIS/EIR that would
require recirculation of the Draft EIS/EIR under CEQA because neither the Final EIR nor any
information received since publication of the Final EIR contains any information revealing 1) any new
significant environmental impact that would result from the Project or from a new mitigation measure
proposed to be implemented; 2) any substantial increase in the severity of a previously identified
environmental impact; 3) any feasible project alternative or mitigation measure considerably different
from others previously analyzed that would clearly lessen the environmental impacts of the Project but
that would lessen the environmental impacts of the Project but that was rejected by SFCTA; or, 4) that
the Draft EIS/EIR was so fundamentally and basically inadequate and conclusory in nature that
meaningful public review and comment were precluded.

D. Environmental Analysis of the Project

The environmental analysis of the Project is summarized in Chapters 3 and 4 of the Final EIR, with full
details provided in respective chapters of the Draft EIS/EIR and Chapter 7 of the Draft EIS/EIR making
explicit CEQA conclusions.

Chapter 2 of the Final EIR describes the Hybrid Alternative/SRA as modified from the Hybrid
Alternative presented in the Draft EIS/EIR. Chapter 2 of the Draft EIS/EIR provides a full description
of all alternatives analyzed in the environmental review process. Chapter Seven of the Draft EIS/EIR
explains the relationship between the NEPA requirements, under which an environmental impact
statement is required for the Project, and the CEQA requirements under which an EIR is required for
the project. Chapters three and four of the Final EIR are each divided into sections based on the various
environmental factors considered. The sections generally start with a description of the affected
environment and existing conditions and conclude with a description of impacts and any measures that
would avoid, minimize, and/or mitigate impacts. The analysis of the environmental factors in these
chapters identifies any impacts that would result from the Hybrid Alternative/SRA. Section 10.4 of the
Draft EIS/EIR provides a summary of the environmental consequences of the Hybrid Alternative/SRA
and explains how it compares to the other alternatives in terms of environmental impacts and its
performance in achieving the Project purpose and need.

Based on technical analyses presented in the Draft EIS/EIR, agency, stakeholder, and public input
received during circulation of the Draft EIS/EIR and additional analysis by SFCTA and SFMTA staff of
proposed Hybrid Alternative design modifications, the SFCTA and SFMTA staff also jointly recommend
the Hybrid Alternative/SRA as the Locally Preferred Alternative.

The Hybrid Alternative/SRA, represents an optimized alternative very similar to the Hybrid Alternative
presented in the Draft EIS/EIR, but with minor design modifications that were made between the Draft
EIS/EIR and Final EIR in response to comments from the public. The Hybrid Alternative/SRA includes
a combination of new BRT lanes and infrastructural upgrades. New side-running bus-only lanes would
run from 34th Avenue to 27th Avenue and from Palm Avenue (just east of Arguello Boulevard) to Gough
Street. Between 27th Avenue and Palm Avenue, the Hybrid Alternative/SRA would utilize center-
running bus-only lanes and consolidated local and BRT stops. Local and BRT stops would also be
consolidated in the segments of the corridor between 34th Avenue and 27th Avenue and between Palm

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 9

27



28

GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

Avenue and Masonic Boulevard. Both local and BRT services would exist with this alternative, but both
would make all stops in the consolidated-stop portion of the corridor.

The Hybrid Alternative presented in the Final EIR includes updates made between the Draft EIS/EIR
and Final EIR. These updates include:

* Retention of Local and Express bus stops at Spruce/Cook (No new BRT stops).
The Hybrid Alternative/SRA no longer adds a BRT stop to the Spruce-Cook block of
Geary Boulevard. The existing eastbound and westbound bus stops on this block would
remain and their lengths would be reduced slightly. These bus stops would serve Local-
only buses rather than Local and Rapid buses under the existing service plan, which
would increase the distance between Rapid bus stops.

* Retention of the Webster Street pedestrian bridge. The existing pedestrian bridge at
Webster Street would remain standing and open for use. In addition, the Hybrid
Alternative/SRA would add two pedestrian surface crossings on either side of the
Webster Street bridge: a straight crossing on the west side of the intersection and a
staggered crossing (i.e., a Z-crossing in which the crossing is offset at the center median)
on the east side. The staggered crossing would improve pedestrian sight distance at the
westbound frontage road, as pedestrians would cross in front of the existing bridge pier
so the pier would not obstruct sight lines between crossing pedestrians and approaching
vehicles. A pedestrian barrier would be installed on the center median to guide
pedestrians to the second crossing.

 Additional pedestrian crossing improvements at various intersections within the
Geary corridor: The No Project Alternative assumes construction of 14 pedestrian
crossing bulbs at various locations along the Geary corridor. The Hybrid Alternative had
proposed to construct an additional 51 pedestrian crossing bulbs at high-priority locations
in the Geary corridor as detailed in the project plans (Appendix A), for a total of 65 (No
Project plus Build Alternatives). Modifications to the Hybrid Alternative add a further 26
pedestrian bulbs (grand total of 91), plus a painted safety zone, and also implement
daylighting at strategic intersection locations along the Geary corridor.
The Final EIR details how the Hybrid Alternative analyzed in the Draft EIS/EIR compares with the
Hybrid Alternative/SRA. In general, impacts from the Hybrid Alternative/SRA are the same or similar
between the Draft EIS/EIR and the Final EIR. In no case does the Final EIR identify any new or more
severe impacts for the Hybrid Alternative/SRA than those identified for any of the alternatives in the
Draft EIS/EIR. Since the Final EIR does not identify a new or more severe significant impact or a new

mitigation measure, the project is not required to recirculate the Draft EIS/EIR prior to certification,
consistent with the CEQA Guidelines, Section 15088.5.

E. Approval Actions

The following approval actions will be taken in regard to the Geary BRT Project:

Local Agencies

1. San Francisco County Transportation Authority

e Certifies EIR under CEQA.
» Approves the Project, advising FTA of the Locally Preferred Alternative (LPA) selected.

» Approves funding from both Federal and local sources (Proposition K and Small Starts
Funding).

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 10



29

GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

2.  San Francisco Municipal Transportation Authority
» Approves the Project as the responsible agency.
» Approves funding agreements for the project with the SFCTA, FTA, and any other

sources.
e Approves local traffic code and parking legislation.
» Approves various design and construction contracts.
3.  San Francisco Board of Supervisors
» Approves sidewalk and grade changes.
4.  San Francisco Departments of public Works, Public Utilities, and Fire

e Approve various design plans and construction work in right-of-way, including removal
and replanting of trees, median and sidewalk design, drainage systems, and utility systems.

5.  San Francisco Planning Department
* Determines Consistency of Project with the General Plan.
6.  San Francisco Historic Preservation Commission

» Approves certificate of appropriateness for construction of Geary BRT roadways and
structures within the Kearny-Market-Mason-Sutter Downtown Conservation District, and
adjacent to the New Montgomery-2nd Street Downtown Conservation District.

7. San Francisco Arts Commission

» Approves design of City public structures.
Regional Agencies
1.  San Francisco Bay Area Regional Water Quality Control Board

» Enforces compliance with the statewide stormwater Construction General permit
2.  Metropolitan Transportation Commission
* Made air quality conformity determination in coordination with the interagency Bay Area

Air Quality Conformity Task Force (The record of this determination was included in as
Appendix G of the Draft EIS/EIR).

Federal Agencies

1. Federal Transit Administration
» Approves the Record of Decision under NEPA (anticipated subsequent action following
or in tandem with FT'A’s issuance of a Final EIS)

» Approves federal funding for the Project (anticipated subsequent action following
approval of a Record of Decision)

F. Contents and Location of Records

The record upon which all findings and determinations related to the Geary BRT Project are based on
the following:

e The Project plans and supporting documents, prepared by the SFCTA.

¢ The Final EIR, including the Draft EIS/EIR, all comments received on the Draft
EIS/EIR, all Responses to Comments, discretionary text changes made by staff, and all
appendices and documents referenced in, or relied upon, by the Final EIR.

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 11



GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

« All information (including written evidence and testimony) provided by staff to SFCTA
relating to the Project, specifically the Draft EIS/EIR, and the alternatives set forth in the
Draft EIS/EIR and as updated in the Final EIR.

e All information (including written evidence and testimony) presented to SFCTA by the
environmental consultant and sub-consultants who prepared the Draft EIS/EIR and the
Final EIR, and others who contributed to reports presented to SFCTA.

* All information (including written evidence and testimony) presented to SFCTA from
other public agencies relating to the Project or specifically to the Draft EIS/EIR and the
Final EIR.

o All information (including written evidence and testimony) presented at any public
hearing, meeting, or workshop related to the Project and the Draft EIS/EIR and Final
EIR.

e The MMRP for the Project.

e All public meeting agendas, minutes, reports, all oral testimony and oral and video records
of public hearings, and written testimony at public hearings before SFCTA and other
agencies, and all reports, correspondence, references, and material kept in the ordinary
course of business associated with the public planning process related to the Project.

o All applicable staff administrative records, memoranda and public reports kept during the
ordinary course of business, and that provide substantial evidence to support the findings
within the Final EIR; these include, but are not limited to, attachments, appendices, and
references kept in the ordinary course of business.

* All other documents comprising the record pursuant to Public Resources Code Section
2116.76(e).

SFCTA is the custodian of all documents comprising the record of proceedings, including, without
limitation, the documents listed above. The SFCTA offices are located at 1455 Market St. San Francisco,
CA 94103.

G. Requirements of Findings of Fact

CEQA requires public agencies to identify the potential impacts of their activities on the environment,
and where feasible,? to avoid or mitigate the effects of those activities on the environment. However, as
per Public Resources Code 21002:

“Inn the event [that] specific economic, social, or other conditions mafke infeasible such project
alternatives, or such mitigation measures, individual projects may be approved in spite of one or more

significant effects.””

Section 21002 mandates that agencies must adopt findings before approving projects for which EIRs are
required. For each significant environmental impact identified in an EIR for a proposed project, the

2 Public Resources Code Section 21061.1 defines “feasible” to mean “capable of being accomplished in
a successful manner within a reasonable period of time, taking into account economic, environmental,
social, and technological factors.”

3 California Public Resources Code section 21002.

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 12



GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

approving agency is required to issue a written finding reaching one or more of three potential
conclusions. The three findings are*:

 Changes or alterations have been required in, or incorporated into, the project which
mitigate or avoid the significant effect on the environment.

e Those alterations or changes are within the responsibility and jurisdiction of another
public agency and have been, or can be and should be, adopted by that other agency.

* Specific economic, legal, social, technological, or other considerations, including
considerations for the provision of employment opportunities for highly trained workers,
make infeasible the mitigation measures or alternatives identified in the EIR.

If a project includes significant impacts which cannot be avoided or substantially lessened, the public
agency, after adopting appropriate findings, may irrespective, approve the project. In order to do this,
the agency must adopt a statement of overriding considerations through which:>

“If the specific economic, legal, social, technological, or other benefits, including region-wide or
statewide environmental benefits, of a proposed project ontweigh the unavoidable adverse environmental
effects, the adverse environmental effects may be considered “acceptable.”

The California Supreme Court has acknowledged that:

“...the wisdom of approving...any development project, a delicate task which requires a
balancing on interests, is necessarily left to the sound discretion of the local officials and their constituents
who are responsible for such decisions. The law as we interpret and apply it simply requires that those
decisions be informed, and therefore balanced.”

The Geary BRT Project Final EIR identified significant effects that may occur as a result of the project;
therefore, in accordance with the above-mentioned provisions, SFCTA hereby adopts these findings as
part of the approval of the Project. These findings are a reflection of the judgement of SFCTA,
independent from other entities, and constitute the SFCTA’s best efforts to set forth the evidentiary and
policy bases for its decision to approve the Project in a manner consistent with the CEQA requirements.
Consequently, these findings are not purely informational, but comprise a binding set of obligations that
come into effect with the SFCTA’s approval of the Project.

H. Findings About Significant Environmental Impacts and Mitigation Measures

The following Sections (II, III, and IV) set forth the SFCTA’s findings concerning the Final EIR’s
determinations regarding significant environmental impacts and the mitigation measures proposed to
address them. These findings provide both the analyses and conclusions of the SFCTA regarding the
environmental impacts of the Project and the mitigation measures included as part of the Final EIR, and
adopted by SFCTA as part of the project. In making these findings, the SFCTA has considered the
opinion of staff and experts, other agencies, and the general public.

4 California Public Resources Code Section 21081.
5 Public Resources Code Section 15093, 15043(b), 21081 (b).
6 Citizens of Goleta V' alley v. Board of Supervisors (1990) 52 Cal.3d 553, 576.

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 13

31



32

GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

SFCTA confirms that the determination of significance thresholds for CEQA impacts set forth in
Chapter Seven, CEQA Evaluation, of the Draft EIS/EIR are judgment decisions at the discretion of the
SFCTA and that the significance thresholds are supported by substantial evidence in the record, which
comprises the expert opinion of the Final EIR preparers and SFCTA staff. Furthermore, the SFCTA
finds that the significance thresholds in the Final EIR provide reasonable and appropriate means through
which to evaluate the significance of the adverse environmental effects of the Project. Although the
SFCTA is not legally bound by the determinations set forth in the Final EIR, SFCTA finds them both
persuasive and adequate and hereby adopts them as its own.

To avoid unnecessary duplication, these findings do not describe the full analysis of each environmental
impact under CEQA contained in the Final EIR; instead, a full explanation of these environmental
findings and conclusions under CEQA can be found in the Draft EIS/EIR and Final EIR. Except where
noted, these findings incorporate by reference, and rely upon as substantial evidence, the discussion, and
analyses within the Final EIR supporting the Final EIR’s determination regarding the Project’s impacts
and those mitigation measures designed to address impacts. In compiling these findings, the SFCTA
ratifies, adopts, and incorporates in these findings the determinations and conclusions of the Final EIR
relating to environmental impacts and mitigation measures, except to the extent any such determinations
and conclusions are specifically and expressly modified by these findings.

As set forth below, the SFCTA adopts and incorporates all of the mitigation measures set forth in the
Final EIR that the SFCTA determines are feasible (see attached MMRP). These mitigation measures will
substantially lessen or avoid the potentially significant and significant impacts that would occur as a result
of the Project. The SFCTA adopts all of the mitigation measures set forth in the Final EIR.

In the event that a mitigation measure set forth in the Final EIR has been inadvertently omitted in these
tindings or the MMRP, such mitigation measure is hereby adopted and incorporated in the findings below
by reference. Furthermore, if the language describing a mitigation measure in these findings or the MMRP
fails to adequately reflect the mitigation measure in the Final EIR due to a clerical error, the language of
the policies and implementation measures as set forth in the Final EIR shall take precedence. The
mitigation measure numbers used in these findings exactly reflect the mitigation measure numbers in the
Final EIR.

In Sections II, III, and IV below, the same findings are made for a category of environmental impacts
and mitigation measures where appropriate. Rather than repeat the findings to address each and every
significant effect and mitigation measure, the initial finding obviates the need for such repetition because
in no instance is the SFCTA rejecting the conclusions of the Final EIR or the recommended mitigation
measure, except in those instances where SFCTA has expressly rejected a mitigation measure as infeasible
for the reasons set forth in these findings.

Impacts Found Not to be Significant and thus Requiring No Mitigation; Improvement

A

Measures
Less than Significant Impacts

Based on substantial evidence in the whole record of this proceeding, SFCTA finds that
implementation of the Project will not result in any significant impacts in the environmental
categories listed below in this Section ITA. Each of these topics is analyzed and discussed
in detail, including, but not limited to, in the Draft EIS/EIR and Final EIR at the pages
indicated.

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 14



GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

1.

b)

b)

Land Use

Construction: Consistent with existing public right of way. No acquisition of private
land required (Draft EIS/EIR Sections 4.1.4.2; 7.5.2 and Final EIR Section 4.1).

Operation: Consistent with existing land use plans/policies. Consistent with
existing/planned land uses. Project would not create a physical division of
communities/neighborhoods (Draft EIS/EIR Sections 4.1.4.4; 7.5.2 and Final EIR
Section 4.1).

Cumulative: The Project is consistent with adopted plans for growth in key areas
(Draft EIS/EIR Section 5.5.4 and Final EIR Section 4.1).

Population and Housing/Growth

Construction: The Project would adhere to City regulations for work conducted in the
public rights-of-way, which would limit the ability of construction to prove detrimental
to population or job growth (Draft EIS/EIR Section 4.3.4.2; 7.5.13 and Final EIR
Section 4.3).

Operation: The Project would comply with existing development patterns, population,
housing, and employment densities, and would not substantially alter growth beyond
what is projected for the study area (Draft EIS/EIR Section 4.3.4.4; 7.5.13 and Final
EIR Section 4.3).

Cumulative: Construction of the Hybrid Alternative/SRA, in combination with other
past, planned, and reasonably foreseeable projects would result in indirect and
cumulative growth-related impacts. However, such growth would be consistent with
adopted plans, and would not be in excess of the growth projected for the Bay Area
and San Francisco. Thus, cumulative impacts to growth would not be considered
cumulatively considerable/significant under CEQA (Draft EIS/EIR Section 5.5.6;
and Final EIR Section 4.3).

Visual Resources/Aesthetics

Construction: Although construction equipment and activities would be visible during
phases of Project implementation, these interruptions would be short-term in nature,
and thus would not result in any significant impacts to visual resources (Draft
EIS/EIR Sections 4.4.4.1.2; 7.5.3 and Final EIR Section 4.4).

Operation: The Hybrid Alternative/SRA would result in neutral, to somewhat
beneficial, views in Landscape Unit 1, and although visual changes are expected within
Landscape Unit 2, these changes are not expected to be detrimental, but would rather

enhance the intactness and unity of Geary corridor, and would not result in significant
impacts (Draft EIS/EIR Sections 4.4.4.2; 7.5.3 and Final EIR Section 4.4).

Cumulative: Visual changes resulting from the construction of the Hybrid
Alternative/SRA would contribute to and be part of the trend of cumulative aesthetic
changes that are occurring with the transportation system of the City. The Hybrid
Alternative/SRA incorporates new landscaping and tree planting, along with a visually
consistent street design that comports with the Better Streets Plan. Given the long-term
positive effect the project would have related to visual resources, the project’s

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 15

33



34

GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

4.
a)

b)

d)

b)

contribution to cumulative visual and aesthetic changes would be considered beneficial
(Draft EIS/EIR Sections 5.5.7; 7.5.3 and Final EIR Section 4.4), and would not
result in significant impacts.

Cultural/Paleontological Resources

Construction: Construction of the Hybrid Alternative/SRA would have a low
potential to encounter and/or harm any previously unrecorded archaeological artifacts
and/or paleontological resources. All streetscape improvements would occur within
existing right-of-way; however, components of the AWSS occur within the curb-to-
curb roadway. Coordination with the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for the Treatment of
Historic Properties would ensure that no roadway work would have an adverse impact on
any historic property (Draft EIS/EIR Sections 4.5.4.1; 7.5.4 and Final EIR Section
4.5). Construction of the Hybrid Alternative/SRA could have potentially adverse
impacts regarding the AWSS fire hydrants, the Golden Triangle Streetlights, and
adverse noise impacts to historic properties (See Section III below).

Operation: The operation of the Hybrid Alternative/SRA would not have any adverse
impacts to archaeological, historic, and/or paleontological resources (Draft EIS/EIR
Sections 4.5.4.2.3; 7.5.4 and Final EIR Section 4.5).

Cumulative: The land used for the Geary BRT Project and the adjacent land would
not suffer any anticipated adverse impacts to paleontological and/or archaeological
resources. The historic nature of the Geary corridor will continue to reflect a more
contemporary appearance due to the size and scope of existing and planned projects
within the corridor. However, The Geary BRT Project in of itself would have minimal
impacts and thus a less than significant cumulative contribution towards affecting
historic resources (Draft EIS/EIR Sections 5.5.8; 7.5.4 and Final EIR Section 4.5).

Utilities and Service Systems

Cumulative: The Project would not significantly increase demand for potable water,
waste disposal setvices, or electricity; therefore, the Hybrid Alternative/SRA would not
have a cumulatively considerable contribution to impacts on utilities (Draft EIS/EIR
Sections 5.5.9; 7.5.5 and Final EIR Section 4.6).

Geology/Soils/Seismic/Topography

Cumulative: The Geary BRT Project in combination with projected land development
would not result in cumulative geology/soils hazards as federal, state, and local

regulations would be enforced to minimize potential impacts to a less-than-significant
level (Draft EIS/EIR Sections 5.5.10; 7.5.6 and Final EIR Section 4.7).

Hazards and Hazardous Materials

Operation: Operation of Geary BRT features would not pose a risk of uncovering
hazardous materials as most risks associated with hazards and hazardous materials are
related to construction (Draft EIS/EIR Section 4.8.4.2.2; 7.5.7 and Final EIR
Section 4.8).

Cumulative: The risk of uncovering/encountering hazardous materials is location-
specific. All past, existing and foreseeable projects would need to comply with Federal,
State, and local regulations, which would ensure that the Hybrid Alternative/SRA

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 16



GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

8.
)
b)
9.
2)
b)
0
10.
)

would not significantly contribute to a cumulatively considerable impact to hazards and
hazardous materials (Draft EIS/EIR Section 5.5.11; 7.5.7 and Final EIR Section
4.8).

Hydrology and Water Quality

Operation: The Geary corridor is not located within a mapped flood hazard zone and
would not be subject to flooding hazards due to reservoir failure, tsunamis, or projected
sea level rise. No water quality standards or Waste Discharge Requirements would be
exceeded due to project runoff. Once operational, the various project components and
new BRT service will have an insignificant to no effect on groundwater as these
improvements do not requite water (Draft EIS/EIR Sections 4.9.4.2; 7.5.8 and Final
EIR Section 4.9).

Cumulative: With adherence to Federal, State, and local regulations pertaining to water
quality, the Project would not contribute to a cumulatively considerable impact to
hydrology and water quality (Draft EIS/EIR Sections 5.5.12; 7.5.8 and Final EIR
Section 4.9).

Air Quality

Construction: With adherence to City ordinances and regulations regarding
construction, such as the Construction Dust Control Ordinance, the Hybrid
Alternative/SRA would not result in any adverse effects during construction related to
emissions of air pollutants and GHGs (Draft EIS/EIR Sections 4.10.4.4; 7.5.9 and
Final EIR Section 4.10).

Operation: The Hybrid Alternative/SRA would not create potential for a new localized
carbon monoxide violation. The Hybrid Alternative/SRA is not considered a Project
of Air Quality Concern (Appendix F). With implementation of the Clean Air Plan’s
Transportation Control measures (TCMs), the Project would be consistent with the
primary goals of the 2010 Clean Air Plan (Draft EIS/EIR Sections 4.10.4.2; 7.5.9 and
Final EIR Section 4.10).

Cumulative: Pollution is a cumulative impact by its very nature. The Geary BRT
Project would not contribute to an air quality violation or result in a cumulatively
considerable net increase in criteria air pollutants. The maximum construction-related
health risk would not exceed the project-level thresholds. Based on the project-level
thresholds and the low percentage of total health risk, construction activities of the
build alternatives would not contribute considerably to existing health risks. Based on
the project-level thresholds and the low percentage of total health risk, operational
activities would not contribute considerably to existing health risks. Given this, the
Project would not significantly contribute to any cumulatively considerable impacts to
air quality (Draft EIS/EIR Section 5.5.13; 7.5.9 and Final EIR Section 4.10).

Noise and Vibration

Construction Noise: With adherence to the San Francisco Noise Ordinance,
equipping impact tools with both intake and exhaust mufflers, and obtaining a noise

permit for night work from DPW, temporary construction noise effects would not be
significant. (Draft EIS/EIR Sections 4.11.4.3.3; 7.5.11 and Final EIR Section 4.11).

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 17

35



36

GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

b)

11.

b)

12.

b)

Operation: Project-related noise levels would not exceed the FT'A significance criteria.
Thus, Hybrid Alternative operational noise would not result in any adverse effect. No
significant stationary sources of ground-borne vibration would occur. Project-related
traffic vibration levels would not be perceptible by sensitive receptors. Thus,
operational vibration would not result in an adverse effect (Draft EIS/EIR Sections
4.11.4.6; 7.5.11 and Final EIR Section 4.11).

Cumulative: Construction of other anticipated projects would occur along the Geary
corridor; however, it is unlikely that substantial noise and vibration would occur at the
same place and at the same time as construction activity resulting from the
implementation of any of the project alternatives. As such, there would be no adverse
cumulative noise and vibration effects during construction (Draft EIS/EIR Sections
5.5.14; 7.5.11 and Final EIR Section 4.11).

Energy

Construction: Construction of the Hybrid Alternative/SRA would require zndirect
consumption of fossil fuels, labor, and construction materials. These expenditures
would be, for the most part, irrecoverable; however, they are not in short supply, and

their use would not have an adverse effect upon continued availability of these resources
(Draft EIS/EIR Sections 4.12.4.1; 7.8 and Final EIR Section 4.12).

Operation: The Hybrid Alternative/SRA would result in increased bus ridership which
would decrease the total vehicle miles travelled by automobiles. The reductions in direct
energy use would be considered small but beneficial effects (Draft EIS/EIR Sections
4.12.4.2; 7.8 and Final EIR Section 4.12).

Cumulative: Like the Geary BRT Project, other planned land and transportation
development projects in the Geary corridor would require energy consumption for
construction and operation. These other planned and programmed projects would
ultimately result in long-term reductions in energy consumption, particularly resulting
from conversion to a more fuel efficient bus fleet by 2035. Accordingly, the project
alternatives would not result in any cumulative energy effect (Draft EIS/EIR Sections
5.5.15; 7.8 and Final EIR Section 4.12).

Biological Resources

Operation: Given that the study area is located entirely within an urban (developed)
environment with little or no indigenous vegetation, and none of the special-status plant
and animal species are known or expected to occur in the corridor, it is unlikely that
any sensitive or special-status species would be affected by the Hybrid Alternative/SRA
(Draft EIS/EIR Sections 4.13.4.2; 7.5.12 and Final EIR Section 4.13).

Cumulative: Trees removed as a result of implementation of the Hybrid
Alternative/SRA, and other planned projects, would be replaced at the City-ordained
replacement ratio. Therefore, the Hybrid Alternative/SRA would not contribute to a
cumulatively considerable impact to biological resources (Draft EIS/EIR Sections
5.5.16; 7.5.12 and Final EIR Section 4.13).

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 18



GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

B. Less than Significant Impacts; Improvement Measures

In the case of less-than-significant impacts, mitigation is not necessary, but the SFCTA finds that
impacts can be reduced or minimized further through the implementation of certain improvement
measures. These improvement measures would be implemented during Project construction and
operation. These measures would be adopted as part of the Project’s MMRP. The SFCTA finds
that implementation of these improvement measures would further reduce less-than-significant
impacts associated with the below-mentioned areas of environmental concern.

1. Transportation

Operation/Construction:
A) I-PED-1. Include WalkFirst pedestrian safety recommendations where possible.

B) I-PED-2. Use Universal Design principles to inform detailed engineering design,
and enhance access for disabled people.

C) I-PED-3. Include state of the practice bicycle safety and design treatments for the
Masonic-to-Presidio bicycle connection.

D) I-PED-4. Monitor pedestrian safety on ancillary streets to assess if/how changes in
traffic volume affect pedestrian safety.

E) I-PRK-1. Create on-street parking where bus stops are consolidated or relocated.

F) I-PRK-2. Provide any additional on-street parking from lane striping and infill
spaces.

G) I-PRK-3. Where removal of curb spaces is necessary, retention and replacement of
parking spaces for people with disabilities should be prioritized over retention of all
other spaces.

Implementation of I-PED-1 through I-PED-4 would ensure that pedestrian safety is a priority;
both during project construction and operation. Implementation of I-PRK-1 through I-PRK-3
would likewise ensure that the paved space is used as efficiently as possible to create additional
parking, and convenient parking for disabled people.

2. Visual Resources/Aesthetics

Construction

A) I-VQ-2. Development of a consistent palette of street tree types.
B) I-VQ-3. Coordinate station design with long term urban design studies, including
studies for the Divisadero to Laguna segment of the corridor.
A consistent palette of tree types would maximize the visual unity within the Geary corridor, while
coordinating the station design with other localized studies would encourage new visual resources
to be complimentary.

3. Cultural Resources

Construction

A) I-CUL-7. Consider the design, lighting, materials, and colors of the built elements
of the project within close proximity to historic resources.

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 19

37



38

GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

By designing the built elements of the Project with care and consideration, ancillary historic
structures would be complimented or enhanced, as opposed to detracted from.

1. Findings of Potentially Significant Impacts That Can Be Avoided or Reduced
Through Implementation of Mitigation Measures

CEQA requires agencies to adopt mitigation measures that would avoid or substantially lessen a
project’s identified significant impacts or potential significant impacts if such measures are feasible.

These findings in Section III concern mitigation measures identified in the Final EIR, that are
proposed and recommended for adoption by the SFCTA. All mitigation measures identified in the
Final EIR that will reduce or avoid adverse significant environmental impacts are proposed for
adoption, and are set forth in Exhibit 1, in the MMRP. The Draft EIS/EIR discussed potential
strategies to reduce significant impacts of automobile traffic at study intersections and found them
found to be infeasible, and thus inapplicable to the proposed Hybrid Alternative/SRA. Section IV
below summarizes the determinations in the Draft EIS/EIR and explains in more detail why these
strategies cannot feasibly be adopted.

The MMRP (Exhibit 1) is required by CEQA Section 21081.6 and CEQA Guidelines Section
15091. The MMRP serves to identify each feasible mitigation measure listed in the Final EIR which
is required to reduce or avoid a significant adverse environmental impact. The MMRP additionally
identifies the agency responsible for implementation of each measure, the monitoring actions for
each measure, and the compilation of a monitoring schedule. The SFCTA hereby adopts the MMRP
as required by Section 21081.6 of the Public Resources Code.

Mitigation Measures within the Jurisdiction of Other Agencies

The SFCTA has made the determination that the mitigation measures identified in this Section III
can and should be implemented, thus determining the measures to be feasible. SFCTA

acknowledges that the implementation of mitigation measures may fall within the jurisdiction of
other agencies, including but not limited to SEFMTA, FTA, Caltrans, SFDPW, and SHPO".

The SFCTA will enforce the implementation of the mitigation measures by designating a Mitigation
Monitoring Manager to oversee both the monitoring and reporting of all mitigation and
improvement measures. Furthermore, the SFCTA will require that all accountable agencies (listed
in the MMRP) have agreements, or contracts, that guarantee the implementation of the mitigation
and improvement measures.

The SFCTA (or its consultant) may conduct random audits of the construction site and, through
the above-mentioned agreements, will have the authority to resolve any discrepancies or issues that
may arise with other agencies concerning compliance with mitigation and improvement measures.
The SFCTA, by adopting these findings, adopts all of the feasible mitigation and improvement
measures as they are set out in the Final EIR. SFCTA further finds that the mitigation and
improvement measures discussed in this Section are feasible and enforceable through the project
approval actions and will mitigate, reduce, or avoid significant environmental effects of the Project.

7 ‘Caltrans’ is the California Department of Transportation. ‘SFDPW is the San Francisco
Department of Public Works, and ‘SHPO’ is the State Historic Preservation Officer.

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 20



GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

There are no additional mitigation measures available to the Project, other than those identified in
the Final EIR, which would reduce these significant impacts to a level of insignificance.

SFCTA urges the SEFMTA, FTA, Caltrans, SFDPW, SHPO, and NAHC to adopt and implement
the mitigation and improvement measures set forth in the Final EIR that are within the jurisdiction
and responsibility of such entities, and finds that these agencies can and should adopt and participate
in the implementation of the mitigation measures.® Further, the SFCTA intends to enforce the
mitigation measures through its contractual agreements with the SEMTA, FTA and other agencies.
Under the circumstances that mitigation measures are not adopted by such other agencies, one or
more of the additional significant impacts listed below would occur, depending on the nature of the
mitigation measures not implemented.

A. Transportation

Operation: One to three passenger loading spaces will be lost and seven to twelve spaces relocated.

1) A-PRK-4 Where there are multiple options available to relocate lost loading spaces, the
project team shall work with affected land uses, including businesses owners, to identify which
location best meets local loading needs and the purpose and need of the project. If space is
not available to relocate loading spaces, then loading spaces shall be consolidated with existing
nearby loading zones that have additional capacity.

Implementation of this measure would reduce impacts to passenger loading to a less-than-
significant level (Draft EIS/EIR Section 3.6.4.5; Final EIR Section 3.6).

Construction: Several impacts, in the form of traffic congestion, noise, and vibration, will occur to
local businesses and residents during construction of the Project.

2) M-CI-C1. A TMP that includes traffic rerouting, a detour plan, and public information
procedures shall be developed during the design phase with participation from local agencies,
other major project proponents in the area, local communities, business associations, and
affected drivers. Early and well-publicized announcements and other public information
measures would be implemented prior to and during construction to minimize confusion,
inconvenience, and traffic congestion. The TMP shall include at minimum the following
provisions:

e Construction planning shall seek to minimize nighttime construction in residential
areas and minimize daytime construction impacts on retail and commercial areas.

e As part of the TMP public information program, San Francisco Municipal
Transportation Agency (SFMTA) shall coordinate with adjacent properties along
the Geary corridor to determine the need for colored parking spaces (i.e., loading
zones) and work to identify locations for replacement spaces or plan construction
activities to minimize impacts from the loss of these spaces. SFMTA shall also
coordinate with adjacent properties along the Geary corridor to ensure that
pedestrian access to these properties is maintained.

e The TMP shall incorporate SEFMTA’s process for accepting and addressing
complaints. This includes provision of contact information for the Project

8 NAHC’ is the Native American Heritage Commission.

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 21

39



40

GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

Manager, Resident Engineer, and Contractor on project signage with direction to
call if there are any concerns. Complaints would be logged and tracked to ensure
they are addressed.

e The TMP shall identify or otherwise designate adequate passenger and truck
loading zones to be maintained for adjacent land uses, including maintaining
access to driveways and providing adequate loading zones on the same or
adjoining street block face.

Implementation of this measure would reduce construction-related impacts to a less-than-
significant level (Draft EIS/EIR Section 4.2.5.1 Final EIR Section 4.2).

B. Visual Resources

Construction: Temporary disruptions to the visual and aesthetic environment would occur during
Project construction.

1) MIN-VQ-1.

e Project construction shall be phased to reduce the period of disruption at any
particular location to the shortest practical length of time.

e Construction lighting shall be shielded and directed to limit direct illumination to
within the area of work and avoid all light trespass.

* Construction staging and storage areas shall be screened by visually opaque
screening wherever they will be exposed to public view for extended periods of time.

 Implementation of this measure would reduce construction-related visual impacts to
a less-than-significant level (Draft EIS/EIR Sections 4.4.5.1; 7.5.3 Final EIR
Section 4.4).

C. Cultural Resources

Construction. As detailed in Sections 4.5 and 7.5.4 of the Draft EIS/EIR and Final EIR
Section 4.5, archaeological, historic, architectural, and paleontological resources may potentially be
affected by construction-related activities.

1) MIN-CUL-CI. Limit the use of construction equipment that creates high vibration level,
such as vibratory rollers.

2) MIN-CUL-C2. Develop and implement a Vibration Reduction and Minimization Plan,
which would include the identification of vibration-sensitive structures using distance impact
thresholds.

3) MIN-CUL-C3. During advanced conceptual engineering or final design phases, an
individual assessment of vibration-sensitive structures would be conducted where construction
activities and equipment would exceed FTA’s impact distance guidance for category IV
structures.

4) MIN-CUL-C4. Conduct vibration monitoring during construction.

5) A-CUL-C5. Design proposed stations and stops in the vicinity of the Golden Triangle
Streetlights, Japan Center light standards, and components of the AWSS to avoid the removal,
relocation, or damage to these historic structures.

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 22



GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

OR

6) MIN-CUL-C6. In the event that avoidance of the Golden Triangle Streetlights, Japan
Center light standards, and AWSS are infeasible, all effort will be made first for relocation of
such elements within the immediate vicinity of their original location while maintaining
placement (distance) within the sidewalk in respect to curb and/or adjacent buildings. For the
light standards, additional effort would be made to relocate a light standard within the same
block if there is a site where the original light standard has been removed or replaced by modern
standards; and last, relocation to an available site within the historic property boundary where
an original standard has been removed or replaced by modern standards.

7) I-CUL-C7. Harmonize the visual qualities of built elements of the project alternatives
with adjacent historic properties through careful consideration of design, lighting, materials,
and color choices that would complement and be sensitive to nearby historic properties.

8) MIN-CUL-C8. Focused archival research will identify any specific areas within the
APE that may be likely to contain potentially significant remains, and methods and findings
will be documented as an addendum to the current report. The Phase I addendum report
will be submitted to the City’s Environmental Review Officer (ERO) and the SHPO for
concurrence. Research will be initiated once the project’s APE map is finalized identifying
the major Areas of Direct Impact. The Addendum Survey Report would include:

e A contextual and documentary research section that addresses the development of
urban infrastructure that provides a basis for evaluating potential resources as they
relate to the history of San Francisco.

e A cut-and-fill reconstruction of the corridor, comparing the modern versus mid-
1800s ground surface elevations, to fine-tune the initial prehistoric sensitivity
assessment, and refining the location of high-sensitivity locations where
prehistoric remains may be preserved.

e Relevant profiles and plan views of specific blocks to illustrate the methods used
in analyzing available documentation.

e Summary and conclusions to provide detailed information on locations that have
the potential to contain extant historic-era and prehistoric archaeological remains
that might be evaluated as significant resources, if any.

Two results are possible based on documentary research:

* No or low potential for sensitive locations: major Areas of Direct impact have no
potential to retain extant archaeological remains that could be evaluated as
significant resources. No further work would be recommended, beyond
adherence to the Unanticipated Discovery Plan.

e Potential sensitive locations: if major Areas of Direct Impact contain locations
with moderate to high potential to retain extant historic or prehistoric
archaeological remains that could be evaluated as significant resources, further
work would be carried out, detailed in a Testing and Treatment Plan.

9) MIN-CUL-C9. Depending on the results of archival research, in concert with the City’s
ERO, project avoidance areas or, more likely, areas requiring presence/absence
investigations for cultural resources will be identified and fieldwork undertaken following

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 23

41



42

GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

exposure of the ground surface, but prior to construction to identify buried cultural
resources.

10) MIN-CUL-C10. A Testing and Evaluation/Treatment Plan, if required, will provide
archaeological protocols to be employed immediately prior to project construction to test
areas identified as potentially significant or having the potential to contain buried cultural
resources. In case such areas might be unavoidable, minimization measures will be
proposed. The procedures detailed in the Treatment Plan would be finalized in consultation

with the City’s ERO and the SHPO.

For historic-era resources, work would initially entail detailed, focused documentary
research to evaluate the potential significance of any archaeological material identified
during initial research that might be preserved. Significance would be based on the data-
potential of possible remains applied to accepted research designs. Two results could ensue:

e No potentially significant remains: if no locations demonstrate the potential for
significant remains, no further archaeological testing would be recommended.

e Potentially significant remains: if any locations have the potential to contain
significant remains, then appropriate field methods will be proposed, including
compressed testing and data-recovery efforts. Testing will be initiated immediately
prior to construction, when there is access to historic ground levels. Should a site or
site feature be found and evaluated as potentially significant, data recovery would
take place immediately upon discovery if avoidance of the site is still not possible.

e For prehistoric resources, a Treatment Plan will identify relevant research issues for
resource evaluation, and pragmatic methods to identify, evaluate, and conduct data
recovery if needed. This may include a pre-construction geo-archaeological coring
program or a compressed three-phase field effort occurring prior to construction
when the ground surface is accessible.

11) MIN-CUL-C11. Upon completion of all fieldwork, a technical report shall be prepared.
This Final Archaeological Resources Report (FARR) shall document all field and laboratory
methods, analysis, and findings. The FARR shall be subject to review and approval by the
City’s ERO and the SHPO. Copies of the approved FARR shall be submitted to the City’s
ERO, the SHPO, and the Northwest Information Center (NWIC), together with any
associated archaeological site records.

12) MIN-CUL-C12. If buried cultural resources are encountered during construction
activities, construction will be halted and the discovery area isolated and secured until a
qualified archaeologist assesses the nature and significance of the find.

13) MIN-CUL-C13. If human remains are discovered, the County coroner will be notified
as soon as is reasonably possible (CEQA Section 15064.5). There will be no further site
disturbance where the remains were found. If the remains were determined to be Native
American, then the coroner is responsible for contacting the California Native American
Heritage Commission (NAHC) within 24 hours. The NAHC, pursuant to Public Resources
Code (PRC) Section 5097.98 will notify those persons it believes to be the most likely
descendant (MLD). Treatment of the remains will be dependent on the views of the MLD.

14) MIN-CUL-C14. In the event that paleontological resources are encountered during
any phase of project construction, all soil-disturbing activity within 100 feet of the find shall

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 24



GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

be temporarily halted until a qualified paleontologist can assess the significance of the find
and provide proper management recommendations.

With implementation of the mitigation measures above, construction-related impacts to cultural
resources would be reduced to a less-than-significant level (Draft EIS/EIR Section 4.5.5.1; 7.5.4
and Final EIR Section 4.5).

D. Utilities and Service Systems

Construction: As detailed in Sections 4.6 and 7.5.5 of the Draft EIS/EIR and Section 4.6 of
the Final EIR, implementation of the Hybrid Alternative/SRA would involve construction of a
dedicated transit way, station platforms, curb bulbs, center medians, and landscaping that all have
the potential to conflict with public utilities and/or limit access to public utilities by utility providets.
Due to the proximity to existing facilities, some utilities would require relocation or modification
due to direct conflict or to maintain access for utility providers to conduct maintenance, repair, and
upgrade/replacement activities.

1) MIN-UT-1. BRT construction shall be closely coordinated with concurrent utility projects
planned within the Geary corridor.

2) MIN-UT-2. Inspection and evaluation of sewer pipelines within the project limits shall be
undertaken to assess the condition of the pipelines and need for replacement. Drain inlets on
the corridor shall also be inspected to assess condition and confirm functionality. Spot repairs
or minor replacement-in-place of sewers may be performed during construction of the project

if desired by SFPUC and agreed to by SEMTA.

3) MIN-UT-3%. During planning and design, consideration would be given to ensure that
Geary corridor station facilities do not prevent access to the underground AWSS lines.
Adequate access for specialized trucks to park next to gate valves shall be maintained. Gate
valves shall not be located beneath medians, station platforms, or sidewalks.

Operation: The Hybrid Alternative/SRA, once operational, has the potential to conflict with
existing utilities that would be kept in place through Project implementation.

4) MIN-UT-4. In situations where utility facilities are being protected in place, SEFMTA shall
create a plan to accommodate temporary closure of the transitway and/or stations in
coordination with utility providers to allow utility providers to perform maintenance, emergency
repait, and upgrade/replacement of underground facilities that may be located beneath project
features such as the BRT transitway, station platforms, or curb bulbs. Signage for BRT patrons
and safety protocols for Muni operators and utility providers shall be integrated into this plan.

With incorporation of the mitigation measures above, construction and operation-related impacts
to utilities would be reduced to a less-than-significant level (Draft EIS/EIR Section 4.6.4.2.1 and
Final EIR Section 4.6).

? Due to an editing error, MIN-UT-3 and MIN-UT-4 were not included in Chapter 7 of the Draft
EIS/EIR, but were included in Section 4.6.5. They ate applicable to the project and adopted here.

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 25

43



GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

E. Geology/Soils/Seismic/Topography

Construction: As described in Sections 4.7.4.2 and 7.5.6 of the Draft EIS/EIR, and Final EIR
Section 4.7, activities during construction, such as shoring and cutting, have the potential to result
in significant impacts to the surrounding environment.

1) MIN-GE-C1. Shoring will be typically required for all cuts deeper than five feet. Shoring
design of open excavations must consider the potential surcharge load from neighboring
structures. Furthermore, the potential for lateral movement of excavation walls as a result of
earthquake-related surcharge load from nearby structures must also be assessed. The following
shoring and slope stability BMPs will be implemented during construction:

e Heavy construction equipment, building materials, excavated soil, and vehicle
traffic shall be kept away from the edge of excavations, generally a distance equal
to or greater than the depth of the excavation.

e In the event of wet weather, storm runoff shall be prevented from entering the
excavation. Excavation sidewalls can be covered with plastic sheeting, and berms
can be placed around the perimeter of the excavated areas.

e Sidewalks, slabs, pavement, and utilities adjacent to proposed excavations shall be
adequately supported during construction.

Operation: Certain operational components of the Project, such as new paving, pedestrian curbs,
BRT stations, and streetlights, could result in significant adverse impacts to
Geology/Soils/Seismic/Topography.

2) MIN-GE-1: A geotechnical consultant shall review the design of the build alternatives and
offer recommendations best suited to the build alternative carried forward. Any
recommendations provided by the geotechnical consultant shall be incorporated into the final
plans, and are likely to include the following:

MIN-GE-1a. For lightly loaded structures such as bus stops, canopies, and walls,
incorporate geotechnical and/or structural methods to mitigate the effects of
liquefaction on the foundations during final design. The geotechnical mitigation
methods may range from recompaction of the upper material to provision of a
mechanically stabilized earth (MSE) foundation system. The structural mitigation
methods may range from planning for repairs/maintenance after a seismic event to
supporting the improvements on mat foundations or interconnected beam
foundations to tolerate the anticipated seismic settlement without collapse.

MIN-GE-1b. Fill soils shall be overexcavated and replaced with engineered fill as
needed.

MIN-GE-1c. Deeper foundations shall be designed for station platforms and
canopies located in areas of fill or areas mapped as liquefaction areas, as needed.

With implementation of the above mitigation measures, construction and operation-related impacts
to Geology/Soils/Seismic/Topography would be reduced to a less-than-significant level (Draft
EIS/EIR Sections 4.7.4.2; 7.5.6 and Final EIR Section 4.7).

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 26



GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

F. Hazards and Hazardous Materials

Construction: As described in Section 4.8.4.1 of the Draft EIS/EIR and Final EIR Section 4.8,
increased risk of exposure to hazardous substances, such as aerially deposited lead in the soil and
asbestos, would result from construction of the Hybrid Alternative/SRA.

1) MIN-HZ-C1. Prior to construction, a limited Preliminary Site Investigation (Phase I)
shall be performed to investigate hazardous materials concerns related to soil, groundwater,
and construction materials on the Geary corridor, as identified in this section.

Areas where soils will be disturbed during construction shall be sampled and tested for
contaminants specific to the hazardous materials concerns identified in that location. Soil
analytical results shall be screened against the Regional Water Board’s Environmental
Screening Levels (ESLs) and other applicable risk-based standards to determine appropriate
actions to ensure the protection of construction workers, future site users, and the
environment and also be screened against state and federal hazardous waste thresholds to
determine soil management options. Representative samples of exposed shallow soils shall
be collected within 30 feet of the edge of the roadway and analyzed for total lead and soluble
lead. For example, aerially-deposited lead is a potential concern throughout the Geary
corridor, while naturally-occurring asbestos is potentially present in only a small portion of
the Geary corridor. Accordingly, samples in all areas shall be analyzed for total and soluble
lead; samples from excavation areas overlying serpentinite bedrock shall also be analyzed
for asbestos. Additional investigation may be required to fully evaluate potential hazardous
materials issues if concerns are identified during the Preliminary Site Investigation. All
environmental investigations at the project shall be provided to project contractors, so the
findings may be incorporated into their Health and Safety and Hazard Communication
Programs.

2) MIN-HZ-C2. Prior to construction, groundwater shall be collected in areas near
reported hazardous materials release sites and analyzed for TPH and volatile organic
compounds if project excavations were to extend into the groundwater in those areas.
Hazardous materials release sites that have affected groundwater near the Geary corridor
are located at 3675 Geary Boulevard, 450 Mission Street, and 2130 O’Farrell Street.

Additional hazardous materials releases may occur or be discovered in the future. Therefore,
an updated review of regulatory agency records shall be conducted prior to the groundwater
investigation, to ensure that groundwater that will be encountered during construction is
properly investigated.

3) MIN-HZ-C3. A Hazardous Building Materials survey shall be conducted prior to
construction. The survey shall minimally sample traffic paint and structures to be
demolished or modified.

4) MIN-HZ-C4. Based on the findings and recommendations of the Preliminary Site
Investigation, the project may need to implement special soil, groundwater, and
construction materials management and disposal procedures for hazardous materials, as
well as construction worker health and safety measures during construction. In addition to
the findings and recommendations of the Preliminary Site Investigation, the following
measures shall be implemented prior to construction.

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 27

45



46

GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

e Groundwater from dewatering of excavations, if any, should be stored in Baker
tank(s) during construction activities and the water should be characterized prior
to disposal or recycling.

e A construction risk management plan should be implemented by contractors with
procedures for identifying and mitigating potentially unreported releases of
hazardous materials.

With implementation of the above mitigation measures, construction-related impacts resulting from
the handling, transport, and disposal of hazardous substances would be reduced to a less-than-
significant level (Draft EIS/EIR Sections 4.8.5.1; 7.5.7; Final EIR Section 4.8).

G. Hydrology and Water Quality

Construction: As set forth in Section 4.9 of the Draft and Draft EIS/EIR and Final EIR
Section 4.9, increased occurrences of soil erosion, surface water runoff, and soil entrapment would
result from construction-related activities.

1) MIN-HY-C1. Any construction work that adversely affects the combined sewer system
will require coordination with SFPUC, and construction-related activities shall be consistent
with the SFPUC’s Keep it on Site, Pollution Prevention Guide for the Construction Industry.10

2) MIN-HY-1. Landscape areas shall be designed to minimize and reduce total runoff.
Any irrigation and fertilizers shall be used to the minimum extent practicable and feasible.

Implementation of the above mitigation measures would reduce construction-related impacts to
Hydrology and water quality to a less-than-significant level (Draft EIS/EIR Sections 4.9.5.1;7.5.8
and Final EIR Section 4.9)

H. Noise and Vibration

Construction: As set forth in Section 4.10 of the Draft EIS/EIR and Final EIR Section 4.10,
during construction-related activities, noise and vibration impacts would occur due to the use of
certain machinery such as heavy pile drivers etc.

1) MIN-NOISE-C1. A Vibration Reduction and Minimization Plan shall be developed to
avoid construction vibration damage using all reasonable and feasible means available. The
Plan shall provide a procedure for establishing thresholds and limiting vibration values for
structures with a potential to be adversely affected. The following steps shall be taken in
development of the location-specific vibration reduction plan:

e DPotential vibration-sensitive structures shall be identified using the distance
impact thresholds in the final engineering drawings;

e Vibration-sensitive structures shall be individually assessed to identify the
structure’s ability to withstand the loads and displacements due to construction
vibrations;

10'San Francisco Public Utilities Commission. Keep it on Site, Pollution Prevention Guide for the
Construction Industry. Available at:

http:/ /www.sfsewers.org/modules/showdocument.aspx?documentid=290.

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 28


http://www.sfsewers.org/modules/showdocument.aspx?documentid=290

47

GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

e Construction related vibration in proximity to identified vibration-sensitive
historic structures shall not be allowed to exceed the recommended levels set
forth in pertinent FT'A guidance;

e Peak particle velocities shall be monitored and recorded near sensitive receptors
identified where the highest vibration producing activities occur;

e Rubber tired instead of tracked vehicles shall be used near vibration sensitive
areas;

e Pavement breaking shall be prohibited during nighttime hours; and

e Residents within 300 feet of areas where construction activities and pavement
breaking will take place shall be notified at least two weeks in advance of the
proposed activity through the media and mail. A program shall be implemented to
receive and respond to public complaints regarding vibration during construction.

2) MIN-NOISE-C2. Project construction shall implement best practices in equipment
noise control, including the following:

e Use newer equipment with improved noise muffling and ensure that all
equipment items have the manufacturers’ recommended noise abatement
measures, such as mufflers, engine covers, and engine vibration isolators intact
and operational. Newer equipment will generally be quieter in operation than
older equipment. All construction equipment should be inspected at periodic
intervals to ensure proper maintenance and presence of noise control devices
(e.g., mufflers and shrouding).

e Perform all construction in a manner that minimizes noise. Utilize construction
methods or equipment that will provide the lowest level of noise effects.

e Idling times shall be minimized either by shutting equipment off when not in use
or reducing the maximum idling time to 5 minutes.

e Impact tools and equipment, such as jack hammers, shall have intake exhaust
mufflers and acoustically attenuating shields or shrouds recommended by the
manufacturers and approved by the Director of Public Works or the Director of
Building Inspection.

3) MIN-NOISE-C3. Project construction will conduct truck loading, unloading, and
hauling operations so that noise and vibration are kept to a minimum by carefully
selecting routes to avoid passing through residential neighborhoods to the greatest
possible extent.

4) MIN-NOISE-C4. Perform independent noise monitoring in sensitive areas, as
needed, to demonstrate compliance with applicable noise limits. Require contractors to
modify and/or reschedule their construction activities if monitoting determines that
maximum limits are exceeded at residential land uses per the City Noise Ordinance.

5) MIN-NOISE-C5. Temporary sound walls, curtains, or other noise canceling
technologies may be used in locations where sensitive receptors could experience
construction-related noise exceedances.

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 29



43

GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

With implementation of the above mitigation measures, construction-related impacts resulting from
increased noise and vibration would be reduced to a less-than-significant level (Draft EIS/EIR
Section 4.11.5; 7.5.11; Final EIR Section 4.1).

l. Biological Resources

Construction: As described more fully in Section 4.13 of the Draft and Draft EIS/EIR and
Final EIR Section 4.13, in order to implement the Hybrid Alternative/SRA, several existing trees
would have to be removed during construction-related activities.

1) MIN-BO-C1. Mature trees shall be preserved and incorporated into the project
landscape plan as feasible, as well as the planting of replacement trees and landscaping. For
each tree removed, a replacement tree is required.

2) MIN-BO-C2. To preclude potential effects under the MBTA, tree removal shall occur
outside nesting bird season (February 1 through August 31). Regardless of time of year,
preconstruction surveys shall be performed prior to tree removal to determine occurrence
of nesting birds. If active protected bird nests are encountered during preconstruction
surveys, no-disturbance buffers would be created around active protected bird and/or
raptor nests during the breeding season, or until it is determined that all young have fledged.
Typical buffers include 500 feet for raptors and 50 feet for passerine nesting birds. The size
of the buffer zones and types of construction activities restricted in these areas may be
further modified during consultation with CDFW, and shall be based on existing noise and
human disturbance levels at the project site. Nests initiated during construction are
presumed to be unaffected, and no buffer will be necessary. The “take” of any individual
protected birds shall be prohibited. Monitoring of active nests when construction activities
encroach upon established buffers may be required by CDFW.

3) MIN-BO-C3. Seed palettes used for revegetation of disturbed areas shall be reviewed
to prevent introduction of invasive species to the site. Follow-up site maintenance shall
include a protocol for landscaping staff to recognize weeds and perform maintenance in a
manner that prevents weed establishment.

With implementation of the above mitigation measures, construction-related impacts to biological
resources would be reduced to a less-than-significant level (Draft EIS/EIR Section 4.13.5; 7.5.12
and Final EIR Section 4.13).

IV.  Significant Impacts that Cannot Be Avoided or Reduced to A Less-Than-
Significant Level; Mitigation Measures Rejected as Infeasible

Based on substantial evidence in the whole record of these proceedings, the SFCTA finds that,
where feasible, changes or alterations have been required, or incorporated into, the Project to reduce
significant environmental impacts listed below as identified in the Draft EIS/EIR. The SFCTA
hereby adopts all the above-mentioned feasible mitigation measures (Section III) found in the Draft
EIS/EIR, which are relevant to the Project and thereby set forth in the MMRP (Exhibit 1). As
discussed in the Draft EIS/EIR, standard strategies to reduce significant transportation level of
service impacts are infeasible. These strategies are discussed herein for informational purposes. To
the extent required, the SFCTA specifically finds that there is substantial evidence that for the
specific economic, legal, social, technological, or other considerations set forth in these findings and
in the Draft EIS/EIR, the Final EIR and the whole record make these strategies infeasible. The
SFCTA therefore rejects these measures, and the effects resultantly remain significant and

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 30



GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

unavoidable. Based on the analysis within the Final EIR, other considerations in the record, and the
standards of significance, the SFCTA finds that because some facets of the Project would cause
potentially significant impacts for which feasible mitigation measures are not available to reduce the
impact to a less-than-significant level, the impacts are significant and unavoidable.

The SFCTA determines that the following significant impacts on the environment, as illustrated in
the Final EIR, are unavoidable; however, under Public Resources Code Section 21081(a)(3) and (b),
and CEQA Guidelines 15092(a)(3), 15092(b)(2)(B), and 15093, the SFCTA determines that the
impacts are acceptable due to overriding considerations described in Section VI below. This finding
is supported by substantial evidence found in the record of this proceeding.

A. Traffic Impacts in 2020 (Existing Conditions Plus project)

The Hybrid Alternative/SRA would cause adverse effects at four study intersections in 2020; three
on-corridor intersections and one off-corridor intersection. The Draft EIS/EIR found that the
typical strategies used to avoid these impacts were infeasible, and the SFCTA confirms this
determination for the reasons stated below in Section IV.C. Project features and the mitigation
measure in the form of traffic management strategies described above in Section IILA 2 (M-CI-
C1) may reduce these impacts, but the impacts would remain significant and unavoidable at these
intersections:

e Laguna Street and Geary Boulevard

e Gough Street and Geary Boulevard

e Van Ness Avenue and Geary Boulevard

e Fulton Street and Stanyan Street

B. Traffic Impacts in 2035 (Cumulative Conditions Plus Project)

The Project-specific impacts in 2020 would make a considerable contribution to cumulative traffic
impacts in 2035 at the 8 intersections listed below. The Draft EIS/EIR found that the typical
strategies typically used to reduce traffic level of service impacts are infeasible, and the SFCTA
confirms that these strategies are infeasible, and to the extent required, hereby rejects them for the
reasons stated in Section IV.C. Project features and the mitigation measure in the form of traffic
management strategies described above in Section III.A.2 (M-CI-C1) may reduce these impacts,
but the impact would remain significant and unavoidable.

e Parker Street and Geary Boulevard

e Laguna Street and Geary Boulevard

e Gough Street and Geary Boulevard

e Van Ness Avenue and Geary Boulevard

e California Street and Arguello Boulevard

e California Street and Presidio Avenue

e Fulton Street and Stanyan Street

e Anza Street and Park Presidio Boulevard

C. Traffic Related Strategies Rejected as Infeasible

As discussed in the Draft EIS/EIR, typical strategies to reduce significant transportation level of
service impacts are infeasible at the above intersections. These measures are discussed herein for

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 31

49



50

GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

informational purposes. In addition, to the extent necessary by law, SEFCTA hereby finds that there
is substantial evidence that for specific economic, social, technological, or other considerations
mentioned below, the following strategies are infeasible and are therefore rejected.

Under standard practice, impacts related to traffic congestion can be reduced or eliminated by
adding travel lanes or otherwise increasing vehicular capacity through use of tow-away or temporary
no parking lanes and/or adjusting signal timing. However, these types of measures are often
infeasible in dense, urban and built-out environments: increased automobile capacity is often
ineffective in the long-run due to the risk of induced demand; providing additional travel lanes or
otherwise increasing vehicular capacity at some intersections would require narrowing sidewalks to
deficient widths and/or acquisition and demolition of adjacent buildings; signal timing adjustments
may improve intersection operations, but major timing changes are often infeasible due to traffic,
transit, or pedestrian signal timing requirements at the impacted intersection or adjacent
(downstream or upstream) intersections; use of tow away zones or other parking prohibitions to
add through lanes or turn pockets, can worsen pedestrian conditions by eliminating the buffer
between pedestrians and moving traffic that on-street parking or loading provides. This would
increase exposure of pedestrians at intersections which would not support project goals for
pedestrian comfort and safety, particularly where concurrent transit travel times are not improved.

As noted in Section 3.4.5 of the Draft EIS/EIR, the specific reasons the types of strategies typically
used in standard practices are infeasible at the following intersections are as follows:

* All Intersections on Geary Boulevard (Geary and Laguna; Gough; Van
Ness)(2020): Along Geary Boulevard, providing additional travel lanes or otherwise
increasing vehicular capacity would require removal of the proposed bus-only lanes,
narrowing the adjacent sidewalks and/or acquisition and demolition of adjacent
buildings due to the limited street right-of-way.

Fulton Street and Stanyan Street (2020; 2035): At this intersection, providing
additional travel lanes or otherwise increasing vehicular capacity at this intersection
would require natrowing sidewalks and/or acquisition and demolition of adjacent
buildings due to the street limited right-of-way.

* All Intersections on Geary Boulevard 2035 (Geary and
Parker/Laguna/Gough/Van Ness): Along Geary Boulevard, providing
additional travel lanes or otherwise increasing vehicular capacity would require
removal of the proposed bus-only lanes, natrowing sidewalks and/or acquisition and
demolition of adjacent buildings due to the limited street right-of-way.

California Street and Arguello Boulevard 2035: At this intersection, restricting
eastbound, or eastbound and westbound left turns during peak hours would
substantially reduce adverse effects, but would also require those vehicles that need
to travel in the north or southbound direction to turn left either prior to the
California/Arguello intersection, or by making a series of right turns. This would
divert traffic onto smaller residential streets, which may not have sufficient capacity
and would not support policies discouraging the use of smaller residential streets.

California Street and Presidio Avenue 2035: At this intersection, increasing signal
cycle lengths and optimizing the timing of each signal phase would substantially
reduce adverse effects to vehicular traffic, but would adversely impact pedestrian

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 32



GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

wait times, transit travel times, and traffic through-put at the intersection and at
adjacent intersections.

» Anza Street and Park Presidio Boulevard 2035: At this intersection, providing
additional eastbound and westbound travel lanes would be possible by reconfiguring
the eastbound and westbound approaches to add capacity, but would require
removal of parking, reduction of sidewalk widths, and/or adding right-turn pockets
directly adjacent to sidewalks.

For the reasons stated above, SFCTA finds that the project incorporates all feasible mitigation
measures which would eliminate or substantially lessen all significant effects on the environment.
The SFCTA confirms that the strategies outlined in the Draft EIS/EIR and found to be infeasible
for the reasons set forth above are rejected.

The remaining significant and unavoidable impacts at the intersections listed above are found to be
acceptable due to the overriding considerations set forth below.

V. Evaluation of Project Alternatives

This Section V describes the Hybrid Alternative/SRA as well as the alternatives identified and
analyzed in the Final EIR, and the reasons for adopting the Hybrid Alternative/SRA and the reasons
for rejecting the other alternatives in the Final EIR as infeasible. This section defines the Project’s
purpose, and provides the context for understanding the reasons for accepting and/or rejecting

specific alternatives, as well as describes the Project alternative components analyzed within the
Final EIR.

CEQA mandates that an EIR evaluate a reasonable range of alternatives, either to the Project or to
the Project location, that generally reduce or avoid potentially significant impacts occurring as a
result of Project implementation. CEQA further mandates that each EIR evaluate a ‘No Project’
alternative, which considers the relative progression of environmental conditions without the
Project’s potential impacts. Alternatives provide a basis of comparison to the Project in terms of
beneficial, significant, and unavoidable impacts. This comparative analysis is used to determine
reasonable, and feasible, mitigation measures for the Project. The SFCTA Board has given each
proposed alternative careful consideration, and rejects the Final EIR alternatives that are not
selected for approval due to their being infeasible for the specific economic, legal, social,
technological, or other considerations outlined herein.

A. Reasons for Selection of the Project

As discussed above in Section I, the Project is based on the Hybrid Alternative/SRA analyzed in
the Final EIR. The SFCTA has undertaken a detailed process in selecting the Hybrid
Alternative/SRA. The agency first identified the need for BRT in the Geary Corridor in the
Proposition-K expenditure plan in 2003 and the 2004 Countywide Transportation Plan.

The ‘Geary Corridor BRT Feasibility Study,” completed in 2007, identified the primary objectives
of the Project to be:

 To improve the reliability and speed of transit within the Geary corridor, in order to
promote higher ridership and competitiveness with other travel modes.

 To improve the existing unfavorable pedestrian conditions — especially west of
Gough Street and throughout the Richmond District.

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 33

o1


http://www.sfcta.org/sites/default/files/content/Planning/GearyCorridorBusRapidTransit/Geary_App_A.pdf

52

GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

¢ To provide a high-quality passenger experience within the corridor, comprising
improvements to the streets and surrounding streetscapes.

The Feasibility Study also considered an initial set of BRT design alternatives.

To narrow down a set of build alternatives for environmental evaluation, the SFCTA prepared an
‘Alternatives Screening Report’ in May 2009. The project team conducted further alternatives
development and screening, documented in the 2014 Geary Bus Rapid Transit Design Options Screening
Report. These analysis rounds used the following criteria to evaluate potential options and screen
them for fatal flaws:

» Traffic conditions, including congestion, diversions, circulation, access, and parking and
loading conditions

e Transit travel time, reliability, and passenger experience and access
e Pedestrian access, safety, and streetscape design

* Bicycle safety and connectivity

* Rail readiness

e Capital and operating costs

e Impacts to Muni operations

e Construction impacts

In developing the Hybrid Alternative/SRA for approval, the SFCTA has carefully considered the
extent to which the Hybrid Alternative/SRA meets the objectives of the Project, its attributes, and
the environmental effects of the Project. Furthermore, the SFCTA has considered factors of
importance to Project stakeholders, including public and Agency comments received during the
Draft EIS/EIR public comment period, and further input from the Geary BRT Citizens Advisory
Committee.

In identifying the Hybrid Alternative/SRA, the SFCTA went through an alternatives performance
evaluation process. As explained in Section 10.2 of the Final EIR, the SFCTA developed a list of
seven key areas, each of which includes multiple indicators (see Section 10.2 of the Draft EIS/EIR).
These indicators, listed below, were selected because they: 1) are related to the project need and
purpose or to key issues identified by the public and other stakeholders, and 2) show varying levels
of performance between the build alternatives and so facilitate selection of a single alternative as
the LPA. These factors served as the main consideration in evaluating alternatives for adoption.
These key areas, and indicators, are described as follows:

e Transit performance

o Vehicle travel time — The bus PM peak travel time, local and BRT.

o Reliability — The difference between average and 95t percentile bus travel
time.

o Ridership — Daily boarding for all Geary lines.
e System performance

o Person delay (auto and transit) — PM peak delay per person per intersection
along the Geary corridor.

o Diversions — Increase in PM peak hour traffic on nearby parallel streets.

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 34


http://www.sfcta.org/sites/default/files/content/Planning/GearyCorridorBusRapidTransit/GearyAltsScreeningReport_Final.pdf

GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

e Environmental and Social effects
o Parking opportunities — Change in number of curb spaces (all types)

o Trees and landscaping provided — Percent of existing trees retained, and the
median area available for landscaping opportunities.

¢ Pedestrian access and safety

o Ease of access to stops — Average maximum walk to closest local stop, and
average maximum walk to closest BRT stop.

o Pedestrian safety improvements — Opportunity for pedestrian curb bulbs in
optional locations, and the elimination of permissive left turn signals or
conversion to protected phase signals.

e Rail readiness

o Ease of conversion to rail — The extent of future construction to
accommodate rail service.

e Cost
o Construction costs — Total construction costs.

o Operation and maintenance costs — Annual operating costs, combined with
annual maintenance costs.

e Construction Impacts
o Access to business during construction — Length of construction duration.

The evaluation process identified the strengths and weaknesses of each build alternative, and
identified some alternatives with fatal flaws.

The project team evaluated and compared these remaining alternatives, as well as the No Build
Alternative, according to the performance indicators listed above. A summary of the analysis, which
is more fully set forth in Section 10.3.6, results follows.

Transit travel time. Throughout the corridor, the build alternatives would reduce Rapid bus travel
times by about 9 minutes in 2020 compared to the No Build scenario. The Hybrid Alternative would
be slightly faster than Alternative 2, although slightly slower than Alternative 3.

Transit reliability. Transit reliability is measured using the difference between the average bus
travel time in each alternative and the 95th percentile travel time, which for a weekday round-trip
commuter would approximately correspond to the worst travel time experienced on any one
commute journey over a two-week period. The build alternatives would reduce 95th percentile
additional travel time for limited/BRT service by between 1 about 1.5 minutes relative to the No
Build alternative, representing a 20% or better reliability improvement. Differences between build
alternatives would be relatively small.

Ridership. In 2020, the Hybrid Alternative is projected to increase ridership in the corridor by
approximately 12 percent relative to the No Build Alternative. Alternative 2 would increase ridership
by about 9 percent over the No Build Alternative. Alternative 3 and 3Additional service provided
with the build alternatives would accommodate these new riders without increasing crowding.

Person-delay. Person-delay, or the total hours that all auto and transit users spend in delay during
the peak period, provides a measure of overall transportation system efficiency and performance in

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 35

53



24

GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

the corridor. The measure includes all intersections along the corridor between Van Ness Avenue
and 25th Avenue. The Hybrid Alternative would reduce delay by 12 percent compared to the No
Build Alternative, while Alternative 2 would reduce delay by 16 percent.

Diversions. With fewer mixed traffic lanes on Geary Boulevard with the proposed BRT project,
some drivers are expected to use other parallel routes to reach their destinations. These diversions
are projected to be greatest in the section of the corridor near Masonic Avenue. In this area, traffic
on nearby parallel streets (between Fulton Street and the Presidio) with the Hybrid Alternative
would increase by an estimated average of 7 percent in the PM peak hour in 2020 relative to
projected volumes in the No Build scenario. The diversion rate with Alternative 2 is expected to be
approximately 4 percent.

Parking Preservation. The build alternatives would result in elimination of on-street parking
spaces in at least some portions of the corridor. Alternative 2 would remove approximately 27
percent of spaces on the Geary Corridor itself, or about 4 percent of the total public parking supply
within one to two blocks of the corridor. The Hybrid Alternative would remove less parking, a total
of 22 percent of spaces on the streets comprising the Geary Corridor or about 3 percent of the total
nearby public parking supply. While Alternative 2 would have parking losses distributed throughout
the corridor, the Hybrid Alternative would minimize the number of spaces lost in the Richmond
District between Arguello Boulevard and 25t Avenue, the core of a retail district with very limited
off-street parking supplies.

Existing trees retained. The build alternatives considered would retain most of the existing trees
corridor-wide, but some would need to be removed and replaced in order to accommodate street
reconfigurations. Alternative 2 would result in the removal of up to 156 trees, while the Hybrid
would remove up to 195 existing trees.

Median landscaping area. The Hybrid Alternative would increase the amount of landscaped
median area in the corridor from 3.1 acres to 3.5 acres, a 13 percent increase, by replacing the
existing single median with two new medians between approximately Palm Avenue and 27t
Avenue. Alternative 2 would provide approximately the same amount of median area as the No
Build alternative.

Average stop spacing. The build alternatives include fewer bus stops than currently exist and
would continue to exist with the No Build Alternative. Most notably, the Hybrid Alternative would
consolidate local and BRT stops between Arguello Boulevard and 34th Avenue. As a result, it would
increase the average spacing between local stops from 720 feet to 1,190 feet, while average spacing
between Rapid/BRT stops would increase from 1,540 to 1,740 feet. Alternative 2 would result in
higher average spacing between BRT stops, but less change in the average distance to local stops.

Pedestrian safety improvements. The build alternatives would include pedestrian safety
improvements along the Geary corridor, including installation of new corner bulbs to reduce
crossing distances, new pedestrian crossing signals, and traffic signal upgrades. The Hybrid
Alternative would provide additional benefits in the Palm to 27th Avenue section of the corridor
due to proposed signal upgrades and protected left turn phases. Alternative 2 would include 65 new
curb bulbs, while the Hybrid Alternative would include 91 new curb bulbs. The Hybrid Alternative
configuration would also provide more design flexibility to place bulbs in the most advantageous
locations for pedestrian safety.

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 36



GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

Rail-readiness. The Hybrid Alternative would best facilitate future conversion to rail service in the
Palm to 27th Avenue portion of the corridor due to its center-running alignment and consolidated
stops. Outside that segment, the build alternatives would not differ; all would require substantial
construction to construct rail, but none would preclude the possibility of doing so.

Capital costs. In terms of capital construction costs, Alternative 2 would be less expensive than
the Hybrid Alternative because it would utilize much of the existing pavement and reuse most of
the existing median, while the Hybrid Alternative would require replacement of the existing single
median in the Richmond with new bus lanes and dual medians.

Operating costs. The annual cost to operate bus service on the Geary corridor is expected to
increase over time due to increasing traffic congestion and the need to accommodate higher
ridership. By 2020, the service is estimated to cost $36.7 million annually to operate with the No
Build scenario. The build alternatives would improve bus travel time and reliability, attracting
additional riders and necessitating further increases in service frequency to accommodate them.
With both Alternative 2 and the Hybrid Alternative, the annual operating cost is expected to
increase to nearly $50 million.

Total construction duration. The recommended construction approach would involve
construction on multiple work zones of several blocks each in order to minimize the length of
disruption on any one block. Thus, construction in any individual work zone would generally be
shorter than the length of time required to construct the entire project. Construction durations for
the overall project would vary from 21 months for Alternative 2 to 23 months for the Hybrid
Alternative.

In addition to the above evaluation indicators, the SFCTA compared the build alternatives in terms
of environmental impacts. Except for traffic impacts, there were no significant and unavoidable
impacts among the project build alternatives for most of the environmental factors that were
considered. As to traffic impacts, the distinguishing differences among the alternatives were
identified:

Traffic operations/delay at intersections. As detailed in Section 3.4 of the Draft EIS/EIR
and Final EIR Section 4.13, fewer intersections would experience undesirable levels of traffic
delay with any of the build alternatives than under the No Build Alternative. However, all build

alternatives would result significant impacts related to LOS at on- and off-corridor intersections in
the years 2020 and 2035.

Alternative 2

e 2020: 1 on-corridor and 1 off-corridor intersection
e 2035: 4 on-corridor and 1 off-corridor intersections

Alternative 3

e 2020: 2 on-corridor and 1 off-corridor intersection
e 2035: 4 on-corridor and 5 off-corridor intersections

Alternative 3-Consolidated

e 2020: 1 on-corridor and 1 off-corridor intersection

e 2035: 3 on-corridor and 6 off-corridor intersections

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 37

95



56

GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

Hybrid Alternative

e 2020: 3 on-corridor and 1 off-corridor intersection
e 2035: 4 on-corridor and 4 off-corridor intersections

As discussed in Draft EIS/EIR Section 3.4.5, as there are no feasible measures by which to reduce
or eliminate these intersection LOS impacts, all of the above impacts would be considered
significant and unavoidable.

Through the process of conducting the above analysis, SFCTA staff engaged in a collaborative
process with SEMTA staff to consider the performance of the alternatives under consideration and
identify the alternative that best meets the project need and purpose. This process included an
extensive public outreach process in 2013 and 2014, with three public open houses and meetings
with more than 25 community stakeholder groups, to collect input on the alternatives. Based on the
analysis of performance and public input received, the Draft EIS/EIR identified the Hybrid
Alternative/SRA as the staff-recommended Locally Preferred Alternative.

Between the Hybrid Alternative/SRA and Alternative 2, 3 and 3C, the Hybrid Alternative/SRA
would provide the most significant improvements to transit performance and the greatest
improvement to pedestrian safety in the corridor, and therefore best meet the project need and
purpose. The Hybrid Alternative would result in more intersections with undesirable traffic delays
than Alternative 2 and related significant and unavoidable environmental impacts, but would still
have fewer intersections with undesirable traffic delays than would exist with the No Build
Alternative. The Hybrid Alternative would remove less parking than Alternative 2, particularly in
the neighborhoods along the corridor where merchants are most concerned about parking loss.
Lastly, while the Hybrid Alternative would result in more existing tree loss than Alternative 2, it
would provide more are and opportunities for new median landscaping.

The Hybrid Alternative is also the environmentally superior alternative, because it would result in
the fewest long-term environmental impacts of any of the project alternatives. The Hybrid
Alternative would result in significant unavoidable impacts to signalized intersection level of service;
however, this impact would also be significant and unavoidable with implementation of the No
Build and any of the build alternatives.

The Hybrid Alternative would be the environmentally superior alternative for the following reasons:

e The Hybrid Alternative would result in the greatest reduction in operational GHG
emissions relative to the No Build Alternative.

 The Hybrid Alternative would have reduced air quality and noise and vibration
impacts to sensitive receptors relative to Alternative 2 given its center-running bus-
only segments.

B. Alternatives Rejected and Reasons for Rejection

The SFCTA rejects as infeasible the alternatives set forth in the Draft EIS/EIR and Final EIR and
listed below, because the SFCTA finds that there is substantial evidence, including evidence of
economic, legal, social, technological, and other considerations described in Section VI below under
CEQA Guidelines 15091 (a)(3), that make infeasible such alternatives.

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 38



GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

1. The No Build Alternative

The No Build Alternative is rejected as infeasible due to its poor performance as it pertains to
meeting the Project’s purpose and need. The performance evaluation process, summarized above
and detailed in Section 10.2 of the Draft EIS/EIR and Final EIR Section 4.13, demonstrates
that the No Build Alternative fails to perform well when compared to the other Alternatives, and
does not compete in regard to the factors applicable to the Project’s objective. Most notably, the
No Build Alternative performed worst in transit performance and pedestrian safety, both key
elements of the Project purpose and need.

With regard to environmental factors, the No Build Alternative would avoid many of the
construction-related impacts and costs associated with the Project, including traffic effects, parking
restrictions, and the removal of trees, although some previously planned improvements for the
Geary corridor, would have construction-related impacts. Although traffic conditions at
intersections within the Geary corridor would worsen under the Hybrid Alternative, these
conditions would be comparatively worse in the long run under the No Build Alternative than under
any of the build alternatives. Under the No Build Alternative, there would be adverse effects at ten
study intersections in 2020 and 21 study intersections in 2035, whereas the Hybrid Alternative/SRA
would impact far fewer intersections - four intersections in 2020 and eight intersections in 2035.
Given this, fewer intersections would experience unacceptable levels of service under the Hybrid
Alternative/SRA than under the No Build Alternative.

In addition, the No Build Alternative does not meet the Project Objectives to improve transit
service in the Geary corridor in order to promote high ridership and competitiveness with other
travel modes, does not create favorable pedestrian conditions, or provide a high quality transit
passenger experience.

2. Build Alternative 2: Side-Lane BRT

The alternatives evaluation showed that Alternative 2 had the best performance for some project
effects, including the fewest congested intersections and less person-delay and diverted traffic than
the Hybrid Alternative. Alternative 2 would result in the fewest existing trees removed. It also would
have the lowest construction cost of the build alternatives, with an estimated cost of $170M, which
came in approximately 43 percent cheaper than the Hybrid Alternative. Although Alternative 2
performed well in the above-mentioned areas, the alternative did not perform as well as the Hybrid
Alternative in regard to several areas that are core elements of the Project’s purpose and need,
including transit travel time, reliability, and ridership, as well as the number and quality of pedestrian
safety improvements included. Alternative 2 would also not perform as well as the Hybrid in terms
of the amount of parking preserved in the corridor, particularly in the key Richmond business
district, or in terms of the amount of median space available for landscaping.

After consideration of environmental impacts within the alternatives evaluation process, including
consideration of stakeholder, agency, and public comments, Build Alternative 2 is rejected as
infeasible because it would not achieve the Project’s purpose and need, specifically to improve
transit performance and pedestrian conditions, to the extent that the Hybrid Alternative/SRA
would. Given this, Alternative 2 is rejected as infeasible.

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 39

¥4



58

GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

3. Alternative 3: Center-Lane BRT with Dual Medians and Passing
Lanes

Alternative 3 would offer several advantages relative to the Hybrid Alternative, including the best
transit travel time and reliability of all alternatives. However, Alternative 3 is rejected as infeasible
because it includes center-running bus-only lanes through the Fillmore and Masonic areas.

Alternative 3 (and 3C) includes the restoration of a surface street at the Fillmore underpass.
However, filling the underpass is considered infeasible and rejected: Filling the underpass would
require a longer community process to obtain consensus on a refined new street design, then
additional time for engineering design and construction. A time estimate for these steps places
construction completion beyond 2020. This would result in unacceptable delays to the Geary BRT
project.

Alternative 3 (and 3C) included center-running BRT lanes through the Masonic underpass Center
BRT lanes at Masonic would result in a poor passenger waiting experience in several ways, largely
as a result of the location of the BRT platforms below grade in the existing trench adjacent to the
underpass. This location would result in poor visibility of the station from its surroundings, as well
as a noisy and windy passenger waiting environment. Members of the public and of the Project
Citizens Advisory Committee had significant concerns about these personal security and comfort
issues. Wayfinding would be more challenging with the center-running stop configuration, because
the eastbound BRT station would be located just west of Masonic Avenue, while the westbound
station would be just east of Presidio Avenue, a block away, and both would be below grade.

Vertical circulation could also become a challenge in the future. Due to the width of the platforms,
only a single elevator and a relatively narrow set of stairs could be accommodated to serve passenger
access needs at the end of each platform adjacent to the Masonic underpass. Ridership projections
indicate that this capacity would be sufficient to accommodate expected passenger flows in the
opening and horizon years of the project, but if ridership at the station were higher than expected
or continued to grow beyond 2035, modifications to increase capacity could be needed. Due to the
limited width of the underpass, constructing additional access infrastructure would likely necessitate
removing the remaining westbound mixed traffic lane through the underpass, resulting in additional
traffic on the surface.

Finally, center BRT lanes at Masonic would require all but one westbound traffic lane to be at the
surface, which would increase congestion and diversions to parallel streets while increasing conflicts
with pedestrians and bicyclists.

Finally, Alternative 3 would cost $430 million, substantially more than the Hybrid Alternative,
creating a major funding challenge since it would cost more than the Federal Small Starts program
maximum of $300 million and would have a much larger funding gap. Given these funding issues
and the issues with center-running BRT lanes at Fillmore Street and Masonic Avenue, Alternative
3 is rejected as infeasible.

4, Alternative 3-Consolidated: Center-Lane BRT with Consolidated
Bus Stops, Dual Medians, and No Passing Lanes.

Alternative 3-Consolidated would provide better transit travel times, reliability, and ridership than
the Hybrid Alternative/SRA, and would also preserve the most patking in the corridor. However,
Alternative 3C includes center-running BRT lanes through the Fillmore and Masonic areas, and
thus has the same issues as Alternative 3. Alternative 3-Consolidated would likewise result in a delay

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 40



GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

in project implementation necessary to fill the Fillmore underpass, and a poor passenger experience
and other issues at Masonic. Alternative 3-Consolidated would cost $435 million, the most of any
alternative and resulting in a major funding challenge. Therefore, for the same reasons as set forth
above for Alternative 3, Alternative 3-Consolidated is rejected as infeasible.

5. Rejection of Additional Alternatives

During the term of analysis of the Geary BRT Project, including the previous rounds of planning
design and analysis, as outlined in Chapter 10 of the Draft EIS/EIR, and during the Draft
EIS/EIR comment period, additional alternatives and configurations were proposed, including
those by various property owners, residents and commentators. These alternatives included light
rail and subway options, improvements to other parallel corridors, and various design alternatives
to bus only lanes or bus rapid transit lanes or segments thereof (see, e.g Draft EIS/EIR at Section
10.2 and Final EIR at Appendix B at B.2.2.1). As presented in the record, the Draft EIS/EIR and
Final EIR reviewed a reasonable range of alternatives, and CEQA does not require the project
sponsor to consider every proposed alternative, so long as the CEQA requirements for alternatives
analysis have been studied. For the economic, legal, social, technological, and other reasons set
forth above, set forth in Chapter 10 of the Draft EIS/EIR, and/or as set forth in response to
comments on the Draft EIS/EIR (Final EIR at Appendix B), these alternatives are hereby rejected
as infeasible.

VI.  Statement of Overriding Considerations

Pursuant to CEQA Section 21081, CEQA Guideline 15093, and Chapter 31, SFCTA hereby finds,
after consideration of the Draft EIS/EIR and the Final EIR and the evidence in the record, that
each of the overriding economic, legal, social, technological, and other benefits of the Project, as
set forth below, independently and collectively outweighs the significant and unavoidable impacts
of the Project, and is an overriding consideration warranting approval of the Project.

Additionally, SFCTA finds that the mitigation measures and alternatives to the Project that have
been rejected, were rejected for legitimate and unavoidable economic, legal, social, technological,
and other considerations in addition to those reasons explained throughout this document. The
specific reasons for these findings are based on substantial evidence within the record including,
but not limited to, the documents referenced herein.

On the basis of the above findings and the substantial evidence within the entire record, the SFCTA
specifically finds, and hereby declares this statement of overriding considerations.

The Project proposed has been objectively evaluated, and found to provide numerous benefits
related to transit performance, passenger experience, access, and pedestrian safety, streetscapes,
system performance, and operation and maintenance, as described below.

Transit Performance

The Project would significantly improve transit travel time, reliability, and ridership along the Geary
corridor. In 2020, the Hybrid Alternative/SRA would reduce BRT/Rapid transit travel times by 9
minutes compared to the No Build Alternative, a reduction of 24 percent between Market Street
and 33 Avenue. Travel time savings in future years would be greater. Among other features, the
Hybrid Alternative/SRA would include bus-only lanes, more frequent transit service, optimized
signal timing, upgraded signal priority for transit vehicles and the addition of new right-turn pockets
at key locations. Reliability would also improve with the Hybrid Alternative/SRA by an estimated

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 41

59



60

GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

20 percent or more, while ridership would increase by 12 percent compared to the No Build
Alternative.

Passenger Experience

The proposed project offers numerous benefits to the passenger experience when compared to
both existing conditions and the No Build Alternative. High quality bus stations would be provided,
each with shelters, seating, vehicle arrival time information, and other amenities including protective
railings as appropriate. Stations at Rapid/BRT service stops would allow buses to pull straight
against the platform without weaving toward the curb. The platforms would be large enough to
comfortably accommodate waiting passengers, long enough to load two BRT vehicles, and designed
to provide Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) accessibility.

Access and Pedestrian Safety

The project would incorporate features to increase pedestrian safety at intersections, including
pedestrian countdown signals, additional curb bulbs, and median refuges to reduce crossing
distances at intersections and increase safety. New crosswalks would be added at several locations
where they are currently missing. Reduced left-turn movements in the Richmond together with
protected turn phases at remaining left turns would reduce conflicts between left-turning traffic and
pedestrians. All traffic signals would be retimed to meet local and federal standards for minimum
pedestrian crossing speed and countdown signals would be provided at all intersections to give
pedestrians more information about when it is safe to cross. At some intersections, Leading
Pedestrian Intervals would give pedestrians a head start before a green signal is given to vehicles.
New ADA curb ramps and Accessible Pedestrian Signals (APS) along the corridor would improve
safety and access for all users. Pedestrians would also benefit from streetscape improvements
including additional pedestrian-scale lighting and median landscaping.

Streetscape

The project aims to improve the visual connectivity along the Geary corridor; the Hybrid
Alternative/SRA would accomplish this by creating urban streetscapes and including corridot-
specific visual characteristics into the design of the Geary BRT Project. New lighting, BRT station
amenities, pedestrian infrastructure, landscaping, and other amenities would enhance the overall
appearance of the corridor. The new dual medians in the Richmond would provide 13 percent more
space for landscaping and trees. Additionally, a consistent palette of street trees, implemented with
the Hybrid Alternative/SRA, would further enhance the visual character of the Geary corridor.
Implementation of BRT infrastructure would demonstrate investment along the corridor, provide
a greater sense of permanence than the existing bus transit system, and support place-making,
livability, and vibrant commercial districts along the corridor.

System Performance

The project would reduce auto and transit delays within the Geary corridor when compared to the
No Build Alternative, as well as overall vehicle miles travelled (VMT) in San Francisco. The project
would increase transit ridership in the corridor by 12 percent by 2020. Partly as a result, the project
would result in approximately 20,000 fewer daily weekday VMT by 2020 and approximately 40,000
tewer daily weekday VMT by 2035. The number of intersections along the corridor and on parallel
routes with undesirable levels of traffic congestion would also decrease with the project, resulting
in more efficient travel for all modes.

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 42



GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT | December 2016

San Francisco General Plan Consistency

The Project would help implement and would be consistent with several San Francisco General
Plan Transportation Element Policies, particularly Policy 20.13 which supports the installation of
dedicated bus lanes and Bus Rapid Transit lanes to expedite transit travel times and improve transit
reliability.

Likewise, the Project supports other Transportation Element policies, including Policy 1.4 (Increase
the capacity of transit during the off-peak hours); Policy 11.1 (Maintain and improve the Transit
Preferential Streets program to make transit more attractive and viable as a primary means of travel):
Policy 14.2 (Ensure that traffic signals are timed and phased to emphasize transit, pedestrian, and
bicycle traffic as part of a balanced multi-modal transportation system); Policy 14.3 (Improve transit
operation by implementing strategies that facilitate and prioritize transit vehicle movement and
loading); Policy 20.14 (Engage new technologies that will emphasize and improve transit services
on transit preferential streets) and Objective 21 (Develop transit as the primary mode of travel to
and from downtown and all major activity centers within the region).

Finally, the Project supports Transportation Element Objective 14 and Policies 14.1 (Reduce road
congestion on arterials through the implementation of traffic control strategies, such as traffic signal
synchronization and turn controls, that improve vehicular flow without impeding movement for
pedestrians and bicyclists); Objective 15 (Encourage alternatives to the automobile and reduced
traffic levels on residential streets that suffer from excessive traffic through the management of
transportation systems and facilities) Policy 15.1 (Discourage excessive traffic on residential streets
by incorporating traffic-calming treatments) and Policy 18.1 (wherever feasible, divert through
automobile and commercial traffic from residential neighborhoods onto major and secondary
arterials).

For the aforementioned reasons, the SFCTA hereby finds that the Project’s adverse, unavoidable
environmental impacts are outweighed by the Project’s evaluated benefits. Therefore, the SFCTA
adopts these findings and overriding considerations.

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | 43

61



62

Attachment 3

/2‘“

Geary Corridor
Bus Rapid Transit Project

APPENDIX C: MITIGATION MONITORING
AND REPORTING PROGRAM

FINAL ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT
(EIR)

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY

IN PARTNERSHIP WITH

J/\. SFMTA

\ Municipal
\ Transportation
Agency

November 2016




APPENDIX C

Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program

63



64

GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT FINAL EIR | NOVEMBER 2016

APPENDIX C

Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program
for the Geary Corridor Bus Rapid Transit Project
in San Francisco, CA
by the
San Francisco County Transportation Authority and San Francisco Municipal
Transportation Agency

C.1 Introduction

This Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program (MMRP) is for the Geary Bus Rapid Transit
(BRT) Project. The California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) requires an enforceable
mitigation monitoring program for projects. CEQA Section 21081.6 and CEQA Guidelines
15097(a) require public agencies to adopt a program for monitoring and reporting on the
measures required to mitigate or avoid significant environmental impacts identified in the Final
Environmental Impact Report (EIR). Under CEQA, the MMRP must be adopted when a public
agency makes its findings pursuant to CEQA so that the mitigation requirements can be made
conditions of project approval. Consistent with these requirements, this MMRP ensures
compliance with all mitigation requirements set forth in the Final EIR that have been determined
to be feasible under the CEQA Findings. These measures include, but are not limited to, elements
that would be designed into the project and implementation of best management practices
(BMPs) during construction. This MMRP will be kept on file in the offices of the San Francisco
County Transportation Authority (SFCTA), 1455 Market Street, 22nd Floor, San Francisco, CA
94103.

C.2 Mitigation Monitoring & Reporting Program

Analysis of each environmental factor in Chapters 3 through 7 of the Draft EIS/EIR includes
discussion of the regulatory setting, affected environment, environmental consequences (including
permanent/project operational impacts, construction impacts, and cumulative impacts), and
mitigation and improvement measures for each project alternative, including the locally preferred
alternative (LPA). This MMRP includes all feasible mitigation measures that are applicable to the
adopted project, the Hybrid Alternative/SRA, which is also the LPA. In addition to identified
mitigation measures, this MMRP includes several “improvement measures.” Improvement
measures identified in the Final EIR are not needed to avoid or reduce significant impacts, but
either embody regulatory requirements or are standard construction procedures or best practices
that are recommended to reduce or avoid impacts that are less than significant. The purpose of
the MMRP is to list all mitigation and improvement measures adopted for the Geary BRT Project
and the milestones at which measures must be implemented. The MMRP also identifies the
implementing, enforcing, and monitoring entities. SFCTA, as the lead agency under CEQA, will
oversee the implementation of the mitigation and monitoring program through project
implementation, including construction, testing, and initial operations. SFCTA will designate a
Mitigation Monitoring Manager to oversee the monitoring and reporting of all mitigation and
improvement measures. The San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency (SFMTA), as a
responsible agency under CEQA, will be the entity that will construct and operate the project and
will be responsible for carrying out mitigation measures that must be implemented as part of

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | Page C-1



GEARY CORRIDOR BUS RAPID TRANSIT PROJECT FINAL EIR | NOVEMBER 2016

project design, construction, and operation. SEMTA shall designate a mitigation and monitoring
coordinator to oversee the implementation of all relevant mitigation measures.

To ensure compliance with the MMRP, further agreements between SFCTA and SFMTA will
require SEFMTA to implement or, through contracts, ensure implementation of, the avoidance,
mitigation, and improvement measures. SFCTA (or its Consultant) will conduct periodic audits of
the construction site, and through the agreements will have authority to resolve with SEFMTA any
issues that arise concerning compliance with mitigation requirements on the part of SEMTA or its
contractor. Through its CEQA Findings, SFCTA will also urge other agencies that will issue
permits for the work, including the Department of Public Works and California Department of
Transportation (Caltrans) to require compliance with the mitigation measures through their
permits.

Table C-1is organized by environmental discipline, or affected resource. It provides a list of the
mitigation and improvement measures identified in the Final EIR and includes a summary of the
following information:

« Affected Resource: Provides a broad title of the impact or effect that is to be mitigated
or improved.

Contractor: Refers to any contractor hired by SEMTA to implement the project.

Mitigation and Improvement Measures: Provides a brief description of the mitigation
or improvement measures. The MMRP includes all mitigation and improvement measures
identified in the Final EIR that SFCTA and SFMTA found feasible and adopted as part of
the CEQA Findings for the project. SFCTA will ensure that these measures are fully
enforceable, in most cases by SEFMTA, by making them conditions of project funding.
Through agreements with SEFMTA, SFCTA will require SEFMTA to incorporate the
measures into design documents, construction specifications, and project operational
procedures. Other agencies may assist SFCTA in monitoring compliance with mitigation
measures, such as the Federal Transit Administration (FT'A), Department of Public
Works, or Caltrans through their permitting and funding authority.

Implementation Procedure: Describes by whom and when the mitigation and
improvement measures must be implemented.

Implementation Responsibility: Describes who is responsible for implementing the
mitigation and improvement measures. In most cases it is SFMTA or the Contractor.

Implementation Schedule: Identifies the project phase or milestone at which the
mitigation and improvement measures must be implemented. The Mitigation Monitoring
Manager must approve that the mitigation measure is adequately addressed at each phase
of project development.

Monitoring Responsibility: Identifies the agency responsible for ensuring that
mitigation measures are implemented. In most cases it is SEMTA.

Report Recipient: Identifies the agencies that will be notified that the mitigation
measures have been implemented adequately.

SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY | Page C-2

65



66

€-0 afed | ALIYOHLNY NOILYLYOdSNVYL ALNNOO ODSIONVYS NVS

*uoI39NJISU0D
109loud jo aseyd
a|qeaijdde burinp
suodau Apjeam

aseyd
uoI39NJISU0
‘aseyd
Buluueld

*u0I139N43SU09 Burinp
uswajdwi 03 10319BIIU0D
‘suolyeoiy1oads 310e13U09 Jad
-aseyd

Buluueld uononuIsuod Jo

*SMOJ[e Saue| |[9ARI] JO Jaquinu
31 Ul uo1oNpaJ e alaym sadeds pajbue
ui-xoeq 0] sadeds |a|jeted BuiriaAuod

Aq ajdwexa 1o} ‘saoeds Bumjied reuonippe
918849 01 1SIXd p|nom saniuniioddo
‘193.31s ay1 Jo uoneanbiyuodal

UUM “B]q1Isea) al1aym sadeds |[ipul

pue Buidis aue] wod) papinodd aq pjnoys  suoilipuo) Buipeo]

V104S aJedaud 01 V1IN4S uoI39NJISU0) VIN4S  ed se juswajdwi 01 Y1N4S Bunyted 192.11s-U0 [RUOIHIPPY “Z-MYd-| pue Buyred 9
‘uoionJIsuod Buunp
*U0I19NJISU09 aseyd Juawa|dwi 01 J039RIIUO0D
109loud jo aseyd uoI139N43ISU09 ‘suo1yes1410ads 10B43U0D Jad
a|qeoijdde buiinp ‘aseyd -aseyd *9|qIseay se ‘pajedo|al 1o
suodau Apjeam Buluueld Buluue]d uo11o0NIISUOD JO  pPalepIjosu0d aJde sdols sng aiaym paleald  suollipuo) Buipeo]
V124S aJedaud 01 V1IN4S uoI119NJISU0) VIWN4S  ed se Juswadwi 01 Y1N4S aq p|noys bumjred 19311s-UQ “T-Myd-I| pue Buiied (s
*A1essadau
1 sanss| A)ajes ssaippe 03 syuswaroidwi
Aynuapi pue ‘Ayages uelnsapad
1084Je SaWN|oA d1yell ul sabueyd uolyeniodsuel |
aseyd MOY pue }I SSasse 01 $19a.3s |a]|eted alokaig
V104S uoI19NIISU0D uo A1ajes uernsapad J0MUOW “-Q3d-| pue uel1sapad (017
'$924N0S |eUOITRU pue 91B1S 19410
pue ue|d 8]9A21g S,A11D 8yl wou} aosuepinh
ubisap 1uaLInd Buipnjdul ‘uoI1d8aUU0D
9]9A21q 01p1Sa1d-03-01U0Se N 3yl uolyenodsuel |
10J sjuswieauy ubisap pue A1ajes a]2AdIq ajoAo1g
V1248 ubisap Jeuld do130e.d B3 JO d1€IS BPN|IU| "€-Q3d-| pue uelilsspad e
*suostad pajgesip 10} S99 douURYUD
01 Sa131]108} UoIIe)S pue uelslsapad uolyeyodsuel |
10 ubisap Buusauibua pajrelap waoyul 01 919Ad1g
V104S ubisap |eud sa|dioutid ubisaq [essanun 8sn “g-a3d-| pue ueliIsspad Nz
"(8-a xipuaddy
ul [1e18p Ul paguidsap SuollepuaLILIodal
Juswiredaq 18114y epn) ubisap 10afoad jo ued se uoneuodsuel |
Buluueld a|qissod a1aym suolrepuawiwodal Alayes alokoig
V104 ubisap Jeuld uerinsapad 1si1pjlem apnjoul “T-a3d-| pue uelsapad (01
IN3Id103d ALITIFISNOdS3d 3TNA3IHIOS ALITIFISNOdS3d
ONILYOdTY ONIMOLINOW ~ NOILVANIWITdWI  NOILYINIWITdWI 34NA300Yd NOILY.LNIWITdWI STINSYAW LNIWIAOYJWI B NOILYOILIA $30¥NOSIY 0310344V "ON
108lo1d 149 A1ea9 ayi Joj weaboid buinioday 7 Bulioyiuop uonebnip T-D 9|qel

9T0Z Y43GNIAON | ¥13 TVYNI4 LD3r0dd LISNVYL dIdVY SNG YOAI¥¥40D A¥VIO



67

7-0 @fed | ALIYOHLNY NOILYLYOdSNVYL ALNNOO ODSIONVYS NVS

Mda4s
suesyed

V104S

uonelnp
uoI3oNIISU0d
1noybnoayy

dINL 03 ddualaype
uo sypiodal Apjeam
apinoad 03 V1N4S
‘Mda4ds

pue sueJle)

woJj sjenoudde
93S19N0 03 V1N4S

aseyd
uoI39NIISU0
‘aseyd
Buluueld
uoI19NIISU0D

uoI19NJISU0d
- J0108J3U0D
Buiuueld
B ALER

‘uoionJIsuod Buunp
juawa|dwi 01 J019eJ1U0D
‘suoiyeiy1oads 30ea3u09 Jad
-aseyd

Buluue|d uo13onuIsuod Jo
ued se Juswadwi 01 Y1N4S

uo syoedwi UOIIONJISUOD awilAep

9ZIWIUIW puR SeaJe [e1IuapIsal

Ul UoIIONIISUOD BWIIYBIU dZIWIUIW
01 %@8s |feys Huiuueld uooNIISUO)

:suoisinoad Buimoljoy

33 wnwiulw ye spnjoul |feys dW.1 ayL
uo11sabuod d1jel1 pue ‘aouaIuUBAUOIUI
‘U0ISNJUOD SZIWIUIW 0} UOIIONIISUOD
Burinp pue 01 Joud pajuswsajdwi aq
pInom sainseaw uolrewJoul a1jgnd J18y1o0
pue syuswadsunouue pazidijgnd-jjam pue
Al4e3 "sIaAlIp Paloaye pue ‘suoiyeloosse
SSQUISN( ‘S3IIIUNWWOD [eJ0] ‘eaJe ayl ul
sjuauodoud 10afoud uolew Jayjo ‘salouabe
20| wody uonedionued yum aseyd ubisap
ay1 Buunp padojanap aq |Jeys sainpadoid
uolrew.oyul a1jgnd pue ‘ueid inolap e
‘Buninosas oiyyeal sapnjoul yeyl (dinL) ueld
juawabeuep uoneliodsuel] v "TI-10-N

syoedw|
Auunwwo)

we

V104S

ubisap |euly

*Ay10edeD [PUOIPPR dARY JRY] SBUO0Z
Buipeo| Agaeau Buiisixa Yyum palepijosuod
aq |leys sadeds Buipeo| uayl ‘sadeds
Buipeo| a1e20|a4 01 d|qe|IeAR 10U SI

aoeds J| -109loiad ay3 Jo pasu pue asodind
ay1 pue spaau Buipeo| |ed0] s}8aW

159Q U0I11BI0| Y2Iym AJI1Uapi 03 ‘SIBUMO
sassauisng Buipn|oul ‘sasn pue| pajoajje
UM ddom |leys wea] 10aloud ayy ‘sadeds
Buipeo] 1s0] 81e20|24 01 3|ge|rene suondo
ajdnnw aJre a1ayl aJBYM “v-Mdd-V

suonipuo) Huipeo
pue Bujied

(v)8

V104S

*uoI39NJISU0
103lo4d Jo aseyd
a|qeoijdde Huunp
suodau Apjpam
aledaud 01 VINAS

aseyd
uoI3oNIISu0d
‘aseyd
Buiuueld
uoI1oNIISU0)

MEN

*U0I139NJ43SU09 Burinp
Juawajdwi 01 J019eIIU0D
‘suolyeoij1oads 310e11U0D Jad
-aseyd

Buluue|d uo3onuIsuod Jo
ued se Juawajdwi 01 V1N4S

‘pJensinog A1eag ylm uoi1oasialul

S11 01 9S0|J 13941S SS0J9 1SaJeau ayl

01 pa1eoo|al ag pinoys sadeds Buipeo| pue
saoeds Bunpjred yons ‘ajgiseay 10U si Syl
9J9YM SuoI1Ied0]| U] "1s1Xa Ajaualing Aayl
Se 92e} X90|q awWes ay) Uo pareso|al aq
11eys sageds Buipeo| pue sanijigesip Yyum
9)doad .oy saoeds Bupjied ‘ajqisea) alaym
saoeds Bupyred wuasl-1oys pue [eiausb Jo
uoiualal Jano paziuiond aq |leys saoeds
Buipeo] Jo Juswade|dal pue uoiualal
‘saoeds Bulurewas Buowy -saseds Jaylo
|1 40 uoIluala4 Jano paziliond ag pjnoys
sanljigesip yym ajdoad 1oy sadeds Bunyred
10 Juswaoe|dal pue uonualal ‘Alessadau
SI saoeds gand JO [eAOWS BIBYM “E-MHd-|

suonipuo) Buipeo
pue Bunpjred

(0N

AN3IdI03Y
ONILYOd3d

ALITIGISNOdS3d
ONIHOLINOW

3INA3HIS
NOILVYLININITdINI

ALITIGISNOS3Y
NOILVLININITdNI

34NA3008d NOILYININITdI

SIINSYIN LNIJWIAOHUAAI @ NOILVOILIN

$304N0S3Y A310344V

‘ON

9T0Z Y43GNIAON | ¥13 TVYNI4 LD3r0dd LISNVYL dIdVY SNG YOAI¥¥40D A¥VIO



G-0 afed | ALIYOHLNY NOILYLYOdSNVYL ALNNOO ODSIONVYS NVS

‘uorneunp

uo13oNIISu0d

1noybnoayy

spJepuels 01

aouaJaype Bululano

suodau Apjaam

V104S apinoad 03 YN LSS

uoilonJaisuo)

410}1JeJluo)

abeu01s pue Huibels uo11onIIsuo)

‘ssedsaul 3Ybi| |[e PIOAR pue XIom

10 BaJe 3Y1 UIYLM 01 uoieulwn|j
108.1p W] 0} pa1dalIp pue papj|alys
aq |Ieys bBunybi| uoinonisuo)

*awiy Jo yibua| reanoead 1sa1ioys
3y 01 uoyeso| Jenoiured Aue Je
uondnusip Jo poriad ayy sonpal 01

*U0119N43SU02 Bulnp
paseyd aq [[eys uoioNIIsuod 10afoid

HC&EO_QE_ 0] J0}deJajuo)

‘suol1eoly19ads 30eJ1U02 Jad "TO-OA-NIN

*ade} %20|q 18a.1s Buluiolpe

10 awes ayl uo sauoz Buipeo]
a1enbape Buipinoid pue sAemanip
01 ss999e Hururejurew Buipnjoul
‘sasn pue] Juadelpe Joj paurejurew
a( 01 sauoz Buipeoj »onJ1

pue 1abuassed ayenbape ayeubisap
9SIMIBYIO J0 AJ1IUBPI |[eys dWL YL

‘passaippe ale Aayl ainsus

0] paxoeJl pue pabbo] agq pjnom
sjurejdwo) "suladuod Aue aJe alayl
J1 182 01 uo13dalIp yum abeubis
109f04d uo J019eUO) pue ‘1asaulbul
juapisay ‘aabeuep 108loid ayl

10} UoIIRWIOUI 31081U0D JO uoisiAoid
sapnjoul siy] “siurejdwod Buissaippe
pue buindaooe oy ssaooud

S, VLIN4S 81elodiooul [eys diNL YL

‘paurejuiew si sainiadoid

9say] 03 ssad0e Ueldlsapad eyl
ainsua 0] Jopliiod Aieas ayl buoje
saluadoud juadelpe yym areuipiood
osfe |leys Y1IN4S "sadeds asayl

0 $S0| 8y} wouJy syoedwi aziwiuiw
01 Sa11IAI198 Uo119NJISuod uejd

10 sadeds Juawaoe|dal 10} SUOIIRIO|
AJ1uapi 01 dom pue (sauoz

Buipeo| ‘-a-1) sadeds Hupyred palojod
10} PasU 8y} dUIWIIBP 0} I0PILI0D
Areas ayl Buofe saijiadoud juadelpe
UHM d1euIplo0d |feys (V.LNSS)
Aouaby uoiyeniodsues] jedidiunpy
09s1oueIH Ues ‘welboid uoirewsoyul
a1jgnd diNL 8y 1o Lred sy

"seale [e10JaWWO0d pue |1e1al

AN3IdI03Y ALITIGISNOdS3d

3INA3HIS

ALITIGISNOS3Y

$924N0S3aY |ensIA

ONILYOd3d ONIHOLINOW NOILVYLININITdINI NOILVLININITdNI 34NA3008d NOILYININITdI SIINSYIN LNIJWIAOHUAAI @ NOILVOILIN $304N0S3Y A310344V ‘ON

68

9T0Z Y43GNIAON | ¥13 TVYNI4 LD3r0dd LISNVYL dIdVY SNG YOAI¥¥40D A¥VIO



69

9-0 afed | ALIYOHLNY NOILYLIYOdSNVYL ALNNOO ODSIONVYS NVS

‘uonelnp
uoI39NJISU0
1noybnoayy
spJepuels 0}
aoualsaype Buluijano

uondNIIsuod

‘suoneaiy1oads 1oea3uod sad
‘uo139n13suo09 y08foad Buninp
papaau se suoljedlipow
juawajdwi 01 J019eJIIU0D
*sa4n3onays
9AI1ISUSS-UOIIRIqIA

*$24n3onaIs
Al A1obaed 1oy aouepinb aouelsip
10edwi s,V 14 paadxa pjnom uswdinba
pue S3I1IAI30R UO0IIONIISUOD 3I8YM
pPa1oNPU0d 8¢ PINOM S3INIONIIS BAILISUSS
-UOITRIQIA JO JUBLISSASSE [ENPIAIPUL

suodau Apjpam pue 10 Juawissasse uapuadapul ue ‘saseyd ubisap [euty 1o Burisauibus
V104S apinoid 03 YNL14S ubisap Jeuid 1019B11U0D wJioylad 01 VIN4S  1en1daouod pasueape Buing "€D-TND-NIN $824n0Say [ean1nd (NIN)ST
“uorreInp ‘suolyediy1oads 1oes1uo9 Jad
UOI3ONIISUOD ‘uoionaisuod 19afoud Burnp *SploysaIy}
1noybnoayy papaau se suoljedlyipow 10edwi aoueysip Buisn saunyonils
@oueuIplo asiou A11) juswa|dwi 01 J039RIIUO0D SAI1ISUSS-UOITRIGIA JO UOITRDILIIUSPI
yum asueljdwod uoI39NJISU0 ‘Burioniuow uoieIgIA 31 apnjaul pInom ydiym ‘uejd
uo syodau Apjaam pue pue asiou yuapuadapul UOIIBZIWIUI pUe UOoIIdNPay UOITRIGIA
V1048 apinoad 01 VINAS ubisap Jeutd J1019€13U0) wJoyad 03 VINLS ' Juswaldwi pue dojaasg "ZD-TND-NIW  $824N0Say [ean1nd (NIW)YT
‘uorneanp
uoI3oNIISu0d
1noybnoayy
spJepuels 01
aouaJaype Bululano ‘uoionJIsuod Buunp 'S13]104 A10TRIQIA SE UYINS ‘|3A3| uoIleIqIA
suodau Apjeam juawajdwi 01 Jojoesquo)  ybiy sayeauo eyl Juswdinba uoiloniisuod
V104S apinoid 01 YN 14S uoI1oNIISU0) 1030B11U0D ‘suoiyeoiy1oads 310ea3u0d Jad 10 3sn ay1 MW7 "TO-TND-NIA - $924n0say [ean3ngd (NIN)ET
*10p11409
Aleas ayy Jo Juswbas 199115 eunbe
01 0J3peSIAIQ 83 Jo4 salpnis Buipnjoul
‘Juswiiedap Buluueld A1) ay3 Jo saipnis
ubisap ueqJn wia3-buo| Yum pareulpiood
uswpredaq 3¢ pInod ubisap uoirels “Juswiedsp
Buruueld Burtuuerd A11D aya Jo suioye Buluueld
V1048 Jop1109 Ares yum 81eulpaood g-OA-I $92IN0s3Y [eNnsIA Nzt
*10p14402
Areas ayl Inoybnoayy paijdde pue ‘yels
Buluueld £1195 Aq pamainal ‘padojanap
aq pInod sadAl 8811 19a.13s Jo anved
1U31SISU0D B ‘A11UN [BNSIA 10PI4I0D Aleas
Vv104S |1BJ9A0 BZIWIXew 0} 19pJo U] “Z-OA-I $321N0S8Y [ensIA 1t
‘awil Jo sporiad papuaixa
103 M3IA 21jgnd 01 pasodxa aq ||Im
Aoy 1analaym Buluaalas anbedo
Alfensin Ag pauaalas ag |[eys seale
IN3IdIO3Y ALIIFISNOdSTY ERE ALIIFISNOJSTY
ONILYOdIY ONIMOLINOW ~ NOILVANIWITdWI  NOILYINIWITdNI 34NA300Yd NOILY.LNIWITdWI STINSYAW LNIWIAOYJWI B NOILYOILIA $30¥NOSIY 0310344V "ON

9T0Z Y43GNIAON | ¥13 TVYNI4 LD3r0dd LISNVYL dIdVY SNG YOAI¥¥40D A¥VIO



70

L-0 afed | ALIYOHLNY NOILYLYOdSNYYL ALNNOD OOSIONVYd NVS

‘sa1148doad 21101S1Y AgJeau 031 SAIRISUSS
9 pue Juswa|dwod pjnom Jeyl sa21o0yd
10]09 pue ‘sjelarew ‘Buinybi] ‘ubisap Jo

JdH *OdH pue UoISSILWOo) uolleJapisuod |njyared ybnoayl saiiadoud
uswpedaq 4S pue UOoISSIWWOD oNd4s SUY 4S Aq [enosdde 2140181y Juadelpe y1Im saaleuIalje
Buluueld  sjy 45 Aq sreroudde ‘Mda4s YyHm ONd4S pue Mda4s 108l04d ay1 Jo syuswsals 14Ing JO
V104S 83SI3/0 01 VLNAS ubisap feuid ‘VLN4S UMM UOITRUIPIOOD Ul VIN4S  S@m[enb [ensia syl azjuouwueH “20-1ND-1  $824N0Say [enynd (st
‘spJepuels
usapow Aq paoe|dal 1o panowal usaq
sey pJepuels eulblio ue alaym Arepunoq
Aadoud 211031s1Y 3yl uIyIIM 31IS d|qe|leAe
ue 0} UOIIeJ0]al “ISe| pue ‘spiepuels
usapow Aq paoe|dal 1o panowal usag sey
pJepuels 1ybi| reulblio ayl assym als e
SI 249U1 J1 %90]q Swes ay3 UIYLM plepuels
1y6i| e 91800|2. 0} dpeW 3g P|NOM
1404J9 [euonippe ‘spJepuels 1ybi| ayy
104 “sbuipjing juaselpe Jo/pue qind 03
10adsaJ ul y[emapis ayl ulylm (asuelsip)
juawaoed Bulurelurew ajIym uoiIedo|
eu1brio 18yl Jo AJIUIDIA S]eIpawwl
93U UIYLIM SIUBWS|D Yons JO uoileaojal
J0J 1511} BpRW 8 [|IM 1I0J3 |[e ‘B|qIseajul
aJe SSMY pue ‘spsepueis 1ybij 193ua)
ueder ‘syybiaalls ajbuel] uapjo ayl Jo
80UEBPIOAR JBU] JUSAS 8yl Ul "9D-TND-NIN
40
'$24N30N.3S 21403S1Y 3say} 01 abewep
J0 ‘Uo11BJ0]a4 ‘[eAOWal BY) PIOAR 01
JdH *OdH pue UoISSILWOo) SSMY 93 Jo spuauodwod pue ‘sprepuels
1swredaq 4S pue uoISSILIWO0) JNd4s suy 4S Aq [enoidde 1yb1) J81ud) ueder ‘syybijrsans ajbueli
Buluueld  sjy 45 Aq srenoudde ‘Mda4s Yum ond4S pue mdads uap|o9 ay3 Jo Anuioia sy ul sdois
V104S 895190 01 V1N4S ubisep Jeuly ‘VINS UM UOIRUIPIOO0D Ul V1INHS pue suoirels pasodoad ubise@ "GO-TND-Y  $824N0S8Y eIy n) (NIW/Y)LT
‘uonelnp
uoI3oNIISu0d
1noybnoayy
spJepuels 0}
aouaJaype Bululano ‘uoionJIsuod Buunp
suodau Apjpam uswajdwi 03 1019BIIU0) *u0119NJ3Isu0d Burinp Burioliuow
Vv104S apinoid 03 YN14S uoI19NIISU0) 1019B11U0D ‘suolyeoij1oads 30e13U0D Jad uolleIqIA 30NPUOD “$I-TND-NIN  $824n0say [ean3n)d (NIN)9T
IN3IdIO3Y ALIIFISNOdSTY ERE ALIIFISNOJSTY
ONILYOdIY ONIMOLINOW ~ NOILVANIWITdWI  NOILYINIWITdNI 34NA300Yd NOILY.LNIWITdWI STINSYAW LNIWIAOYJWI B NOILYOILIA $30¥NOSIY 0310344V "ON

9T0Z Y43GNIAON | ¥13 TVYNI4 LD3r0dd LISNVYL dIdVY SNG YOAI¥¥40D A¥VIO



/1

8-0 afed | ALIYOHLNY NOILYLYOdSNVYL ALNNOO ODSIONVYS NVS

urejaJ 01 ennualod ou aney 1oedwi
108117 10 sealy Jolew :suoieoo|
SAI1ISUSS 10} [e13US10d MO] 10 ON o

:yoeasas Arejuawinoop

uo paseq a|qissod ale s3nsal oM |

*Aue JI ‘sadinosal

1ued1IUBIS Se palenjeAs aq

1ybiw eyl surewsal |edifojoaeydle
o1101S1yaud pue e4a-01101S1Y 1UBIXd
ureluod o1 [ernualod ayl aney eyl
SUOI1B0| UO UOoITewW.Iojul pajielap
apin0ad 03 SUOISN[OUOD pue Arewwns

“uoIIRIUBWINIOP
a|gerene BuizAjeue ui pasn spoylaw

3y 81e11sN||1 01 $X20|q 213193ds
10 smalIA ued pue sajijoid JueAS|9Y

‘paniasald
ag Aew surewsa. o1103s1yad
9J9Ym SuoI11ed0| AIAINISUSS

-yby Jo uoneool ay3 Buluyai pue
‘Juawissasse A1AIIsuas o1103siyald
|e1ul 3yl aun-auly 031 ‘SUCIIBA3|D

92e4INns punolh spO8T-pIW SNSIBA
ulapow ayy Hurredwod ‘1opLuod
31 JO UOIIDNJISUOIBI ||14-pUe-IND Y

*09sIouR.IH UeS Jo A103s1y 3y}

01 91BJ24 A3Y) se sa24nosal [enualod

Buirenjeas 10y siseq e sapiroid 1eyy

aJnjonJiseayul uegan Jo Juswdojanap

ay3 sassalppe 1.y} UoI103s |yoseasal
AIejuswinoop pue [en1xsluod v e

:9pnjoul pjnom
1oday AaAing wnpuappy ayl “1oedw|

"wuswredsg 19011 Jo sealy Jolew ayy Buikynuapi

Buiuue|d pazijeul} s1 dew 34y s,.10aloud ay3 asuo

3yl woJy sjenoudde pajleiliul aq [|IM YdJeasay "9oualinduod

ABojoseyote assian0 10} OdHS @Y1 pue (0Y3) 4921440 MBINSY

pue ufisap [euly [eluswuoIAUT S,A11D SU1 01 Pa1IWgNS

apinoad 01 VLINAS aq |1!m 1Jodal wnpusppe | aseyd ayLl

‘uo13e}|NSU0d *OdHS "31odaJ Jua1ind 8yl 01 Wnpuappe ue se

90T U0I1298S ‘Juswsajdwi 0} UM UOITe1|NSUOD Jayuny  paluawnaop aq [|Im sbuipuly pue spoyiawl

jusunedsg Bulobuo Jo red 1s16ojoaeyoIe pue Buluue|d uo11onJISuU0d pue ‘surewsad jueaiyiubis Ajjenualod

Buuueld se OdHS 01 1ioday paiyifenb wJojul 03 ubisap [euly ureluod o3 A1gy1| aq Aew eyl 3dv

OdHS Aaning wnpuappy apinoad Burinp yoJeasal 31oNpuod 3yl UIYIIM seade o1419ads Aue Ayipuapl [[im
V.104S Hwgns 03 saouaby ubisap Jeuld 01 V124S 03 3s160j0aeyD.IE PalYIENd yoJessal [eAlydte pasndod "8D-TNI-NIN  S82IN0say [ean3nd (NIW)eT

IN3IdIO3Y ALIIFISNOdSTY ERE ALIIFISNOJSTY

ONILYOdIY ONIMOLINOW ~ NOILVANIWITdWI  NOILYINIWITdNI 34NA300Yd NOILY.LNIWITdWI STINSYAW LNIWIAOYJWI B NOILYOILIA $30¥NOSIY 0310344V "ON

9T0Z Y43GNIAON | ¥13 TVYNI4 LD3r0dd LISNVYL dIdVY SNG YOAI¥¥40D A¥VIO



12

6-0 @fed | ALIYOHLNY NOILYLYOdSNVYL ALNNOO ODSIONVYS NVS

11e J0 Bulureny

JO UOIIeIILIIBA

Se ||am se uoireinp
uoI39NIISU0
109lo.ud 1noybnoiyy

41 ueld
juawleal |
pue Bunsa
juswajdwi 01
1s1bojoaeyole

Bulnp paiyinuapl reuslew jeaifojoaeyale
Aue jo asueoiyiubis [ennuazod

3U31 91en|eAd 03 Ydaleasal Arejuawnoop
pasno0y ‘pajielap |reiua Ajjeniul

PINOM JOM ‘S824N0SaJ BI3-21401SIY 104

saunpadsoud paiyifenb “OdHS
pue sbuipuy apinoid ayl pue 0¥3 S.A11D 8yl YliMm UuoIIe]NSuo0d
[ed1fojoseyale 01 V1N4S Ul pazifeuly aq p|NoMm ue|d Juawieal] ayl
10 suiodal 10 1030BJU0D  "UOI1319NIISU09 108foud Bulnp ul pajreyap sainpasoud ay “pasodoud aq
Apiaam apinoid “pasinbai papaau 41 JuawdIdWI 03 |jim saUNSESW UOIFRZIWIUIW ‘S|qepIoA_UN
01 pue uoIIdNJISUI JI‘uglg  S90WAW M31D UOIIINIISUOD 2 1yBIW SeaJe yons ased U] "$301n0sal
Joyuow 03 V1A4S jJuswIeal ] ‘papasu [edn1 N2 paling ureluod 0l jenualod
*$$9204d 90T U01198S pue Bunsa| se ‘uoI19nJ41suod 1noybnoayl ay1 Buiney Jo jueoliubis Ajjernualod
ay} a19|dwod aJedaid 01 pue UoIIONIISUOD JO 1Iels Se paljlluapl seale 15931 01 UOIIONIISUOD
juswedaqg
0] ue|d Juswieal] 1s16ojoaeyoIe 0} Joud ainpadoud siyr uo  128foad 01 Joud Ajareipawwi pakojdwsa aq
Buluueld pue Bunsay paiyifenb SM3J2 UO0I12NJISUOI 19NJISUl 01 s|02030.4d [ea1bojoaeyase apinoid |jim
OdHS B U0 OdHS Yum apinoud 01 1s16ojoaeyaue paiyiienb ‘palinbal I ‘ueld Juswieal] suoiyenjens
V104S  1|nsuod o1 saiouaby uoI1oNIISU0) 01 V124S ‘suoireiy1oads 10ea1U0d Jad pue Bunsal v "0TO-1ND-NIN  $924n0say [ein3n)d (NIN)TZ
‘Juswedaq
Buiuue|d
8yl woJj sjenoudde *$994N0sal
ABojoaeyose 98s1an0 edn1jnd paLing A}Iluspl 01 UoI1dNIISUOD
pue ubisap feuy 01 Joud 1ng ‘@oeyIns punoib syl Jo
apinoad 01 V1N4S ainsodxa Buimo||o) uaxespun Y10Mp|aly
‘uo13e}|NSU0d *OdHS pue palyiIuapl aq [|IM S824N0SaJ [e4n3jnd
90T U0I109S ‘Juawsajdwi 0} ULM UOITe1|NSU0D Jayung 10} suonebinsasul asuasge/aduasaid
Jusunedaq BuIoBuo Jo 1ed b Buuue|d BuLinb D
1 10 Le 1s16ojoaeyoe pue Buluueld uoI1dNJISUOD uiinbali seaJte ‘A9 aJow
Buluuelq se OdHS 01 1oday paijifenb wojul 03 ubisap [eul ‘10 seale aoueplone 19afoid ‘0Y3 S.A11D
OdHS Aanuns wnpuappy uoI39NIISU0 apinoid Burinp yoreasal 30Npuod 3U1 YUM 1I32U0D Ul ‘ydJeasal [eAlydle
V104S  Mwaqns 03 se1ousaby -ald 01 V1045 031 3s160joseyose palyiend o synsal a8y uo Buipuadag "60-TND-NIN  $824N0say [edn3nd (NIW)oz
‘ue|d Juswieal] pue
Bunsa] e ul pajrelap ‘Ino paliied
90 PINOM XJ0M JayuIny ‘s824n0sal
jued1IUBIS Se palenjeAs aq
pINod 1eyl surewsad [eaibojoaeydle
o1401s1yaJd 4o 210ISIy
juelXa ulelal 01 enualod ybiy
01 91eJ9POW UY}IM SUOITeIO0] UIeIU0d
10edw| 198117 JO sealy Jolew
J1 1SUOITLD0| SAILISUSS [B1IUSI0d
‘ueld
A1anoasiq paledionueun ayy 0
9oUBJaype puoAag ‘papuswiwoddl
a0 PINOM XJ0M Jayminy ON ‘S32nosal
juedI4IubIS Se pajenjeAs ag p|nNod
1ey1 surewsal |eaifojoaeydle JueIxa
IN3IdIO3Y ALIIFISNOdSTY ERE ALIIFISNOJSTY
ONILYOdIY ONIMOLINOW ~ NOILVANIWITdWI  NOILYINIWITdNI 34NA300Yd NOILY.LNIWITdWI STINSYAW LNIWIAOYJWI B NOILYOILIA $30¥NOSIY 0310344V "ON

9T0Z Y43GNIAON | ¥13 TVYNI4 LD3r0dd LISNVYL dIdVY SNG YOAI¥¥40D A¥VIO



/3

0T-0 9bed | ALIYOHLNY NOILYLYOdSNVYL ALNNOD OOSIONVYH NVS

juswedaqg
Buluueld

OdHS
V104S

ay1 wouy sfenosdde
ABojoaeydue aasiano
pue ubisap |euly
apinoid 031 V1N4S
‘uo13e}NSU0I

90T U011083

Buiobuo jo yed

se OdHS 01 1oday
AaAIns wnpuappy
1wgns 03 salouaby

uoI19NIISU0D
-a.d

-Juswajdwi 01

1s16ojoaeyole
paijienb
apinoid

01 V.104S

1S9MYIION 8U3 pue ‘OdHS 8yl ‘0y3

s.A11D ay1 01 pannwigns aq |[eys ¥yv4

panoidde auy Jo sa1dod "OdHS ayl pue

0Y43 s./11D 8y Ag [enosdde pue malnal

03 303[qns aq |leys Yuvd ayL “sbulpuly pue

‘OdHS  ‘sisAeue ‘spoylaw Alojeloge| pue pialy |e

UM UOIIe1|NSUOD Jayung uaWNIop |feys (YYv4) Moday saaunosay
pue Buluue|d uo119nN11SU0D |eaibojoaeyaly Jeuld siyy “patedaid
wojui 03 yodal asedaud ag |Ieys 1odaa eaiuyoal e ‘yiomplaly

01 1s160j0aeyaIe palyend Ile Jo uonajdwod uodn “TTI-TND-NIN

$2924N0say |ednyjnd

(NINW)zZ

I

gol uo Bunjiom jyeis
M319 UO0I30NJISU0D
1ueAd|al

‘paJinbal

*91qISS899® S| 89eyINns punoih

8yl Uaym uoI3onJIsuod 03 Jorid Huiiinaoo
1104J9 plaly aseyd-aaiyy passaidwod

e 10 wesboud Huliod eaibojoseyoieoab
uoI19nJ3Isu09-aid e apnjoul Aew

SIYL "papaau J1 A1aA0dal eIEp 3ONPU0D
pue ‘ayenjeas ‘Aj1quapl 01 spoylaw
oirewbead pue ‘uoirenjens 82inosal 1oy
SaNss| YyoJeasal Juenajal AJIuapl ||Im ue|d
Juswieal] e ‘s9unosad d1403siyaid 104

-9|qissod

10U |]13S SI 91IS 3Y1 JO dIUBPIOAR

11 A1anoosip uodn Ajazeipawiwil
aoe|d aye]l pjnom A1anodal

elep ‘queaiyiubis Ajjenualod

Se pajen|eAa pue punoy ag ainjes)
91IS 10 91IS B p|NoYs "S|aAa| punolb
01101S1Y 03 SS329€ S| 3Jay3 Usym
‘U0I139N13sU09 03 Joud AjareIpawwl
parernul aq ||1m Bunsa L

*S1104J3 Alanodal-erep pue Builsal
passaidwod Buipnjoul ‘pasodoad
ag |]IM spoylaw pjaly ayelidoidde
uayl ‘surewal yuediyiubis ureluod
01 [enualod ayy aney suoiledo| Aue
31 ssurewal uediyubis Ajfernualod

‘papuawWWo9al aq
pinom Buiisal |esifojoseydle Jayring
ou ‘surewaJ uediyiubis Joy [ennualod
3L} 91eJISUOWAP SUOITLIO| OU
J1 :surewal ueaiyiubis Ajeraualod oN e

:8nsua pInNod
sy|nsaJ4 om] “subisap yoseasas pardadsoe
0} paijdde surewsal ajqgissod jo [ennualod

-eJep 8yl Uo paseq aq p|nom aduediJIubis

‘pantasaid aqg ybiw 1eyl youeasal [enniul

AN3IdI03Y
ONILYOd3d

ALITIGISNOdS3d
ONIHOLINOW

3INA3HIS
NOILVYLININITdINI

ALITIGISNOS3Y
NOILVLININITdNI

34NA3008d NOILYININITdI SIINSYIN LNIJWIAOHUAAI @ NOILVOILIN

$304N0S3Y A310344V

‘ON

9T0Z Y43GNIAON | ¥13 TVYNI4 LD3r0dd LISNVYL dIdVY SNG YOAI¥¥40D A¥VIO



74

TT-0 9bed | ALIYOHLNY NOILYLYOdSNVYL ALNNOD OOSIONVYH NVS

‘uolyenp
uoI39NJ3su0d
108l04d 3n0oybnoayy

uononJsuod 10aloud

‘suolrepuawwodal uswabeuew
1adoud apinoud pue puly syl Jo

sainpasoid BuLinp papaau }1 Juswajdwi aoueayIubis ayy ssasse ued 1sibojoluoajed
pue sbuipuiy 0] pue ‘uo119NJISuU0d pauijenb e j1aun paljey Ajresodwal
|eoiBojojuoajed “Juswajdwi 0} 1noybnoayy pue aq [[eys puly 8y J0 193} 00T UIYLM
juswedaqg .
J0 suodal 1s16ojojuosjed  uOIIONIISUOD JO 1Je]S 01 Jond AuAoe Bulganisip-110s |1 ‘uo13oNJIsuod
Buluueiq Ap@am apinoad paiifenb Aa110d siy1 uo paloniisul 103loud jo aseyd Aue Burnp paialunodus
OdHS 0] pue uoIodNJIsul apinoud 90 01 SM31D UO0IIONIISUOD aJe sa2.unosal [eaibojoyuoajed
V104S Joluow 03 V1N4S uoIoNIISU0) 01 J031oeJIIU0D ‘suoI1eoi}19ads 10e13U09 J3d Jeyl 1usA8 8yl U] "$TO-TND-NIN  S921Nn0say [eanyjnd (NIN)SZ
"dN 8Y3 Jo
SMBIA 3y} Uo Juspuadap aq [|IM surewal
ay3 Jo Juswieal] “(gIN) wuepuadsap
A1 1s0w ayl aq 01 saAaljag 11 suosiad
as0y3 A4130U 1M 867 260G UOII03S (D¥d)
9p0J $924N0s3Y d1|gnd 01 uensind ‘OHYN
‘uoneinp dYL "sinoy g uiynm (QHVN) uolssiuwo)d
uoI3oNJISU0d abellaH UedLIBWY SAIIEN BIUIO4[RD 3y}
103l04d 3noybnoayy uononJsuod 10aloud Bunpoeluos Joy ajqisuodsal si 18u0102 3yl
swedaq sainpasoud Buninp papaau J1 Juswajdwi uayl ‘uedllaWy aAIIeN 8g 01 paulwlalap
Buiuueld pue sbuipuly 01 pue ‘UoI319NJISu0d 9J9M SUlewWal ay} §| "puNoy aJam surewsal
; |eaibojoseyole “Juswajdwi 0y 1noybnoayy pue 3} aJaym aouegJnisip als Jayuny
OHVYN J0 suoday 1sibojoseyole  UOIIONJISUOD JO Jels 03 Joud  ou ag |[Im a1ayl (S #90ST Uo139as vOID)
18u0409 Apjeam spinoad paiyifenb Aarjod siy1 uo palonuisul a|qissod Ajqeuoseal sI se uoos se paljilou
Aunog 0] pue uoodNJIISuUl apinoid 9( 01 SM319 UO0IIONIISUOD a( ||IM 18u0402 A3UN0) By} ‘Paltanodsip
V1048 Joluow 03 V1N4S uonoNIISU0) 01 J01oeJIIU0D ‘suolyeoij1oads 310e11U0D Jad aJe surewal uewny J| "STO-TND-NIN  S324n0say [einn)d (NIN)VZ
‘uoneanp
uoI1oNIISU0d
103f04d 3n0oybnoayy *uo19nJI3suod yo9foid
sainpasoid Buninp papaau 1 Juswajdwi
pue sBuipuly 01 pue ‘uoI3oN.IISu0d ‘puly 8yl Jo aoueoIubIS pue ainjeu ayl
leoibojoaeyoe Juswajdwi 01 1noybnoayl pue sassasse 1sifojoaeyate payyienb e jiaun
swiredsg 10 suodal 1s16ojoaeyose  UOI13ONIISUOD JO 1iels 03 Joud paIndas pue pale|osl eate AIBA0JSIP 3yl
Buuueld Apjaam apinoad paiyifenb Ad110d Siy1 uo paldNIISUl  pue paljey g |[IM UOIIINIISUOD ‘SBILIAIIOR
OdHS 0] pue uoodNIISuUI apinoud 9 01 SM319 UOIIONIISUOD uoI1oNIIsSuod Burinp palajunodus ale
V104S Joyuow 031 V1 N4S uoIoNIISU0) 01 J019eJIU0D ‘suoI1eo1y10ads 10BIIU0D U8d  S824N0S3J [Bdnynd palng §| "ZTD-TND-NIN  $824n0say |ednynd (NIN)EZ
'spJ02al
“Juswiedaq 21Is [eoibojoaryae pareloosse Aue
Buluueld ynm 1ay1abol ‘(DIMN) 481ua) uoirewloyu)
IN3IdIO3Y ALIIFISNOdSTY ERE ALIIFISNOJSTY
ONILYOdIY ONIMOLINOW ~ NOILVANIWITdWI  NOILYINIWITdNI 34NA300Yd NOILY.LNIWITdWI STINSYAW LNIWIAOYJWI B NOILYOILIA $30¥NOSIY 0310344V "ON

9T0Z Y43GNIAON | ¥13 TVYNI4 LD3r0dd LISNVYL dIdVY SNG YOAI¥¥40D A¥VIO



75

21-0 9bed | ALIYOHLNY NOILYLYOdSNVYL ALNNOD OOSIONVYH NVS

‘Mda4ds pue
‘quswiedaq alil4

09s1ouRI4 Ues ‘ONds uoI19NJ3SU0d

*uoionaIsuod 10aloud yum
Buiddeiano asoyy buipnjoul
‘sweaboid aoueualurew
A31111Nn s1apisuod ubisap
10aloud ainsua 01 ubisap
leuty Burinp uswiedaq aai4
00sI0URIH UeS pue JNd4S ayl

Aayes pue suosyed ]14g 10y abeubis “sqng
q4nd Jo ‘swuoyre|d uonels ‘Aemiisuell
149 ay1 se yans sauniesy y0aloud

yreauaq paledo| aq Aew eyl sanljioe}
punoufiapun jo Juswade|dai/apelfdn
pue ‘iredas Aouabiawa

‘gourualuUrew waoyiad 01 siapiroid
A1111n mojfe o1 saapinoid AN ym
uoITeUIPI00I Ul SUOITLIS J0/pue Aemiisuedl
a1 Jo 24nso|d Asesodwial arepowwiodde
01 ue|d e a1e810 [[eys V1N4S

wouy sjenosdde pue ‘Mda4s ‘ssapinoad Aupin ‘aoe|d ul paloaload Bulaq aJe sanijioey
V104S 99S19A0 01 V1INS ubisap |eud VLN4S UHM 83eUIpIo0d 01 V1NLS Axin a1aym suopreniis Ul - 1N-NIW salnNn (NIn)6z
uonelnp
uoI3oNJISU0d
noybno.yy seafen “syjemapls 10 ‘swioyrerd
91eb pue saull SSMY "U0139N115U0d BulINp uoljels ‘suelpaw yleauaq pareao|
Jo Auigisssooe Juswa|dwi 03 1030eIIU0D 80 10U [[_YS SBAJRA 8189 "paulejurew
uo syiodau \A_V_OO>> .wCO_H@O_p—_UQQw 10BJIU0D 19d ag ||eys SaAjeA a1eb 01 1xau v_.._MQ 0] SYonJ1
apinoad 01 VINAS ‘Buruued pazijeloads 10} ss829€ a1enbapy “saul|
“1uswedaq juswiedaqg uoI19NJ3ISu09 Joy urefe pue (Ssmy) ad1naas Ajddns Jazem Aseljixne
2114 09siouelH al14 oosiouel4  ‘ubisap feuly Bunp ueld pue punoibiapun ay3 03 ssaade Juaraid Jou
ues pue JNd4s uoI3oNJISU0 ues ay1 91eulpJ009 01 Juswmedag op SaI11|19B} UOI1e1S JOP1II0d Aleas 1ey)
wouy srenosdde pue pue ‘Ond4s 3114 09s1oURIS UeS 8yl 2Insua 01 UaAIb 8q p|NOM UOITeIBPISU0D
V.104S 895190 01 VLS ubisap [eutd ‘VIN4S  pue ‘ONd4S ‘MdddS ‘VLNLS ‘ubisap pue Bujuueld Bulng "e-1N-NIN salu|iN (NIn)8e
"V1N4S Aq 01 paaube
pue ONd4S Aq paJisap 1 108foad ayy
10 uononuIsuod Burinp pawJoyiad aq Aew
s1amas Jo aode|d-ui-juswadejdal Jouiw
10 saredad 10ds “Alijeuoilouny wWAIBUOD pue
uoI1IpuUOd ssasse 01 paldadsul ag osfe [[eys
(aseyd J0p11I09 3Y1 UO S18|ul ulelq “luawade|dal
Buiuue|d) -ubisap 104 pasau pue sauljadid ayl JO uoIPUOD
*Mda4s uoI1oNIISU0d Jeuty Burinp suorloadsul 33 SSasse 01 uaxelnapun aq |[eys
woJj sfenoudde pue 19M3S papaau 10npuod sywij 10afloud ayl ulyym saurjadid 1amas
V104S 99S19A0 01 V1NAS ubisap |euld  ONd4S ‘V.LWAS 01 ONd4S pue Y.LALS 40 uorzenfeAs pue uordadsul “z-1N-NIW salnNn (NI 22
*191Ud)
uoI1eUIPJ00) UOIIDNIISUOD
193415 09s19URI4 UBS 3yl pue
(d021ND) s18loud 18410
pue UoI19NIISUOD UO uosiel]
(eseyd AN 404 8911WIWOY 8y}
Buiuue|d) U3IM uoleulpio0d Buipnjoul *10pLLIOD
*Mda4s uoI19NJ4ISU09 J01oeqquod  ‘eseyd Buruue]d uoi1oNIISUOD A1ea ayl uiym pauueld syoaloud Aynjin
woJy sjenosdde pue pue ‘ONd4S 10 1red se Juswajdwi 01 1US14N2U0D YLIM PaleuIpIood A|asolo
V.124S 995190 0] V1S Bunuwiad ‘VLINAS MdQ4s pue ‘ONd4S ‘V.LN4S 90 |leys uoionJisuod 149 "T-LN-NIN salnN (NIn)9z
IN3IdIO3Y ALIIFISNOdSTY ERE ALIIFISNOJSTY
ONILYOdIY ONIMOLINOW ~ NOILVANIWITdWI  NOILYINIWITdNI 34NA300Yd NOILY.LNIWITdWI STINSYAW LNIWIAOYJWI B NOILYOILIA $30¥NOSIY 0310344V "ON

9T0Z Y43GNIAON | ¥13 TVYNI4 LD3r0dd LISNVYL dIdVY SNG YOAI¥¥40D A¥VIO



76

€1-0 9bed | ALIYOHLNY NOILYLYOdSNVYL ALNNOD OOSIONVYH NVS

‘uonelnp
uoI3oNIISu0d
109lo.ud 1noybnoayy
sjuawleasy

‘swiojyeld uoirels Jo
uoI139N43ISU09 J0 uollesedaud
ur ‘aseyd UOI19NJIISUOD

|eJN19N41S Jo/pue [ed1uyda10ah

ajeJodiooul ‘sjiem pue ‘saidoued

‘sdols sng se yans $a1n1onJis

papeo| Aj3ybi| Jo4 "eT-39-NIN
:Buimol|og 8yl apnjoul 01 Ajax1] ale pue
‘sueld Jeuly ayy ojul pajesodiooul aq |reys
JUe1 NSU0D |edIuUyda10ah ayl Aq papiroid
suollepuawwodal Auy ‘premio) pariied
aAITeuld1e plINg 8yl 01 Pa1INS 1Sa(

uolyealIpow |10s uoI3oNIISu0d pue ubisap Burinp SUOIIEPUBWIWIOISI 1940 puR SaAIIRUI}jR Aydesbodo |
uo podaa Apjaam /Bumiwuiad juawa|dwi 01 J019eJ1U0D pling aya jo ubisap ayl malnal /21WSIaS
V1048 apinoad 031 VINAS  /ubisap [euld J010BJIUOD  ‘SUOIIBONIDBMS J0BIIUOD J8d  [[BYS JUBIINSUOD [BD1UYDD3086 Vv "T-39-NIN /81105/ABojoeg (NIw)Te
*uoI3onJIsuod Burinp payoddns
Alarenbape ag |[eys suoilenedxa
pasodoad 031 juadelpe sanjnn
pue ‘Juswaned ‘sge|s ‘Sy[emapls o
‘seale pPajeARIXd
a1 Jo Ja1awuad ayl punoue padeld
ag ued sw.aq pue ‘Bunnsays onseld
UHM PaJaA09 3Q Ued S|[eMapIs
uoI11eARIXT "UOITeARIXD 3yl Bulialud
wouy pajuanald aqg ||eys jjounu
WI03S ‘1ayIeam 1oM JO JUSAS dUl U]
*UOITRARIXD
3y} Jo yadap ayl ueyl Ja1ealh
10 0] [enba asuelsip e Ajjesauab
‘suolreAROXa Jo abpa ayl wody Aeme
1day aq ||eys d1ye.l 3191YaA pue
‘]10S pa1enedxa ‘sfeldayew Buipjing
‘auawdinba uoI1oNIIsuU0d ANBBH o
:U0130NJISU0D
Buninp pajuawsa|dwi aq 1M sdINg Aljigels
‘uoneinp adojs pue Burioys Buimol|oy 8yl -passasse
uoionaIsuod 329foid a( OS[e Isnw $a1n3onJis Agleau woly
1noybnoJyl 1994 peo| abreyoins parejal-axenbylies Jo
aAl} ueyy 1adaap 1|NSaJ B Se S|[em UOITeARIXd JO JUBISAOW
SINJ |[e uo pasn |edaye] Joj jennualod ay3 ‘alowsyling
anbiuyoal Bulioys sainyonays Burioqybiau wody peoj
ay Buiquosap abieyauns ennualod ayl JapISUOd 1snwW
suodau Apjpam *u0I139NJ43sU09 Burinp suoneAedxa uado jo ubisap Bulioys “199) Aydeabodo
apinoid pue sind Juawajdwi 03 1030BIIU0D aAl} uey) Jadaap s1no || 10} palinbal VAINNES
V124S 99S49A0 01 V1N4S uoI19NJISU0) 1010e11U0D ‘suoieaiy1oads 10e11U09 19d A1eaidAy aq |1im Burioys “TO-39-NIN /S110S/7A60]089 (NIW)oE
-ueld
siy3 oul pajesbaqul aq |reys siapinoid
A11n pue sioyesado unpy 404 sjod030.4d
IN3IdIO3Y ALIIFISNOdSTY ERE ALIIFISNOJSTY
ONILYOdIY ONIMOLINOW ~ NOILVANIWITdWI  NOILYINIWITdNI 34NA300Yd NOILY.LNIWITdWI STINSYAW LNIWIAOYJWI B NOILYOILIA $30¥NOSIY 0310344V "ON

9T0Z Y43GNIAON | ¥13 TVYNI4 LD3r0dd LISNVYL dIdVY SNG YOAI¥¥40D A¥VIO



77

7T-0 9bed | ALIYOHLNY NOILYLYOdSNVYL ALNNOD OOSIONVYH NVS

suesyed
V1048

"sBuipuly
yum podad
e apiroad 01 V1NLS

Buluueld
uoilonIsuod
/ubisap feur4

VLA4S

aq [[eys s|10s mo|Jeys pasodxa jo sajdwes
aAljeluasalday -suonndo juswabeuew |10s
auIWIa18p 03 SP|oYsalyl a1sem snoplezey
|elapay} pue ajels jsurebe pausalos

9( 0S|e pue JUSWUOIIAUS 8y} pue

‘S19sn 811S 8in1ny ‘SI8XJOM UOIJINJIISUOD
J0 uonvaloud 8yl 8INsus 03 suoiloe
a1endoadde auiwialsp 01 spiepuels paseq
-ysu ajqealjdde Jaylo pue (s1S3) S|ana
Buluaaioas [elusWUOIIAUT S, preog Ja1ep\
leuoifiay ay3 Isurebe pausalds aq |leys
s}|nsal [ednAfeue |10S "UOIIRI0| TRyl Ul
palj1luapI SUIdadu0d SjeLIdlew snoplezey
ay31 0} 214198ds SjUBUIWEIUOD 10J

pa1sa) pue pajdwes aq [[eys uoIIdNIISU0d
Burnp pagnisip ag [|IM S[I0S 818UM Sealy
*U01398S SIY) Ul PaljiIuapl se ‘10p1ai0d
A1ea9 ayl uo sjelIa1ew UoI19NIISU0D

pue ‘1a3empunoab ‘|10s 01 palejal
SuUJ32U09 S[elIalew snopJaezey alebiisanul
0] pawJopad aq |reys (] aseyd)

-ubisap Jeuly Buimojjoy uonebiisanu| 811s Aleuiwijaid payiwiy
juswajdwi 03 V1N-S e ‘U0I19NJISU0D 0] J0Ud "TI-ZH-NIN

SR
snopJezeH
pue spJezeH

(NIN)ze

‘papaau se ‘seale uolloeanbi|

se paddew seaJe 10 ||1} JO Seale

ul paeoo| saidoued pue swioyleld
uoiyes 10} paubisap aq [[eys
suonrepunoy Jadaaq “9T-39-NIN
‘papaau se |14 paiaaulbua

yum pade|dal pue paleAedIxalano
84 |leys sJios |14 "qT-39-NIN
-asde|]02 1noyIM

1UBWa|1Ias d1WsIas pajedionue

31 91eJ9]0] 01 SuolIepuUNO}

weaq pajdauu02alul 10 suolilepunoy
Jew uo syuawanoldwi ayy
Buirsoddns 01 Juans o1WsSIaS B Ja)je
aoueualurewsiredal 1oy buluueld
woJ) abues Aew spoylaw uonyebiniw
|edN19NnJ1S 8y "Wa1sAs uolrepunoy
(3SN) yrrea pazijiqess Ajjestueydsw
® JO uoisinoid 01 Jelsarew Jaddn ayy
J0 uonoedwodal wod) abues Aew
spoylaw uonehilw [esiuyda10ah
ayl -ubisap reuly burinp
suoIIepuUNOoy 8yl Uuo uoildeyanbi)

10 S193448 3yl a1ebiliw 03 spoyraw

AN3IdI03Y
ONILYOd3d

ALITIGISNOdS3d
ONIHOLINOW

3INA3HIS
NOILVYLININITdINI

ALITIGISNOS3Y
NOILVLININITdNI

34NA3008d NOILYININITdI SIINSYIN LNIJWIAOHUAAI @ NOILVOILIN

$304N0S3Y A310344V

‘ON

9T0Z Y43GNIAON | ¥13 TVYNI4 LD3r0dd LISNVYL dIdVY SNG YOAI¥¥40D A¥VIO



/8

GT-0 9bed | ALIYOHLNY NOILYLYOdSNVYL ALNNOD OOSIONVYH NVS

‘uoneinp
uoI19NIISU0d

1noybnoayy ueld
uoirejuawajdw|

uoI1oNIISu0)

01 99uaJaype

uo sypiodal Apjeam

apinoad 03 VLNSS

‘ueld

uolyeruswalduw|

uoI19NJISu0) Ul

sainpasolid apnjoul

lleys pue sjeriarew

Buipjing snop.aezey

suesyjed Buruijano 11odau
V104S apinoad 01 VINAS

Buluueld
uoilonAIsuod
/ubisap feurdy

‘ue|d uolreuswadw|

uo13oNIISU0)

01 alaype [[eys 1019eIu0)
‘suolyeoi}1oads 10e13U0D Jad

-Buruue]d uo11on4ISU0D

wJojul 01 UOIIINJISUOID 0}

Jouid sayempunoab jo bBuiisal

VL1WN4S Juswaldwl [1eys VLS

payebiisanul Ajpadoud s1 uOIIONIISUOD
furinp palajunodus aq ||Im eyl
J93eMpunolb yeyl ainsua 03 ‘uonyebiisaaul
1axempunoub ayl o1 Jord palonpuod

ag |eys spJodai Aouabe Alojejnbal

10 MalnaJ palepdn ue ‘aiojaiayl

*24N1NJ 3Y1 Ul PAISA0ISIP 8 J0 JN220 Aew
sasea|al s|el1a1ew snopJezey [euollppy

"199.11S [|944e4,0

0€TZ pue ‘183115 UOISSIN 0SY ‘pleAs|nog
A1eas) G/9¢ 1e paledo| ale Iopldiod
A1ea9 ayl Jeau 1a1empunolb paloaye
aAeY Jey] Sa}Is sasea|al s|eliayew
snopJezeH “seale asoyl Ul Jayempunolf
31 01Ul PUBIX3 01 9J19M SUOITRARIXD
109l0.4d J1 spunodwod o1ueblio ajirejon
pue Hdl 10} pazAfeue pue salls asea|al
s|elsa1ew snopJezey paliodal Jeau
SseaJe Ul Pa193]|02 aq |[eys Jarempunoih
U0130NJ3SU0d 03 J0Hd "ZD-ZH-NIN

s|eua1ei
snopJezeH
pue spJezeH

(NI)ee

‘swebold uoiedlunwwo) plezeH pue
A1ayes pue yijeaH 419yl olul paresodiooul
aq Aew sBulpulj 8y} 0s ‘S1030BIIU0D
109lo4d 01 papinoud aq |jeys 10aloid

31 1e suonebiIsaAul [e1UsWUOIIAUD

IV "uonebnsaaul aus Areulwijaid syl
BulnNp paiyiauapl aJe suladuod i Sanssl
s[elayewW snopJezey [ernualod axenfens
AjIny 01 pasinbai ag Aew uonebirsanul
|euoIlIppY “SO1saqse 1o} pazAjeue aqg os|e
11eys X204paq auuipuadias Buik|1ano seate
uoleAedxa wody sajdwes ‘pesj ajgn|os
pue |e101 10} pazAjeue aq |eys seale |
ul sajdwes ‘A|Bu1pa0o22y “10p11I0d A1edd)
3y} Jo uonuod |jews e Ajuo ul Juasaid
Ajrennuaod si soysagse Buliina20-Ajfeinieu
3lIym ‘1op1i1od Areas ayy Inoybnoayl
u4a2uo9 Jenualod e si pes| pausodap
-Aljesae ‘adwexa 104 "pea| a|gnjos pue
pea| 2101 10} pazAjeue pue Aempeol ayl
10 abpa a3yl J0 183} O UIYHM Pal1da||0d

AN3IdI03Y
ONILYOd3d

ALITIGISNOdS3d
ONIHOLINOW

3INA3HIS

NOILVYLININITdINI

ALITIGISNOS3Y

NOILVLININITdNI 34NA3008d NOILYININITdI

SIINSYIN LNIJWIAOHUAAI @ NOILVOILIN

$304N0S3Y A310344V

‘ON

9T0Z Y43GNIAON | ¥13 TVYNI4 LD3r0dd LISNVYL dIdVY SNG YOAI¥¥40D A¥VIO



79

97-0 9bed | ALIYOHLNY NOILYLYOdSNVYL ALNNOD OOSIONVYH NVS

‘uonelnp
uoI39NJISU0d
1noybnoayy

ue|d 01 aoualaype
uo sypiodal Apjeam
apinoud 03 V1N4S

aseyd Buruue|d uoI1onNJISU0D
J0 1red se Jo10es3u0)

‘s|elialew snopJezey
10 sasesjas palsodaiun Ajenuayod
Burrebiniw pue Buikynuspi

10} saunpadsoJid UyIm $10319€13U09
Aq paquawsaldwi ag pinoys ueid
JuawaleuewW XSII UOIIONIISUOD VY

-BurjoAoal 10 esodsip 01
Joud paziialoeteyd ag pinoys Jayem
31 pue SaI1IAIIOR UOIIONJIISUOD
Burinp (s)Muel Jayeg ul palols
a( pInoys ‘Aue J1 ‘suoilenedxa

J0 Bulig1eMap wouy Ja1empunols e

*U0139NJISU0D

01 Joud pajuawsaldwi ag [[eys

sainseaw Buimojjos ayl ‘uolrebiisanu| a1ls
Areuiwijald 8yl JO suUOIIBPUBWILIOIA pue
sbuipulj ayl 01 uoIlppe U| “UoIIdNIISUOD
Bulnp sainseaw A1ajes pue yyjeay
J9J0M UOIIONIISUOD SB [|aM Se ‘S|elialew
snopJezey Joj sainpadoad jesodsip

pue juswabeuew sfelayew uoioNIIsuod
pue ‘1ayempunolb ‘jios eroads Juswajdwi

‘sueslje)d (eseyd AQ ua11um aq 01 (suoisinoud 0] paau Aew 108foid ayl ‘uonebiisanul s|elalepn
sueayed wouJj renosdde Buiuue|d) eroads Buipnjour) ueld 9}IS AJeulwi|ald ay} JO suollepusWIWOIa snopJezeH
Vv104S 93S19A0 03 V1NAS uoI1oNIISU0) 1019B11U0D ‘suolyeoi}1oads 30eI3U09 Jad pue sBuipul} ayl uo paseg “2J-zZH-NIN pue spiezeHq (NIN)SE
‘uoneinp
uoI19NIISU0d
1noybnoayl ueld
uoirejuawajdwi
uoI1oNIISU0)
0] 99UaJaype
uo sypiodal Apjeam
apinoad 01 V1NAS ‘ue|d uoneluswaldw|
“ueld uo1oNIISU0)
uolyejuswaldw| 0} 3I3YpE [[Bys 1030ellu0d
uoI39NIISUo) Ul .mCO_HGU_%_Ume 10eJlu0d iad
sainpadsoJid apnjoul ‘Buruued uo119NAISUOD ‘palyipow Jo paysijowap ag 01 $84n1onJis
lleys pue sjerliarew WwIojul 031 UOIIONIISUOD pue jured o1yjesy ajdwes Ajjewiuiw
Buipjing snopaezey Buruueld 01 Joud paysijowsp lleys AdAINs ay] “UOIIONIISUOD 0} slela1ep
suelled Buiurano 1i0dau uo132NJ3SU0d aq 03 sain3onJ1s Jo Buiisal Joud palonpuod aq |eys AsAIns sfeliayep snop.JezeH
VL104S apinoid 03 VINAS  /ubisep [euld VLNLS Juswaldw [[eys VLNHS Buipjing snopJezeH v "€0-ZH-NIW pue spsezeH (NIW)vE
IN3IdIO3Y ALIIFISNOdSTY ERE ALIIFISNOJSTY
ONILYOdIY ONIMOLINOW ~ NOILVANIWITdWI  NOILYINIWITdNI 34NA300Yd NOILY.LNIWITdWI STINSYAW LNIWIAOYJWI B NOILYOILIA $30¥NOSIY 0310344V "ON

9T0Z Y43GNIAON | ¥13 TVYNI4 LD3r0dd LISNVYL dIdVY SNG YOAI¥¥40D A¥VIO



80

LT-0 9bed | ALIYOHLNY NOILYLYOdSNVYL ALNNOD OOSIONVYH NVS

.NmowHwﬁcoEsuoﬁmxmwm.EuESuowBoﬁ /sompow \muo.uoéém // “%E
Ve O[QRITeAY “CUSHPUT UOLINAISUOT) 27 A0f JPINT) UOLIUIARUT UOUNIIOT VJ§ 10 J2 ¢y “BOISSIUIWOT) SINIH(] dNJ OISIOUET,] UES ;

‘uonesnp
uoI19NIISU0d
1noybnoiyy
9ouBUIPJIO 8sIou A1)
yum aoueljdwod

uoIlonJsuod

‘suoneoiy1oads 1o0ea3u0d sad
‘uo13onaIsuod y0afoad Buninp
papaau se suolledljipow
juawa|dwi 01 1019eJ1U0D
‘Burioniuow uoireIgIA

Ul U104 18S S|2AS] PapUaWILWI0dal

3yl pa2dxa 0} pamojje aq Jou
1leys $81n10NJ1S JLI0ISIY SAINISUSS
-UoITRIGIA PalIuBpP! 03 AHwixoud
Ul uolleigIA pale|ad uoI3oNIIsuo)

‘suoITeIgIA UOIIONIISUOD
01 anp syuswaoe|dsip pue speoj sy
puelsyuM 01 A11jIge S,84n19N13s aU
A31nuapi 01 passasse Ajenpiaipul aq
|Ieys $81n10NJ1S SAIYISUSS-UOITRIGIA

‘sbuimesp bBuriasuibua euly ayl

ul spjoysaJyy 3oedwi asuelsip ayl

Buisn payiauapl aq |[eys saunionuis
SAILISUSS-UOITRIJIA [BI1IUSI0d o

:ue|d uo1IoNPal uoIIRIgIA
a13199ds-uoi1es0] ay3 Jo Juswdolanap
ul uayel aq |eys sdais buimoloy ayL

‘paloaye Ajasianpe aqg 03 |elnualod e yym
$91N32N41S 10J SanjeA uoileiqgiA Buiiwig
pue spjoysaiy Buiysijgeiss 4oy ainpadoad
e apinoad |eys ue|d ayL “a|gejiene

sueaw a|qisea) pue a|gqeuoseal |je

Buisn abewrep uoIreIgIA UOIIONIISUOD PlOAR

uo syuodas Apjaam pue pue asiou Juapuadapul 01 padojanap aq ||eys ue|d UoIezZIWIUIN uolyeIqIn
VL104S apinoad 03 V1NAS ubisap [eutd J1010€.13U0) wJoytad 03 YINAS  pue UuoIIONPaY UoIeIGIA V "TI-3SION-NIN pue asloN (NIW)8e
‘uoiyelado 10afoid
‘1uswedaq Burinp abesn Jazinua) pue *9|qiseay pue ajgedioeld
Buruueld pue Jayem juswajdwi 01 Mda4s JU31IXa WNWiuIW ayl 01 pasn aq
UOoISSILUWOY Sy -ubisap adeaspue| Bulinp 11eys s1azijiuay pue uonebiul Auy “jyound
4S woJy sjeaosdde  uonesado pue Mda4s uswajdwi 01 s19911Yydue |e101 89npaJ pue aziwiuiw 03 paubisap Aenp J91eM\
Vv104S 93S19N0 03 V1N4S ubisap Jeuid ‘VLINAS adeaspue] pue v1N4S a( ||eys seale adeaspueT "T-AH-NIN pue ABojoipAH (NIN)2E
uorneunp
uoI39NJISU0d
1noybnoayy 2 Ansnpu)
saul|apInb aus uo 1 uoI319N13SU0) 8yl 10 8pINS UOIIUBAI]
daay 01 sousiaype uonn|jod ‘eus uo 11 deay s,oNd4S
uo spiodas Apjaam (aseyd 3U1 Y1IM 1USISISU0D 3 [[eyS SaIIAIIOR
apinoad 01 V1N4S Buiuue|d) pale|aJ-uo11onJ1suod pue ‘ONd4s
*oNd4s uoI3oNIISu0d 1030B11U0D *ONd4s ULM UoITeuIplood alinbau |j1im walsAs
go0My woJy sjenosdde pue pue ‘ONd4s woJy jenosdde papasu J12MaS paulquiod 8yl s1oaje Ajasianpe Aenp J91eM\
V104S 8951910 01 V.LN4S Bumuwiad ‘VLIN4S Aue ureiqo |reys v.LNAS 1Byl Y10M U0I3NIISU0D AUy “TI-AH-NIN pue ABojoipAH (NIW)9e
IN3IdIO3Y ALIIFISNOdSTY ERE ALIIFISNOJSTY
ONILYOdIY ONIMOLINOW ~ NOILVANIWITdWI  NOILYINIWITdNI 34NA300Yd NOILY.LNIWITdWI STINSYAW LNIWIAOYJWI B NOILYOILIA $30¥NOSIY 0310344V "ON

9T0Z Y43GNIAON | ¥13 TVYNI4 LD3r0dd LISNVYL dIdVY SNG YOAI¥¥40D A¥VIO


http://sfwater.org/modules/showdocument.aspx?documentid=4622

81

87-0 9bed | ALIYOHLNY NOILYLYOdSNVYL ALNNOD OOSIONVYH NVS

*S109)49 9SI0U JO |9A3] 1SAMO]
ay1 apinoud [[1m yeyy Juswdinba
J0 SPOYIBW UOoIIdNIISUOD BZI|1IN
*9sI0U SaZIWIUIW Teyy Jauuew
B Ul UOI19NJISUOD ||e WJ0yldd

*(Buipnouys pue sia|nw ‘-6-a)
S92IASP |041U0D 3SI0U JO dduasald
pue adurualurew Jadoud ainsua

0] SjeAlaiul a1poriad ye pajoadsul
aq pjnoys 1uawdinba uoi1onJIsu0d
IV "1uawdinba Japjo ueyl
uoirelado ui Ja1ainb aq Ajjelauab
11!m Juawdinbs JamaN “leuoiyesado
pue 19€1Ul S101e[0S] UoIIRIgIA
aulbua pue ‘si1aA09 auibua ‘siajynw
Se |yans ‘sainseaw juawaleqe

‘uoneanp 9SI0U papuaWWo9al ,si1ainoenuew
UOIIONIISUOD ay1 aney swal juawdinba |1e 1eyl
noybnosyy aJnsua pue Buljyynw asiou panosduwil
spJepuels 031 yum juawdinba Jamau asn
soualaype buiuiano "uonNIISU0d Bulinp :Buimojjog ayx Buipnjoul “|o3uod asiou
suodau Apjaam 1usawajdwi 01 10310BIIU0D juawdinba ul sa2110e4d 1s9q Juswajdwi uolleIqIA
V104S apinoad 01 VLINAS uoI1oNIISU0) 1030B11U0D ‘suoiyeiy1oads 30ea3u09 Jad Ileys uoionaisuod 198foid “z2-3SION-NIW pue asIoN (NIN)6E

‘uoionJIsuod Buunp

uoielgia Buipaebal syurejdwod
211gnd 03 puodsaJ pue aAIa23.

0] pajuswajdwi aq |jeys wesboud
v “|rew pue eipaw ay1 ybnoayl
A1Anoe pasodoad ayy Jo asueape ul
S)39M 0M] 1Se3| 1B Palilou aq |[eys
aoe|d axe] ||Im Bupjealq Juswaned
pue S3I1IAI}0R UO0IIONIISUOD 3IaYM
seaJe JO 193} 00E UIYHM SIUapISay
pue

‘sanoy awimybiu Buninp payigiyoud
aq |eys Bunyeaiq uswaned

‘seale aAILISUSS

uolleIqIA Jeau pasn aq |[eys Sa|oIyan
pax3oe.l Jo pealsul palil Jaggny
{1220 SaIIAIIOR

Buronpoud uonreigin 1saybiy ayl
a1aym palnuapl s101dadal aAIISUSS
Jeau papJodal pue paloyiuow

a( |1eys Sa11190]3aA a[o11ued yead

‘aouepInb v14 juaunuad

AN3IdI03Y ALITIGISNOdS3d 3INA3HIS ALITIGISNOS3Y
ONILYOd3d ONIHOLINOW NOILVYLININITdINI NOILVLININITdNI 34NA3008d NOILYININITdI SIINSYIN LNIJWIAOHUAAI @ NOILVOILIN $304N0S3Y A310344V ‘ON

9T0Z Y43GNIAON | ¥13 TVYNI4 LD3r0dd LISNVYL dIdVY SNG YOAI¥¥40D A¥VIO



82

6T-0 9bed | ALIYOHLNY NOILYLYOdSNVYL ALNNOD OOSIONVYH NVS

uornyesnp
uoI3oNIISU0d
1noybnoayy
saonoeid
uoleziwiuiw
uolyelqIA pue
9s10U 0} 9oUdIBYpEe

*U0139NJISU0D
109lo.ud Buninp Ajrep

*S9OUBPIIIXD

3SI0U Pa1B|31-U0I13ONIISU0D 9oUBLIBdXD
pIN02 $101d8281 BAINISUSS 818UM
suOI1B20| Ul pasn aq Aew saifojouyoal

uo syodau Apjaam juawsa|dwi 01 1019eJIU0D Buij@oued 8sIou 1310 J0 ‘sulennd uolyeqgIn
V.104S apinoid 01 V1N4S uo119NJISU0) 1019B11U0D ‘suolreoiy1oads 30eI3U0D Jod ‘sjrem punos Atelodwa] “GD-3ISION-NIN pue asioN (NIN) 2y
*9ouRUIPIQO BSION A1)
a1 Jad sasn pue| [elluapISal 18 PapPadIX
‘uoneinp "suoiyeoiy10ads 30e43U00 Jad aJe sjlWI| wnwixew Jeyl saullwialap
uoI19NJISU09 ‘uo139n.3su02 393foud Buinp furioliuow JI SaI1IAIIOR UOIIONIISUOD 1By}
1noybnoayl pspaau se suolyealyipow a|Npayosal J0/pue ALIpow 01 S1019.I1U0D
aourUIpIO asiou A11D juswa|dwi 03 J1039RIIUOD alinbay -suwi| asiou ajgesljdde
yum aoueljdwos ‘Bulionuow uoneIgIA - y3m aoueljdwod ajelisuowap 03 ‘papasu
uo syodau Apjaam pue asiou Juapuadapul se ‘seale aA1}ISUSS Ul Buliolluow asiou uolyeqgIn
VAREN apinoad 03 VINAS uo1dNIISU0Y J1019€13U0D wJoprad 03 VINLS Juspuadapul Wioydd “#0-3SION-NIN pue asioN (NIW)TY
‘uonelnp
uoI3oNIISU0
1noybnoayy jualxa a|qissod 1sa1ealh
sao1oead a1 01 spooydoqybiau ernuapisal ybnoayl
uoneziwiuiw Buissed pioae 01 sa1noJ Hu11os|as Ajjnjased
uolyeiqin pue *U0139NJISU0D Ag wnwiuiw e 01 1day aJe uoneigia
asiou 01 adualaype 100loud Buninp Ajrep pue asiou 1eyy os suoneiado Buijney
uo syodau Apjaam 1uawa|dwi 01 1019eJIU0D pue ‘Buipeojun ‘Buipeo| 39nJ1 19NPUOD uolyeqgIn
V.104S apinoid 01 V1NLS uo119NJ3ISU0) 1019B11U0D ‘suolyeoiy1oads 30eI3U0D Jad IM U0139N.13su09 193f04d “€D-3ISION-NIN pue asioN (NIN) Oy
uoIlyoadsul Buipjing
10 1039341Q 3y 40 SYI0M d1|qnd
10 10198117 ay3 Ag panoidde pue
sJainyoejnuew ayl Ag papuswiwiodal
spnoJys Jo splaiys Bunenualle
Al[e211SN02E pue SJI3|HNW ISNeyxa
ayelul aney |leys ‘slawwey yoel se
yons ‘uawdinba pue sjoo1 3oedw| «
'sa1nuIWw G 03 awn Bulpl wnwixew
ay1 Buronpad 1o asn ul 10U uaym
4o wewdinbs Bumnys Aq Jayne
paziwiuiw aq |[eys sawil bulp| «
IN3IdIO3Y ALIIFISNOdSTY ERE ALIIFISNOJSTY
ONILYOdIY ONIMOLINOW ~ NOILVANIWITdWI  NOILYINIWITdNI 34NA300Yd NOILY.LNIWITdWI STINSYAW LNIWIAOYJWI B NOILYOILIA $30¥NOSIY 0310344V "ON

9T0Z Y43GNIAON | ¥13 TVYNI4 LD3r0dd LISNVYL dIdVY SNG YOAI¥¥40D A¥VIO



83

0¢-0 9bed | ALIYOHLNY NOILYLYOdSNVYL ALNNOD OOSIONVYH NVS

*A11s8104 ueqin

“JuBWysI|ge1sa paam spuanald Jeyl
Jauuew e Ul sdurUSUIRW Wioad pue
spaam aziubooal 0] Jyels Buideaspue| 1oy

10 neaing Mda4s “VLINAS 1090104d B BpN|JaUl [[eyS 3dueUdlUIRW 31IS
woJj sjeaosdde Aq papinoud -ue|d adeospue| dn-mojj04 "811S 8y} 03 $a198ds dAISBAUl
109fl0ad 28s1an0 109)1ydIe w04} SpPaam snoixou J0 UOI19NPOJIUI JUBA3Id 03 PaMmaINaL
pue ubisap |euly adeospue] apPN[IXa ||IM 193)1ydIe a( ||eys seale paginisip Jo uoiyelabanal $924N0saYy
V104S apinoad 01 V1NAS ubisep [euld payirend adeaspue| payiend Joy pasn sansfed pass "€2-0g9-NIW [es1fojoig (NIW)SY
"M4a0 Aq
paJinbai aq Aew siayyng paysijgeiss uodn
4oe0o.1oua SaI1IAIIOR UOIIONIISUOD USYM
S1SaU aAI19e Jo Bulioliuol “payigiyosd
aq |1eys spJiq paloaloid [enplaipul
Aue Jo ,.83e1,, 8yl "A1essadau aq [|Im
J19}JN( OU pue ‘paldajeun aq 01 pawnsaid
aJe uo13oNJIsu0d Burinp palerliul s1saN
a11s 10aloud ay3 1e s|jans] aoueganIsIp
uewny pue asiou Builsixa uo paseq
9( |[eys pue ‘M4dd Y3m uole3|nsuod
furLinp paijipow Jayuiny aq Aew seale
9SaY1 Ul Pa1d1I1Sal SAIIIAIIOR UOIIONJIISUOD
10 sad/A] pue sauoz Jayng ayy
10 8z1s 8y sp4ig Buirsau auliassed 1oy
193} 0G pue sio1ded 1o} 188} 0OS apn|oul
s1ajyng |eoidA] -pabpaj) aney BunoA
11e Y2yl pauIwalap Si 1 [13UNn 10 ‘Uoseas
Buipaaiq aya Bunnp sisau J01des 10/pue
pJig paloaloid aAIlde punoJe pajeald
a0 PINOM S184JN 82URYINISIP-0U ‘SABAINS
uononsuodald Burnp paialunodus
*uo13oNJIsuU0d Bulinp papasu aJe S1SaU pJig paldaloid aAoe
Se J011UOW pue UoIIONJISU0D  §| "spJig BuIISau JO 99U814N220 dUIWISIBP
“juswajdwi 01 Jouid papaau se siayng 01 [eAowal 9341 01 Joud pawoyiad
‘uoryelnp 03 1s1bojoiq pue $81N39NJ31S UOISN|IXd aq |1eys sAanins uononuisuodaid ‘resk
uo119NJISU0d aj|piIMm pue Aanins uononiisuodald  Jo awil Jo ssajpJrebay " (1€ 1snbny ybnoayy
109l04d 3n0ybnoayy uoI119NJ3SU0d paiijenb Juawadwi [jIm T Areniga4) uoseas pJig Buiisau apisino
uodas Apfeam  /uoiloniisuod e apinoad v 3siBojolq a4 plim paljiienb e IN220 [[eys [eAowal 3941 ‘Y1gN 8yl Japun $924N0saY
V104S apinoid 01 V1N4S -a.d 1019B11U0D ‘suolyeolj1oads 10ea1U0d U84 S109y9 Jenualod apnpoaid ol zd-09-NIW [eaibojolg (NIN) Yy
*A13salo4 ueqin *$9aJ) ainyew Joy ‘palinbau si 9311 Juswaoe|dal e
10 neaing Md4dS saljunyioddo uoiyeasasald ‘panowal 9a4l yoeas 104 -bBuideaspue| pue
woJj sfenoudde Mda4s Ajnuapi 01 Je1s Mda4s pue  saaJl Juswadejdal Jo Bunueld ayy se |jam
109lo.ud aasiano pue ubisap ‘WV1NAS V.LINAS YLIM YoM 03 weal se ‘a|qiseay se ue|d adeospue] 10aloud
‘ubisap reuty ‘Y30 euty ybnoayy ‘1suogJe ufisap adeaspue| ayy uo ay3 ojul pajesodiosul pue pasiasaid $924N0SaY
V.124S apinoad 03 V1NAS ubissp %0g payirend aq [11m Is1iogle paiyifenb v 9 |leys saaJ1 ainreN "TJ3-09-NIN [eaifiojog (NIW)er
IN3IdIO3Y ALIIFISNOdSTY ERE ALIIFISNOJSTY
ONILYOdIY ONIMOLINOW ~ NOILVANIWITdWI  NOILYINIWITdNI 34NA300Yd NOILY.LNIWITdWI STINSYAW LNIWIAOYJWI B NOILYOILIA $30¥NOSIY 0310344V "ON

9T0Z Y43GNIAON | ¥13 TVYNI4 LD3r0dd LISNVYL dIdVY SNG YOAI¥¥40D A¥VIO



	Memo_ATT 3_MMRP.pdf
	Cover
	Appendix C: Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program
	Appendix D: Plan Drawings of the Build Alternatives
	Plan Drawings of Alternative 2
	Plan Drawings of Alternative 3
	Plan Drawings of Alternative 3-C
	Plan Drawings of the Hybrid Alternative





